
 

West Devon Hub 

Committee 

 

Title: Agenda 

Date: Tuesday, 12th April, 2022 

Time: 2.00 pm 

Venue: Chamber - Kilworthy Park 

Full Members: Chairman Cllr Jory 

 Vice Chairman Cllr Cheadle 

 Members: Cllr Edmonds 
Cllr Mott 
Cllr Leech 
Cllr Pearce 
 

Cllr Crozier 
Cllr Daniel 
Cllr Ratcliffe 
 

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation: 

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest. 

Committee 
administrator: 

Democratic.Services@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

  Page No 

 

1.   Apologies for absence  
 

 

2.   Declarations of Interest  

 In accordance with the Code of Conduct, Members are 
invited to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, Other 

Registerable Interests and Non-Registerable Interests 
including the nature and extent of such interests they may 

have in any items to be considered at this meeting; 
 

 

3.   Items Requiring Urgent Attention  

 To consider those items which, in the opinion of the Chairman, 
should be considered by the Meeting as matters of urgency (if 
any) 

 

4.   Confirmation of Minutes 1 - 4 

 Minutes of meeting held 08 March 2022 
 

 

5.   Public Questions -a period of up to 15 minutes is available 
to deal with issues raised by the public  
 

 

6.   Hub Forward Plan  
 

5 - 8 

7.   Amendment of the Off Street Parking Places Order  
 

9 - 14 

8.   Housing Strategy Year 2 Update and Homelessness 
Strategy 2022-27  
 

15 - 92 

9.   Revenue and Benefits Service Review Update  
 

93 - 104 

10.   Climate Change & Biodiversity Action - Council Net-Zero 
Update  
 

105 - 118 

11.   A Plan for West Devon- Quarterly Progress Report  
 

119 - 142 



   

At a Meeting of the HUB COMMITTEE held in the Council Chamber, Kilworthy Park, 
Tavistock on TUESDAY the 8th day of March 2022 at 2:00 pm 

 
 

Present:    Cllr N Jory – Chairman 
    Cllr R Cheadle – Vice Chairman (via Teams and 
    therefore in a non-voting capacity) 
 

 Cllr P Crozier    Cllr L Daniel 
 Cllr C Edmonds   Cllr A Leech 
 Cllr C Mott   Cllr T Pearce 
 Cllr B Ratcliffe 
    

In attendance:        Chief Executive 
 Section 151 Officer 
 Director of Place and Enterprise 
 Democratic Services Manager 
 Head of Housing 
 Head of Development Management  
 Deputy Section 151 Officer 
 Head of Strategy and Projects 
  
Other Members also in attendance in a non-voting capacity: 

Cllrs Ewings, Sellis, Southcott and Yelland 
 
 
*HC 67/21 APOLOGIES 
 There were no apologies for absence forwarded to this Meeting. 
 
 
*HC 68/21 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were invited to declare any interests in the items of business to be 
discussed and there were none made. 

 
 
*HC 69/21     MINUTES 

The Minutes of the Hub Committee meeting held on 1 February 2022 were 
confirmed as a correct record.  

 
 
*HC 70/21 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 
 It was noted that no Public Questions had been received in accordance with 

the Hub Committee Procedure Rules. 
 
 
*HC 71/21 HUB COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN 

Members were presented with the Hub Committee Forward Plan that set out 
items on the agenda for Hub Committee meetings for the next four months.   
 
In discussion, it was noted that the published Plan incorrectly stated that the 
‘Regeneration and Investment Strategy’ (Minute HC 74/21 below refers) was 
within the Economy portfolio area of responsibility when in fact it fell within 
the Resources and Performance portfolio area.  In addition, the published 
Plan had omitted to state that Cllr Mott was the lead Member with 
responsibility for Built Environment.  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



   

 
*HC 72/21 RESPONSE TO THE HOUSING CRISIS 

Consideration was given to a report that outlined the start of the response to 
the issues that were set out in the recent Council decision to declare a Housing 
Crisis at its meeting held on 15 February 2022. 
 
In discussion, reference was made to:- 
 
(a) the need for ongoing monitoring and progress reporting.  Having recently 

declared a Housing Crisis, the Committee recognised the need for regular 
monitoring and progress updates to be presented to the membership; 
 

(b) the need to respond quickly to the Crisis.  In citing the time being taken to 
progress the Springhill project, a Member emphasised the importance of 
responding and taking action quickly in order to counter the Housing 
Crisis; 

 
(c) the ‘Step-On’ pilot scheme recently adopted by South Hams District 

Council (SHDC).  In highlighting the recent decision taken by SHDC, 
Members hoped that a similar proposal could be brought forward to a 
future Hub Committee Meeting; 

 
(d) consultation and engagement.  A Member expressed his frustrations at 

the lack of reference in the published agenda report to consultation and 
engagement. 
 

It was then RESOLVED that: 
 

1. the proposed measures to address the Housing Crisis (as set out in the 
published agenda report) be approved; and 
 

2. a letter be sent outlining the Council’s lobbying objectives to the Rt Hon 
Michael Gove MP (Secretary of State for Levelling Up). 

 
 
HC 73/21 PLANNING IMPROVEMENT PLAN UPDATE: LOCAL VALIDATION LIST 

AND PLANNING CHARTER 
 A report was considered that sought to update Members on the progress of 

two specific actions contained in the adopted Planning Improvement Plan.  
These actions being: to recommend adoption of both the revised Local 
Validation List and the Planning Charter. 

 
 In discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

(a) In support of the proposals, the anticipated savings in officer time and 
increased emphasis on sustainability were particularly welcomed; 
 

(b) One the team was at full capacity, a commitment was given to Members 
that, in those instances when planning applications were defined as being 
‘out of time’, then regular progress updates would be given to the planning 
agent or applicant. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that: 
 
1. Council be RECOMMENDED to approve the Local Validation List (as set 

out at Appendix 1 of the published agenda report); 

Page 2



   

 
2. the Planning Charter (as set out at Appendix 2 of the published agenda 

report) be approved; and 
 

3. authority be delegated to make any minor amendments to the Planning 
Charter to the Director of Strategy & Governance, in consultation with the 
lead Hub Committee Member for the Built Environment. 

 
 
HC 74/21 REGENERATION AND INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

Members considered a report that set out the first Integrated Performance 
Management report since the Council had adopted its Corporate Strategy (‘A 
Plan for West Devon’) that covered the Quarter 3 period (from 1 October 2021 
to 31 December 2021). 
 
During discussion, the following points were raised: 
 
(a) With regard to Section 1.2 of the published agenda report, a Member felt 

that this was slightly misleading.  As a result, the Committee agreed that 
it should read: ‘Borrowing for investment outside of area is no longer an 
acceptable approach for Council investment’; 
 

(b) Whilst supporting the proposed updates to the Regeneration and 
Investment Strategy, the need to still maintain a close grip on both risk and 
yield was stressed. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that Council be RECOMMENDED to: 
 
1. approve the update to the Regeneration and Investment Strategy (as 

contained in Appendix A of the presented agenda report); and 
 

2. change the title of the ‘Invest to Earn Committee’ to the ‘Regeneration and 
Investment Committee’. 

 
 
*HC 75/21 MONTH 10 REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2021/22 

 Consideration was given to a report that enabled Members to monitor income 
and expenditure variations against the approved Budget for 2021/22.  In 
addition, the report also provided a forecast for the year-end position. 
 
In discussion, reference was made to:- 
 
(a) rising fuel costs.  Given the current global crisis having a significant impact 

on fuel costs, a Member questioned whether this would have a consequent 
impact on the visitor economy this year and car parking income.  In 
acknowledging the point, whilst the income target remain unchanged, the 
lead Member for Resources gave an assurance that it would be kept under 
regular review through the quarterly budget monitoring reports; 
 

(b) local food production.  In respect of the Council commitment to local food 
production, it was noted that supporting the local agricultural industry and 
reducing the amount of food miles were outlined in the adopted ‘A Plan for 
West Devon’. 
 

 Page 3



   

It was then RESOLVED that the forecast income and expenditure variations 
for the 2021/22 Financial Year and the overall projected deficit of £43,000 
(0.6% of the total Budget of £7.302 million), which is very close to a break-
even position, be noted. 

 
 

*HC 76/21 CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING 2021/22 
The Committee considered a report that advised Members of the financial 
position of the Council as at 31 January 2022. 
 
In discussion, the following points were raised:- 
 
(a) Members stressed the importance of all local Ward Members being 

proactive within their local communities and town and parish councils to 
ensure that Section 106 monies were spent before the prescribed deadline 
expired. 

 
(b) With regard to the ongoing issues associated with the moveable floor at 

Parklands Leisure Centre, Members emphasised the need for a long-term 
engineering solution to be found. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that the contents of the report be endorsed. 
 

 
*HC 77/21 EXEMPT ACCOMMODATION UPDATE 
 Members gave consideration to a report that sought to endorse the 

Council’s current approach to managing exempt accommodation, which 
prioritised protecting both vulnerable residents and the public purse. 

 
 In discussion, tributes were paid to both the Leader and lead officers for 

their hard work and tenacity in reaching this point. 
 

It was then RESOLVED that: 
 
1. the Council’s approach to managing exempt accommodation, which 

prioritises protecting both vulnerable residents and the public purse be 
endorsed; and 
 

2. the Council continue to engage and lobby at a local, regional and national 
level to ensure that the Regulations be amended to prevent exploitation of 
the individual tenants and the Housing Benefit System. 

 

(The meeting terminated at 3.00 pm) 

 
_____________ 

Chairman 
 
 
(NOTE: THESE DECISIONS WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM THURSDAY, 17 
MARCH 2022, WITH THE EXCEPTION OF MINUTES HC 73/21 PART 1 AND HC 74/21 
WHICH ARE RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE COUNCIL MEETING TO BE HELD ON 5 
APRIL 2022, UNLESS CALLED IN, IN ACCORDANCE WITH SCRUTINY PROCEDURE 
RULE 18)
 

Page 4



 

 
Hub Committee Forward Plan – April 2022 | 1 

Hub Committee Forward Plan  

About the Forward Plan 

This is the provisional forward plan for at least four months starting April 2022.  It provides an indicative date for 
matters to be considered by the Hub Committee.   Where possible, the Hub Committee will keep to the dates 
shown in the plan.  However, it may be necessary for some items to be rescheduled and other items added.  

The forward plan is published to publicise consultation dates and enable dialogue between the Hub Committee 
and all Councillors, the public, and other stakeholders. It will also assist the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in planning their contribution to policy development and holding the Hub Committee to account.   

The Plan is published on the Council’s website (www.westdevon.gov.uk)   

 

About the Hub Committee 
The Hub Committee currently consists of nine Councillors. Each has responsibility for a particular area of the 
Council’s work. 

 Leader of the Council – Cllr N Jory 
 Deputy Leader of the Council, with specific responsibility for Enabling Inclusive and Accessible Services – 

Cllr R Cheadle 
 Lead Hub Member for the Economy - Cllr P Crozier  
 Lead Hub Member for the Natural Environment - Cllr L Daniel  
 Lead Hub Member for Resources and Performance - Cllr C Edmonds  
 Lead Hub Member for Leisure, Health and Wellbeing - Cllr A F Leech  
 Lead Hub Member for the Built Environment - Cllr C Mott  
 Lead Hub Member for Communities - Cllr T Pearce  
 Lead Hub Member for Housing – Cllr B Ratcliffe 

 
Further information on the workings of the Hub Committee, including latest information on agenda items, can be 
obtained by contacting Democratic Services on 01803 861105 or by e-mail to 
democratic.services@swdevon.gov.uk  
 
 
All items listed in this Forward Plan will be discussed in public at the relevant meeting, unless otherwise 
indicated with * 

 

 

  

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



 

 
Hub Committee Forward Plan – April 2022 | 2 

Forward Plan from April 2022 

Portfolio 
Area 

Report Title and Summary Lead Member 
/ Officer 

Documents to be 
considered in 
making decision 

Date of 
Decision 

Consultees 
and means of 
consultation 

Natural 
Environment 

Title: Climate Change and 
Biodiversity Action Plan – 
Council net-zero update 

Purpose: in accordance with the 
Council resolution, to consider 
the six-month review of the 
Climate Change & Biodiversity 
Action Plan. 

Cllr Daniel / 
Drew Powell 

Report of the 
Director for 
Governance and 
Assurance 

12 April 2022  

Communities Title: Car Parking Orders 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that seeks to amend the Car 
Parking Order in light of change 
in legislation. 

Cllr Pearce / 
Emma 
Widdicombe 

Report of the Senior 
Specialist – Parking 
& Public 
Conveniences 

12 April 2022  

Housing and 
Benefits 

Title: Revenue and Benefits 
Service Review 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the findings of the 
Revenue and Benefits Service 
Review 

Cllr Ratcliffe / 
Steve 
Mullineaux 

Report of the 
Deputy Chief 
Executive 

12 April 2022  

Council Title: Quarter 4 Integrated 
Performance Management 
Report 

Purpose: To consider the 
integrated performance 
management report for the 
Quarter 4 period of 2021/22. 

Cllr Jory / Neil 
Hawke 

Report of Head of 
Strategy and 
Projects 

12 April 2022  

Homes Title: Housing Strategy Year 2 
Action Plan and Draft Homeless 
Strategy 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the Housing 
Strategy Year 2 Action Plan and 
the Draft Homeless Strategy for 
adoption. 

Cllr Ratcliffe / 
Issy Blake 

Report of Head of 
Housing 

12 April 2022  

Page 6



 

 
Hub Committee Forward Plan – April 2022 | 3 

Portfolio 
Area 

Report Title and Summary Lead Member 
/ Officer 

Documents to be 
considered in 
making decision 

Date of 
Decision 

Consultees 
and means of 
consultation 

Council Title: Annual Report of 
Achievements 2021/22 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the Council’s Draft 
Annual Report for 2021/22 

Cllr Jory / Neil 
Hawke 

Report of Head of 
Strategy and 
Projects 

7 June 2022  

Built 
Environment 

Title: Planning Improvement: 
Service Plan Update 

Cllr Mott / 
Drew Powell 

Report of Director 
of Governance and 
Assurance 

7 June 2022  

Communities Title: Key Partnership Funding 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the approach to 
funding for our key partners 
beyond the current three-year 
funding term (which ends on 31 
March 2023). 

Cllr Pearce / 
Neil Hawke 

Report of Head of 
Strategy and 
Projects 

7 June 2022  

Homes Title: Springhill Project Update 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents an update on the 
Springhill Project. 

Cllr Ratcliffe / 
Laura Wotton 

Report of Head of 
Assets 

7 June 2022  

Council Title: Quarter 1 Integrated 
Performance Management 
Report 

Purpose: To consider the 
integrated performance 
management report for the 
Quarter 1 period of 2022/23. 

Cllr Jory / Neil 
Hawke 

Report of Head of 
Strategy and 
Projects 

12 July 2022  

Resources 
and 
Performance 

Title: 2021/22 Revenue Outturn 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the final Revenue 
Outturn figures for 2021/22 

Cllr Edmonds / 
Pauline 
Henstock 

Report of the 
Deputy Section 151 
Officer 

12 July 2022  

Resources 
and 
Performance 

Title: 2021/22 Capital Outturn 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the final Capital 
Outturn figures for 2021/22. 

Cllr Edmonds / 
Pauline 
Henstock 

Report of the 
Deputy Section 151 
Officer 

12 July 2022  

Page 7



 

 
Hub Committee Forward Plan – April 2022 | 4 

 

Page 8



Report to: Hub Committee  

Date: 12th April 2022 

Title: Amendment of Off Street Parking Places 
Order 

Portfolio Area: Cllr Terry Pearce 

Wards Affected: All 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y 

Date next steps can be taken:    

  

Author: Emma 
Widdicombe 

Role: Senior Specialist Parking 

 

 

Contact: Emma.Widdicombe@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Hub Committee is RECOMMENDED to: 

1. Authorise the Head of Assets to publish notice of proposals 
for the West Devon Borough Council (Off-Street Parking 
Places) Order 2022 to consolidate with amendments the 
current off-street parking places order; the amendments to be 
made to be to the revelant parts of the Order to reflect 
changes to legislation in respect of parking enforcement. 

2. Request the Head of Assets to prepare a report summarising 
the representations received in response to the notice of 
proposals for consideration by the Hub Committee before 
making a decision whether to make the off-street parking 
places order as proposed or with modifications. 

 
1. Executive summary 

 
1.1 Following the Government commitment to make the moving 

traffic enforcement powers under Part 6 of the Traffic 
Management Act 2004 (the 2004 Act) available to local 
authorities outside of London they have now taken the 
opportunity to consolidate, the existing civil enforcement regimes 
for bus lane contraventions alongside parking contraventions. 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 7



1.2 This report seeks to implement these changes of legislation 
within our Off Street Parking Places Order to ensure, from the 
31st May 2022 and therafter Penalty Charge Notices will be 
subject to the The Civil Enforcement Of Road Traffic 
Contraventions (Approved Devices, Charging Guidelines and 
General Provisions) (England) Regulations 2022 and The Civil 
Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (Representations and 
Appeals)(England) Regulations 2022 

 
1.3 The forthcoming regulations are legislative changes and must be 

amended to ensure we are compliant with our enforcement of the 
Off Street Parking Places Order.  

 
1.4 This report also requests that Members consider the 

recommendations to revoke all previous Parking Orders and 
consolidate into one new Off Street Parking Places Order (2022) 

 
1.5 The recommendations will enable the Council to continue to 

manage off-street parking in an efficient and effective manner. 
 

1.6 Without these updates to the Off Street Parking Places Order, 
enforcement will not be possible in respect of the additions and 
changes to the Parking Order. 

 
 
 

2. Background  
 

2.1 This report seeks to implement the legislative changes due to 
come into effect on 31st May 2022 following the Government’s 
commitment to make moving traffic enforcement powers under 
Part 6 of the Traffic Management Act 2004 available to local 
authorities outside of London. 
 

2.2 All local authorities undertaking civil enforcement of parking 
contraventions must ensure the Regulations are amended to 
ensure they remain compliant with the Regulations. 
 

2.3 Although, as a Council we will not be undertaking moving traffic 
enforcement (this is a Devon County Council on street parking 
function) in making these powers available, Government have 
taken the opportunity to consolidate under the 2004 Act the 
existing civil enforcement regimes for bus lane contraventions, 
together with parking contraventions.  This creates a more 
cohesive civil enforcement regime, by removing numerous 
inconsistences and providing more efficient regime 
administration. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



3. Outcomes/outputs  
 

Legislative Changes 
3.1 Following the amendment to the Traffic Management Act 2004, all 

penalty charge notices issued to and including 30th May 2022 will be 
subject to the current regulatory regime for parking enforcement 
(currently under 2007 regulations made under the 2004 Act).  All 
local authorities undertaking civil enforcement of parking 
contraventions must ensure the Regulations are amended to 2022 
Regulations. 
 

3.2 Any penalty charge notices issued on 31st May 2022 and therafter 
will be subject to the 2022 regulations. 

 
3.3 The existing regulations will therefore be replaced as per the table 

below: 
 
 
 

 
 

Revocation of Previous Off Street Parking Places Order 
3.4 To assist effective management of all Parking Orders, all previous 

Parking Orders will be revoked and subsequently consolidated into 
one new Off Street Parking Places Order 2022. This will make 
interpretation easier and more robust, assist Adjudicators when 
considering appeals and provide a stronger platform for further 
changes. 

 
 
4. Options available and consideration of risk  
 
4.1 A 21 day public consultation will be undertaken following the 

meeting. 
 

4.2 The Council must ensure the Off Street Parking Orders are amended 
with the new Regulations to ensure we can continue to enforce 
parking restrictions by law. 

Page 11



 
4.3 During the consultation period, customers who wish to object to or 

comment on recommendations will have the opportunity to do so. 
Objections will be considered prior to implementation of any 
changes. 

 
 

5. Proposed Way Forward 
 
5.1 The proposed amendments to the Off Street Parking Places Order 

proceed in accordance with the recommendations. 
 

5.2 Should the Recommendations be accepted, the following steps will 
occur: 
 

a. 21 day consultation commence (April 2022) to which 
customers will be alerted by notice in the local press, on the 
Council’s website and in all affected car parks.   
This will allow customers to make comments on and/or 
objections to the proposals, should they wish to do so.   

b. All objections duly made under regulation 8 will be 
considered and referred to the Hub Committee for further 
consideration if necessary, 

c. Otherwise, the detailed implementation of the 
recommendations should be delegated to the Head of Assets 
in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for car parking for 
implementation. 

 
5.3 This proposal fits with the following priorities: 

Council 
Communities 
Environment 

 
 
6. Implications  
Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y The Council has power to provide and to regulate 
off-street car parks under the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984  The Local Authorities' Traffic 
Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 1996 set out the procedures to be 
followed before and after making any order 
regulating the use of car parks. 
 

Financial 
implications to 
include reference 
to value for 
money 

 If the legislative changes are not made penalty 
charge notices will not be enforceable through the 
existing legislation 
 

Page 12



Risk  The Regulations must be amended to ensure we 
can continue to enforce parking contraventions  
That if the Council does not amend and consolidate 
the existing off-street parking places orders it may 
have difficulties in taking enforcement action 
against drivers who park in a hazardous manner or 
otherwise misuse a car park. 
 

Supporting 
Corporate 
Strategy  

 Council 
Communities 
Environment 
 

Climate Change - 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity 
Impact  
 

 There are no negative impacts. 
 
There may be small positive impacts with 
customers considering alternative means of 
transport or care sharing. 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
Equality and 
Diversity 
 

 No implications.   

Safeguarding 
 

 No implications.   

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 

 No implications. 
 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

 No implications. 

Other 
implications 

 None. 
 

 
Supporting Information 
Appendices: 
None 
 
Background Papers: 
None 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 12 April 2022 

Title: Housing Strategy Year 2 Update and 
Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 

Portfolio Area: Homes – Cllr Barry Ratcliffe  

Wards Affected: All 

Urgent Decision:  N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y 

Date next steps can be taken: Upon the expiry of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Call-in period 

 

  

Author: Sophie Cobbledick Role: Senior Housing Specialist 

Contact: 01803 861441  Sophie.cobbledick@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 
 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is RECOMMENDED that the Hub Committee: 
 
Part 1 – Housing Strategy Year 2 Action Plan 
 

1. That Members review the progress to date on Better 
Homes, Better Lives 

2. That Members endorse the Year 2 Action Plan 
 
Part 2 - 2022/27 Homelessness Strategy: 

1. That Members approve the Joint South Hams and West 
Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 be adopted with 
effect from the 1st April 2022 

2. That Members approve the Joint Homelessness Strategy 
Action Plan 2022-23 be adopted with effect from the 1st 
April 2022 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 8



Part 1 – South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 
Year 2: Review and Update 

Author: Alex Rehaag   Role: Senior Housing Specialist  

Contact: 01822 813722  Email: alex.rehaag@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

Executive summary  
1.1 The Council adopted a new Housing Strategy ‘Better Homes, Better 

Lives’ in April 2021. This was a joint plan between South Hams and 
West Devon. Housing has since been recognised as a priority for both 
Councils in their separate corporate strategies and further endorsed 
by the declaration of a Housing Crisis in both South Hams & West 
Devon.  

1.2 The first year of the Housing Strategy will shortly be complete. This 
report contains a review of progress against the themes and priorities 
to date and a new delivery plan for the second year. Significant 
achievements in the first year of the Housing Strategy include:  

 Planning consent achieved for the redevelopment of 
Springhill. 

 The housing of 40 households requiring adaptations through 
our Disabled Adapted Panel  

1.3 The new delivery plan contains some further activity around the 
Housing Crisis declaration actions and the opportunity taken to align 
the delivery plans of the corporate strategies, housing strategy and 
housing crisis.  

2 2. Background 
2.1 Better Homes, Better Lives, was adopted in April 2021, as the 

Country started to emerge from the covid-19 pandemic. There were 
still many unknowns about the longer term impacts at that time, 
hence the need to create a strategy that was able to be flexible to 
changing needs. 

2.2 The consequence of the pandemic has had several local impacts, 
which led in part to the declaration of a housing crisis in the Borough. 
The availability of private rented accommodation was vastly reduced, 
as landlords flocked to take advantage of the rising demand for 
holiday accommodation as opportunities for foreign travel were 
drastically reduced. The stalled construction and lack of building 
materials also saw fewer homes built than was anticipated, again 
leading to an increase in demand. The County also has reported 
significant difficulties in retaining and recruiting carers for some of our 
most vulnerable residents particularly in rural areas, leading to 
challenges in providing care packages. It is important for the Council 
to be responsive to these changes and to look at creative and 
innovative solutions to the challenges. 

Page 16



2.3 So critical are those challenges to West Devon, that the Council 
declared a housing crisis in February 2022. Accompanying this was a 
15 point plan – a mix of partnership work and direct action and a raft 
of lobbying activity for campaigns for change to national policy and 
legislation.  

2.4 Better Homes, Better Lives is subject to an annual review as 
documented in the Housing Strategy document with an updated 
action plan made publically available in the Spring. This will be 
presented to members alongside the homeless strategy and as closely 
as possible to the Overview and Scrutiny review of the Housing 
Theme of “A Plan For West Devon” the West Devon corporate 
strategy. The Housing Crisis remains a standing item on the Hub 
committee agenda, allowing for ample opportunity to report on 
progress. 

2.5 Attached to this report are: 
 Appendix 1 the review of the first year of Better Homes, Better 

Lives and introduction to year 2  
 Appendix 2 – New action plan Year 2 
 

3 Outcomes/outputs  
3.1 This report seeks to inform members of the Executive of the progress 

to date on Better Homes, Better Lives the 5 year housing strategy for 
South Hams and West Devon. It also seeks endorsement of the Year 
2 Action Plan. 

3.2 Progress on the Action Plan will form the basis of the regular Housing 
Crisis update reports to the Executive.   

 

4 Options available and consideration of risk  
4.1 The Council has been clear in its ambition to tackle the housing crisis. 

A renewed Action Plan demonstrates the steps the Council is taking to 
address this. 

5 Proposed Way Forward  
5.1 That the Executive reviews the progress of the Year 1 Action plan for 

“Better Homes, Better Lives” and endorses the Action Plan for Year 2.  
 
 
 
Part 2 – Joint Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 and 2022-
23 Action plan  
 

Author: Sophie Cobbledick  Role: Senior Housing Specialist  

Contact: 01803 861441   Email: sophie.cobbledick@swdevon.gov.uk 

 
Executive summary   

1.1 The Homelessness Act 2002 places a duty on local authorities to 
review homelessness, and the influencing factors that cause 

Page 17



homelessness, and to develop a strategy which addresses the 
findings of the review.  The Joint South Hams and West Devon 
Homelessness five year Strategy was last published in 2017 and 
has now completed its 5 year span.  A review of the achievements 
made over the lifetime of the strategy and a review of current and 
likely future needs and trends was conducted as part of the 
process of developing the new strategy.  

1.2 Notable achievements identifies following the review included  
The prevention of homelessness for 707 household’s between 
April 2018 and Feb 2022 

1.3 As a result of this review four key areas of housing need were 
identified: Single Households, Families, Households with additional 
needs and Rough Sleepers.  These key areas formed the content 
for the Joint South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 
2022-27 

1.4 The Content of the Strategy has been developed following 
extensive and robust consultation with Members, Stakeholders 
and the public. 

1.5 The strategy will sit with the Housing Strategy and link with the 
Corporate Priorities for: Improving Homes - Every resident has 
access to a quality and safe home and Strengthening our 
Communities – An area that our communities can be proud of. 
 

2. Background  
2.1 The Homelessness Act 2002 places a duty on local authorities to 

review homelessness and the influencing factors for the area and 
produce a strategy which addresses local need.   

2.2 The review of the progress made under the 2017-22 
Homelessness Strategy identified significant differences in the 
opportunities and challenges experienced by four main groups 
within our communities.  These are Single households, Families, 
Households with additional needs and Rough sleepers.    

2.3 In order to address the varying challenges experienced by these 
groups our strategy focusses on solutions for each of these 
different groups. 

2.4 The impact of the pandemic on local housing need has been 
significant and this Strategy comes at an opportune time to take 
into account the additional challenges the council and our 
residents are facing.   

 
3. Outcomes/outputs  

3.1 Members are asked to approve the Joint South Hams and West 
Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 be adopted with effect 
from the 1st April 2022 

3.2 Members are asked to approve the Joint Homelessness Strategy 
Action Plan 2022-23 be adopted with effect from the 1st April 2022  

3.3 Officers will report back in 2023 on the progress made against this 
Action Plan. 

 
4. Options available and consideration of risk  

4.1 Some actions may require funding.  It is important to note that 
Local Authorities still received a prevention of homelessness grant 

Page 18



from central Government and this is likely to remain for the 
foreseeable future. For the year 2022-23 West Devon has been 
awarded £174628 in prevention grant, plus an additional £3442 
new burdens funding to support the delivery of the Domestic 
Abuse Act. We are not making a request for any additional 
funding to deliver this strategy.  

4.2 Members will note that our financial advice was contracted to 
Homemaker for 2018/19 and extended to 2021/22 following 
successful delivery of the contract.  Additional funding received 
enabled us to extend this service to offer support to those 
impacted upon by the Covid 19 pandemic.  The tender process for 
the new financial advice contract will commence this year with a 
contract to be in place by September 22. 

4.3 Failure to adopt and deliver a Homelessness Strategy will result in 
the Local Authority not meeting its duty under the 2002 
Homelessness Act. 
 

 
5.  Proposed Way Forward  

5.1 That members recommend the adoption of the Joint South 
Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27  

5.2 That members approve the 2022-23 Joint Homelessness Strategy 
Action plan  

 
 
 
 
 
Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

 Part 1 – Housing Strategy 
As part of the commitment in the Better Homes, 
Better Lives Housing Strategy document, it was 
agreed to review progress annually and produce a 
new delivery plan.  
 
Unlike the Homeless strategy it is not a statutory 
requirement to have a Housing Strategy, however 
it is a corporate priority for the Council and 
therefore essential it has a plan for delivery 
 
Part 2 - Homelessness Strategy 
The Homelessness Act 2002 places a duty on local 
authorities to review homelessness, and the 
influencing factors that cause homelessness, and to 
develop a strategy which addresses the findings of 
the review.   

Financial 
implications to 

 Part 1 – Housing Strategy 

Page 19



include reference 
to value for 
money 
 

None as a direct implication of this report. All new 
initiatives requiring finance will be subject to 
separate reports 
 
Part 2 – Homelessness Strategy 
It is important to note that Local Authorities still 
receive a prevention of homeless grant from 
central Government. For the year 2022-23 West 
Devon has been awarded £174628 in prevention 
grant, plus an additional £3442 new burdens 
funding to support the delivery of the Domestic 
Abuse Act. As most of the Actions are designed 
around homeless prevention and early intervention, 
the larger costs of temporary accommodation and 
rehousing will wherever possible be negated. This 
by far not only offers the best service for the 
customer but is the most efficient in terms of the 
Local Authority. 
 

Risk  Part 1 – Housing Strategy 
The Council has declared a Housing Crisis and has 
prioritised housing in its corporate strategy. Failure 
to produce an action plan detailing housing activity 
would undermine these commitments. 
Part 2 – Homelessness Strategy 
It is a statutory requirement to have a current 
Homelessness Strategy.  Failure to produce one 
would need to be explained to the MHCLG.  
 

Supporting 
Corporate 
Strategy  

 Themes: Improving Homes 
Strengthening communities & Delivering 
quality Council Services   

Climate Change - 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity 
Impact  
 
 

 Part 1 – Housing Strategy 
No direct impacts arising although individual projects will 
consider their impact.  
Part 2 – Homelessness Strategy 
No direct impact – individual projects will consider 
their impact 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
Equality and 
Diversity 
 

 Part 1 – Housing Strategy 
The housing Strategy was subject of an Equality 
Impact Assessment  
Part 2 – Homelessness Strategy 
Consultation on the strategy was reflective of the 
demographic of the area. 

Safeguarding 
 

 Part 1 – Housing Strategy 
No direct implications as a result of this report   
Part 2 – Homelessness Strategy 
As the Homeless Strategy Action Plan concerns 
work with very vulnerable people and one of the 
priorities is around Health and Wellbeing, the 

Page 20



corporate safeguarding policy will underpin the 
work of officers who regularly work with homeless 
households. 
 

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 

 Part 1 – Housing Strategy 
No direct implications as a result of this report 
Part 2 – Homelessness Strategy 
Devon & Cornwall Police contributed to the 
development of the strategy and will remain 
significant partners during the delivery of relevant 
actions in the action plan. 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

 Part 1 – Housing Strategy 
No direct implications as a result of this report, 
however there is activity within the action plan that 
is designed to respond positively to health and 
wellbeing. 
Part 2 – Homelessness Strategy 
The prime concern for the Strategy is around 
tackling and preventing homelessness which in turn 
is designed around improving the health and 
wellbeing of people living in the area. 

Other 
implications 

  
None identified 

 
Supporting Information 
Appendices: 
Part 1 – Housing Strategy 

 Appendix 1 the review of the first year of Better Homes, Better Lives 
and introduction to year 2  

 Appendix 2 – New action plan Year 2 
 
Part 2 Homelessness Strategy  

 Appendix 3 Draft Joint South Hams and West Devon Homelessness 
Strategy 2022 – 27 

 Appendix 4 - Joint South Hams and West Devon Homelessness 
Strategy Action Plan 2022-23 

 
Background Papers: 
Part 1 – Housing Strategy 

 Better Homes, Better Lives South Hams and West Devon Housing 
Strategy 2021-2026 

 A Plan for West Devon 
 Plymouth, South Hams & West Devon Joint Local Plan 

Part 2 Homelessness Strategy  
 Housing Strategy 2021-26 
 A Plan for West Devon 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - First year action plan review 1

South Hams & West Devon

Better Homes, Better Lives
Housing Strategy 2021-2026

First year action plan review

P
age 23



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - First year action plan review2

Introduction

In autumn of 2021 both Councils introduced separate 
corporate strategies. Both Councils have included 
Housing as a key corporate objective. 

Whilst being a key priority on its own, housing is also reflected in 
other priorities, particularly in wellbeing, economy and environment. 
Both Councils have also made declarations of both a climate and 
housing crisis. 

The corporate strategies for both Councils are underpinned by the:

	¥ Joint Local Plan

	¥ Housing strategy “Better Homes Better Lives”

	¥ Joint South Hams and West Devon homelessness strategy

The 5 year Housing Strategy for South Hams District and West Devon 
Borough Council, was adopted in April 2021. It was recognised at 
the time that the Strategy was required to be flexible enough to 
respond to the changing housing situation, particularly in light of 
the impact of the pandemic on our local communities. In recognition 
of this impact both councils have declared a Housing Crisis and each 
committed to an action plan aimed at addressing the unique needs of 
our rural areas. These action plans both supplement and complement 
the existing Housing Strategy, further strengthening our approach to 
meeting the needs of our residents.

P
age 24



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - First year action plan review 3

 A Plan for West Devon - September 2021 1

A Plan for  
West Devon

September 2021
 A vision for South Hams - September 2021 1

Better lives for all
A vision for South Hams

September 2021

1

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026Theme 1 - Housing for Place  Theme 2 - Housing for People  

South Hams & West Devon

Better Homes, Better Lives
Housing Strategy 2021-2026

www.southhams.gov.uk
www.westdevon.gov.uk

 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 1

South Hams & West Devon

Homelessness Strategy
2022-2027

PLYMOUTH &
SOUTH WEST
DEVON JOINT
LOCAL PLAN

2014-2034

ADOPTED
MARCH 2019

produced by West Devon Borough Council, South
Hams District Council and Plymouth City Council

ECONOMY

ARTS, CULTURE
& HERITAGE

GETTING
AROUND

EDUCATION
& LEARNING

LOCAL
COMMUNITY

LIVING &
HOUSING

HEALTH &
WELLBEING

GREENSPACE &
ENVIRONMENT

Corporate Strategy

Strategic ThemesStrategic Themes

Underpinning 
Documents

Corporate Strategy

P
age 25



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - First year action plan review4

We are pleased to provide an update from the  
first year of Better Homes, Better Lives, the joint 
Housing Strategy for South Hams and West Devon. 

At the time of adoption the world was starting to recover from 
the Covid-19 pandemic, however this past year has seen many 
challenges reverberating from this and these are felt acutely in 
relation to housing. Both South Hams and West Devon have seen 
huge issues with affordability, availability of property and delays 
in housebuilding and the increase in short term holiday lets. 
This has culminated in our housing crisis declarations, and both 
Councils are determined, through partnership working, direct 
action and political lobbying to tackle the issue head on. 

Foreword

Improving 
homes

P
age 26



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - First year action plan review 5

Better Lives for All  
and the Housing Strategy

We are focussed on existing housing, and our priority 
is also to support the delivery of new local homes that 
are affordable to local people. We want people to be 
able to continue living in the area that they have grown 
up, where their employment and support is nearby and 
where their health and wellbeing is acknowledged. We 
want to enable local people to live in their homes for as 
long as possible through the delivery of our services.

We have declared a Housing Crisis in the South Hams 
and this strategy will help us to address many of the 
issues this involves, in particular the growth in the 
number of second homes and the lack of available 
accommodation that we face and the impact that 
this is having on preventing our communities to 
thrive. We want to increase awareness of the best 
use of our existing housing stock and how we can 
support people to live in more appropriate housing 
for their needs, whether this is downsizing or getting 
a foot on the housing ladder.

We also understand that energy efficient homes will 
be a high priority for our residents due to the rising 
cost of fuel bills and we need to make sure that none 
of our residents face homelessness and have a secure 
and safe roof over their head.

A Plan for West Devon  
and the Housing Strategy

We are driving the delivery of new affordable 
homes for local people in West Devon. These 
are homes that will meet the various different 
needs of our communities; the young, the older 
generation and those that may require specialist 
housing to live as independently for as long as 
possible. We are bringing forward a flag ship  
re-development of our homeless hostel which 
will provide safe and warm accommodation for 
those that find themselves in the unfortunate 
position of not having a roof over their head. 
Keeping them local to their family, support, 
schools and jobs.

West Devon has declared a Housing crisis and we 
are committed to working though the actions 
contained in this to ensure that our existing 
stock is of a good standard for our residents to 
live in. We will encourage those living in larger 
accommodation than their needs to downsize 
to more appropriately sized properties to allow 
families a chance to continue to live in the area 
they know and love.

Cllr Judy Pearce

South Hams  
District Council

Lead Member  
for Homes

Cllr Barry Ratcliffe

West Devon 
Borough Council

Lead Member  
for Homes

P
age 27



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - First year action plan review6

Background 

South Hams District Council and West Devon  
Borough Council adopted their new Housing Strategy 
“Better Homes, Better Lives” in April 2021 which set out  
the Councils housing ambitions for the next 5 years. 

It was essential that the plans had maximum flexibility to ensure it 
could respond to the housing needs of the District & Borough. As part 
of the ongoing monitoring; the strategy will be reviewed annually 
and an updated action plan will be adopted, with a continuing focus 
on our themes ‘Housing for Place’ and ‘Housing for people’.

Housing for Place
	¥ Promote balanced and  

sustainable communities 

	¥ Ensuring that homes support the  
health and wellbeing of the area 

Housing For People
	¥ Homes that support the  

Health & wellbeing of our residents 

	¥ Make the best use and improve  
quality of existing housing  

P
age 28



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - First year action plan review 7

The Councils are pleased to report that progress 
on the Year 1 Action Plan is good. Despite the 
pandemic and response required by the councils 
throughout that time, very few tasks require 
a revised timescale for completion. Some of 
the slippage reported can be attributed to 
delays in terms of building due to the Covid-19 
restrictions; which has led to national shortages 
in materials and a challenging year for the labour 
market. Similarly, some of the face to face events 
that were planned for year 1 will now take place 
in year 2. However, the Councils have an agile 
working policy, and so despite the rule to work 
from home, we have continued to work with 
minimal interruption and delivered our services 
across the housing team in as normal way as 
possible.

Declaration of a Housing Crisis 

As a reflection of the chronic issues with 
affordability and availability of accommodation 
for local residents, both Councils have declared 
a housing crisis setting out steps they want to 
tackle the issue locally. Housing is a priority of 
the corporate strategies “Better Lives for all” 

and “A Plan for West Devon” and both Council’s 
have made their position clear, with a raft of 
measures which include political lobbying 
for legislative change, direct delivery and 
introductions of policies and incentives to make 
best use of housing stock. 

The current housing market is challenging, and 
changes to the economy as a result of Brexit and 
the pandemic require the Council to react quickly 
to intervene and assist people in our local area. 
This includes lobbying for change in legislation 
and national policy. We can report that people 
who, only a short while ago, would have been 
able to resolve their housing need without our 
assistance are now unable to do so. The lack of 
affordable housing to rent, while the increase in 
house prices for those looking to buy is having 
a lasting impact on our local area. The ability 
to get a foot on the housing ladder has become 
more difficult for those just starting out, as has 
rightsizing and adapting homes for the elderly or 
those with mobility problems. The Council has 
introduced initiatives to tackle some of these 
challenges and whilst it is too soon to measure 
their success we look forward to reporting on 
these in the future.

P
age 29



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - First year action plan review8

1.	 The District Council will lobby government, 
through MPs and the Local Government 
Association, to allow a Council Tax charge 
on housing plots with planning permission 
if they have not been built after a specified 
period. This would encourage developers to 
get on and build their sites without delay. 

2.	 They will also lobby Government to 
review all holiday accommodation. This 
would ensure that it is properly regulated, 
complying with local planning policies and 
taxes. This could include an extension of 
the 90-day short let legislation, a proper 
planning class for short lets and proper 
licencing for them. This would prevent 
people finding loopholes in the taxation 
system and prevent too many local homes 
being converted to holiday accommodation

3.	 The Council should also immediately 
review all holiday letting in the District 
to ensure that the owners are paying the 
correct amount for the removal of waste 
and recycling. Businesses should not be on 
the normal domestic recycling and waste 
collection. 

4.	 South Hams District Council will also ask the 
Joint Local Plan project team to review the 
amounts of affordable housing in the Joint 

Local Plan and see if this can be increased, 
so that the percentage of “First Homes” on 
a development is in addition to the existing 
requirement for 30% affordable housing. 

5.	 The District Council already runs a letting 
agency to encourage landlords to make 
properties available for local families in 
need. There should be further promotion 
of this and regular landlord forums to 
encourage more properties to become 
available. 

6.	 The District Council works closely with 
registered providers on many housing 
projects across the District; they will now be 
working with them to ensure the best use 
of those properties, such as to encourage 
tenants to downsize where possible and 
make larger properties available for larger 
households.

7.	 In addition to this, the District Council is 
proposing to use some of the affordable 
housing revenue to increase payments made 
to those tenants downsizing to make the 
move more attractable and affordable.

8.	 The Council is committed to  
using Section 106 affordable housing 
contributions as soon as possible, to help 
fund developments anywhere in the 
District where the terms of the Section 106 
agreements will allow.

9.	 The Council also wants to campaign for 
changes to the Broad Market Area, to better 
reflect the costs of rents in the South Hams.

10.	 The Council would encourage the 
development of an exemplar site of low 
carbon modular housing, to show that 
developments can be both stylish and great 
to live in.

11.	 South Hams District Council also agreed 
to actively seek opportunities to invest in 
Council owned social housing with highly 
sustainable specification.

12.	 To lobby Government to allow local councils 
to be able to charge 200% Council Tax on 
second / holiday homes, as they do in Wales.

South Hams (September 2021)

P
age 30



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - First year action plan review 9

1.	 Demonstrate our commitment to the wellbeing 
of homeless people in the Borough by providing 
quality temporary accommodation (such as is 
proposed at Springhill Tavistock) and reduce the 
need for less appropriate forms of temporary 
accommodation. 

2.	 Act where the Council has a land holding 
and take an interventionist approach to the 
housing market over the longer- term, where 
there is demonstrable housing need, leading to 
improved long term housing outcomes. 

3.	 Recognise the market failures locally around 
accommodation options for vulnerable 
people (exempt accommodation), work in 
close partnership with Devon County Council 
to provide alternatives – putting people 
before profit. At the same time lobby national 
government to make legislative changes 
to remove the incentives for unscrupulous 
providers and to protect the needs of this 
vulnerable group. 

4.	 Recognise the need for extra care 
accommodation in the Borough (such as 
proposed at Plymouth Rd) and ensure such 
schemes are supported to come forward. 

5.	 Actively contribute to ‘Team Devon’s’ housing 
task force and housing commission to build the 
case for affordable housing as a key priority in 
any pan-Devon Page No devolution ask. 

6.	 Lobby government through our MPs and 
the LGA to review the regulation of holiday 
accommodation, to ensure all holiday 
accommodation is suitably regulated and 
made subject to local planning policies 
and taxes. We should also appeal for an 
extension to the 90-day short term let 
legislation to be extended outside London 
and lobby DLUC for a separate planning class 
for short term lets and a proper licensing 
system to cater for them. 

7.	 As the Council moves towards a review of the 
JLP, aspire to the highest affordable housing 
threshold that is sustainable and underpin it 
in policy. 

8.	 Create a long term strategic partnership 
with a high quality Registered Provider to 
see the delivery of affordable-led housing at 
scale and over the long term in the Borough. 

9.	 Continue to work closely with our main 
Registered Providers to ensure best 
occupancy of stock, not just by providing 
financial incentives for downsizing, but, 
where a step into home ownership may be 
possible, supporting tenants to make that 
move through a deposit grant scheme. 

10.	 Use any Section 106 affordable housing 
contributions as soon as possible to help 
fund developments anywhere in the 

Borough where the terms of  
the Section 106 Agreement permit this. 

11.	 As agreed at the last Hub Committee 
meeting, campaign for changes to the Broad 
Market Area to better reflect the costs of 
rents in West Devon. 

12.	 Actively seek opportunities to invest in 
Council owned social housing with high 
sustainability specification (including 
modular housing) to support those on 
low incomes who are unable to afford 
‘affordable’ rented housing. 

13.	 Aligned with our Climate Change 
Emergency, continue to fund (and bid for 
further national funding) improvements 
to existing private sector houses within 
the Borough, recognising that housing 
is responsible for 40% of national CO2 
emissions. 

14.	 Lobby MPs and Central Government to 
provide an incentive to landowners for the 
provision of land specifically for Local Needs 
Affordable Housing.  Giving landowners a 
tax break when providing land for affordable 
housing where there is an identified need, 
would, it is believed, help to release land at 
a reduced cost to support the small scale 
provision of affordable housing in our rural 
communities. 

West Devon (February 2022)

P
age 31



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - First year action plan review10

How did we do in Year 1?

Both councils have performed well with 
regard to affordable housing delivery 
through the Joint Local Plan, however, 
demand for services remains high and 
the councils continue to work hard to 
resolve housing need issues cross the 
district and borough. 

Affordable 
Housing Delivery

P
age 32



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - First year action plan review 11

South Devon Rural

Originator

Oliver Green Partnership

Drawing NumberPurpose of Issue Layout TitleClientProject

Presentation GF1:50 487
project originator zone level type roleBrimhay Phase 5 number rev

A-487-19
RevID

Transmi
ttal Set

ID
Transmittal Set Name Issue Date Issuer-Intls Status Approved by

Project No.Scales @ A1status

APRJ PDG- - - - -

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 1
0

1
1

1
2

1
3

1
4

1
5

1
6

1
7

1
8

D
O

W
N

U
P

bedroom

shower
room

hall

kitchen

lounge /
dining

c.

lounge

kitchen /
dining bedroom bedroom

bedroom

recreation room

wc

c.

c.

hall
hall

shower room

shower
room kitchen /

dining

lift

meter
cupboard

shower room

post boxes

B

B

B

lounge /
dining

svp
svp

svp

svp

svp

svp

svp

svp

svp

boiler
flue

boiler
flue

boiler
flue

mech
extract

mech
extract

mech
extract

mech
extract

mech
extract

mech
extract

mech
extract

mech
extract

mech
extract

mech
extract

mech
extract

mech
extract

mech
extract

1 Presentation GF 1:50

Next steps 
towards your 

first independent 
home

South Devon Rural Housing Association Limited 
Registered England and Wales

South Devon House, Babbage Road,Totnes TQ9 5JA

T. 01803 863550 F. 01803 863685   E-mail: Info@southdevonrural.com 
Website: www.southdevonrural.com

The next stage 
of the journey 
starts right here!

11 smart new 
apartments at 
Brimhay Gardens, 
Dartington, 
for people 
with learning 
difficulties

We’ve created 
a special 
stepping stone 
to inspire 
independent 
living

For more information and to 
express an interest, please contact:
Care Direct Plus
01392 383 12 11

SOUTH DEVON RURAL
H O U S I N G  A S S O C I AT I O N  L I M I T E D

Published and typeset by 
South Hams Newspapers 
Ltd., at Tindle House 
101/103 Fore Street, 
Kingsbridge, TQ7 1AF, 
Devon.  Tel: 01548 853101.
Find us on the internet at 
www. southhams-today.co.uk
Printed by Newsquest,  The 
Print Centre, Fleet 
House, Hampshire Rd, 
Weymouth DT4 9XD. 
Tel: 02380 424802

dartmouth-today.co.uk        85pThursday, February 3, 2022

• Cars 
• Motorcycles 
• Three-Wheelers 
• Light Trucks 
The Old Abattoir 
Dartmouth, Devon

Dartmouth
01803 832288

dartmouth@winkworth.co.uk

More homes for 
Dartmouth

Affordable homes 
included in second 
phase of Dartmouth 

development
by Kate Cotton

SOUTH Hams Council has given 
Baker Estates the green light to 
build a further 123 new homes at 
its Little Cotton Farm development. 

This new phase – phase two – 
will include 27 desperately needed 
affordable units for residents of 
Dartmouth and Stoke Fleming.

A drop-in event this week, host-
ed by South Hams Council and 
Devon Home Choice, helped local 
families with a connection to the 
area – who have priority over the 
units – to apply for the affordable 
properties. 

A mix of two, three and four-bed-
room homes will be built during 
this next phase of the develop-
ment providing a variety of house 
types including apartments, coach 
houses, terrace, semi-detached and 
detached properties. 

The housebuilder is waiting on 
a number of additional applica-
tions adding up to a total of 414 
new homes which will include 83 
affordable homes. 

In addition, a further 33 homes 
are being built for shared owner-
ship through Legal and General on 
the site.

Full story on page two

Contributed
Baker given green light to build more homes Full story on page 2

Dartmouth Academy’s School 
motto has been forever 
immortalised in spray paint see 

page 3

Spray it...

Avon Mill
Garden Centre open 7 days a week
- for all your gardening needs.

Seeds & Seed Potatoes • Compost • Bird Food
Shrubs • Trees • Bulbs • Bedding

www.avonmill.com 01548 550338

Thursday, January 20, 2022     11

A South 
Hams 
charity is 
reaching 
out to local  
businesses 
for aid

South Hams District Council has 
fought a long and arduous campaign, to 
urge the Government to close a tax loop-
hole which allows second home owners 
to avoid paying any business rates or 
council tax on their properties. On Janu-
ary 14 2022, the Government announced 
changes that close this loophole whilst 
protecting genuine holiday lets and 
benefitting popular holiday destinations 
such as the South Hams.

Currently, people who own second 
homes in England can avoid paying 
council tax and access small business 
rates relief by declaring an intention to 
let the property out to holidaymakers. 
The change, which will come into effect 
from April 2023, will see second home-
owners forced to pay council tax if they 
cannot show they are genuinely renting 
out their properties on a commercial 
basis.

The Council is thrilled that the Gov-
ernment has listened to its concerns. 
In 2020, the Leader of the Council, Cllr 
Judy Pearce, gave evidence to the Treas-
ury Select Committee on this issue. The 
Council’s local MP, Anthony Mangnall 
MP, strongly supported the Council’s 
campaign and raised the issue direct 
with the Government.

The announcement today from the 
Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Rt 
Hon Michael Gove, comes on the back of 
South Hams District Council declaring 
a housing crisis in September 2021. This 
was backed by a 12 point action plan, 
with closing the business rates loophole 
being one of those areas to address. 
As well as ensuring that second home 
owners pay fairly for services, it is hoped 

that the new change may also see more 
short-term holiday let properties switch 
to long-term rental. This would help to 
ease the chronic shortage of long-term 
rental accommodation at an affordable 
rate, making it easier for local families to 
remain in the communities they love.

Cllr Judy Pearce, Leader of South 
Hams District Council said: “This is 
excellent news as a result of a sustained 
campaign by South Hams District Coun-
cil, Anthony Mangnall MP, and myself 
to get this loophole in the business rates 
system closed.  This is important for 
community cohesion. 

“Second home owners should be pay-
ing into the local community unless they 
are genuinely running a letting business.  
Services such as highways, the fire ser-
vice and the police, which can equally 
well be used or needed by holiday 
makers, will benefit, as will the general 
income of the District and County Coun-
cils.  We welcome all visitors, but hard-
pressed local residents should not have 
to subsidise services for them.”

Under the new rules, holiday lets 
must be rented out for a minimum of 70 
days a year to qualify for business rates. 
Holiday let owners will have to provide 
evidence such as the website or brochure 
used to advertise the property, letting 
details and receipts. Properties will also 
have to be available to be rented out for 
140 days a year to qualify for this relief.

The Council currently has just under 
1,800 business rated properties that are 
self-catering holiday lets.

At a time when there are severe 
funding problems with all tiers of Local 
Government (particularly adult social 
care) and our emergency services are 
under increasing pressures, South Hams 
District Council spearheaded a campaign 
to make the point that the current system 
is fundamentally unfair. Small business 
rate relief was implemented to support 
our small business, village halls and local 
shops. The rules have been taken advan-
tage of, to allow people to not pay for the 
local services they are using.

Anthony Mangnall MP added: “After 
two years of campaigning with Cllr Judy 
Pearce, Leader of South Hams District 
Council, it is welcome news that the 
Government has taken this step. South 
Devon has one of the highest concen-
tration of second homes in the country. 
This announced change will help to stop 
people utilising an unforeseen loophole 
while also ensuring that they pay their 
fair share. Both the Chancellor and 
Michael Gove have listened carefully to 
our needs and I hope this will be the first 
step of many to help improve accom-
modation issues in the South West and 
beyond.”

Loophole closed over second home-ownership

The 2022 ‘Outrun an Ambu-
lance’ virtual event has been 
launched by the South Western 
Ambulance Charity.

People in the South Hams are 
being asked to rise to the challenge 
and support the region’s ambu-
lance workers, by conquering the 
mileage an ambulance covers on 
an average shift while responding 
to people in urgent need.

The South Western Ambulance 
Charity, the charitable arm of the 
South Western Ambulance Service 
NHS Foundation Trust (SWAS-
FT), first launched the ‘Outrun an 
Ambulance’ fundraiser in 2021 
and generated nearly £12,000 of 
vital donations.

A year on, a further five other 
ambulance charities are now tak-
ing part across the country.

Money raised for the South 
Western Ambulance Charity as 
part of this year’s ‘Outrun an 
Ambulance’ challenge will sup-
port SWASFT staff and volunteers 
by funding well-being enhance-
ments at local stations throughout 
the region.

Zoe Larter, Head of the South 
Western Ambulance Charity, said: 
“Our ambulance staff and vol-
unteers really are going the extra 
mile to keep us all safe during 
these challenging times.

“It’s now our time to go the 
extra mile for them! 

“Taking part in the ‘Outrun an 
Ambulance’ challenge means not 
only supporting ambulance staff, 
but it’s a great excuse for you to 
focus on your own health and 
wellbeing too.

“The challenge is designed to 
suit all people and all abilities. You 
don’t need to complete it in one 
go, and you could take part as a 
team with each individual cover-
ing part of the distance.”

You’re challenged to complete 
your selected distance, plus one 
extra mile. If you don’t want to 
run, you can walk, swim, scoot, 
hand-cycle, or ride anything that 
is self-propelled.

You can choose your timeframe, 
up to a maximum of three months 
to ‘outrun’ the distance by at least 
one mile. 

The ‘Outrun an Ambulance’ 
fundraiser was dreamt up by an 
Emergency Care Assistant from 
SWASFT, while she was shielding 
during the Covid-19 pandemic.

Shannon Witts and her family 
outran the total mileage of 196 
miles for three ambulance stations 
raising more than £600 towards 
the total.

As participants prepare for their 
challenge, it is recommended that 
you speak to your GP first if you 
have not exercised for some time 
or have any medical conditions 
or concerns. For further guidance 
visit www.nhs.uk/live-well/exer-
cise. It is also recommend that you 
stick to well-lit areas if exercising 
outdoors after dark.

For more information and to 
set-up a personal fundraising page 
for the ‘Outrun an Ambulance’ 
challenge visit www.outrunanam-
bulance.co.uk . Your can choose 
the area you want to support 
and discover the mileage target 
options for your own fundraising 
challenge.

A South Hams charity 
which helps people with 
learning disabilities is reach-
ing out to small local busi-
nesses to help raise funds by 
pledging a percentage of their 
profits.

Dartington-based Life-
works says small business-
es are the lifeblood of the 
UK’s economy and all, from 
altruistic accountants to com-
passionate crafters, can really 
make a big difference to char-
itable organisations.

Lifeworks believes consum-
ers increasingly want to buy 
from and champion business-
es that are led by their values, 
and says it would love to talk 
to any businesses interested 
in putting “purpose alongside 
profit.”

Stuart Devlin, the charity’s 
digital fundraising officer, 
said: “By partnering with 
Lifeworks you will play a key 
role in improving the futures 
of people with learning dis-
abilities and their families, 
whilst achieving your CSR 
objectives and strengthening 
your brand.”

With 5.8 million small busi-
nesses in the UK, collectively 
the small business commun-
ity can have a hugely posi-
tive impact on society says 
Lifeworks; but currently just 
two per cent of the country’s 
charities’ income comes from 
businesses - compared to 43 
per cent from individuals.

Lifeworks says it wants to 
play a part in moving the nee-
dle on that two per cent and 
is keen to increase its sup-
port from small businesses to 
enable the charity to ensure 
local children, young people 
and adults with learning dis-
abilities access opportunities 
to reach their full potential.

Businesses can donate 
either as a percentage of their 
sales or a percentage of their 
profits.

To pledge a donation visit 
the charity’s new Work for 
Good page at www.work-
forgood.co.uk/charities/life-
works-charity

To contact Lifeworks about 
fundraising email fundrais-
ing@lifeworks-uk.org

Artwork causes a 
bit of a stink

A SALCOMBE-based artist has been get-
ting up the noses of the authorities with 
his latest work of art.

Suspicious customs officers 
impounded a perfume bottle labelled 
‘No 19 – Eau De Virus’ – created by 
street artist ’Orrible. 

The artwork, classed as a sculpture, 
failed a dangerous goods audit. 

The work in question—a bottle con-
taining a fluorescent liquid labelled ‘No. 
19 Covid, Wuhan - Eau De Virus’—was 
on its way to an art collector in Switz-
erland, when it was seized by customs 
authorities, who presumably feared that 
the contents might contain one or more 
variants of the SARS-CoV-2 virus. 

When gallery owner Claudio Cecconi 
confirmed the contents to be harmless, 
the package was swiftly released and is 
now on its way to its intended recipient. 

He said: ‘Taking into account the fact 
that we are both in the midst of a global 
pandemic and a post-Brexit transition, 
I think the authorities did an amazing 
job of balancing the need to protect the 
public with the need to keep UK exports 
moving.’

This work was one of a number of 
limited-edition sculptures produced in 
collaboration with the Secret Art Gallery 
for a solo exhibition which took place in 
London in December 2021. 

The work itself is part of a collection 
of paintings and sculptures— which 
was recently featured in a Channel 4 
documentary entitled ‘Is COVID Racist?’ 
(Channel 4, 2020)—all themed around 
the same subject-matter of ‘infectious 
luxury’. 

’Orrible, otherwise known as Jon Hor-

rell, is a stencil artist based in the rolling 
hills above Salcombe. He is held in high 
regard amongst his peers and his work 
has sold in galleries and charity auctions 
alongside the likes of Banksy, Damian 
Hirst, Andy Warhol, Ben Eine, Inkie, 
Blek le Rat and the Conner brothers. 

Explaining his work, he said: ‘Draw-
ing on odious themes of luxury con-
sumerism and economic inequality, the 
“Eau de Virus” collection is my artistic 
reinterpretation of Chanel’s iconic No 19 
Eau de Parfum. Unfortunately, this is the 

perfume of our times; a fragrance of fear, 
distrust and disbelief, with subtle notes 
of the apocalypse.’

’Orrible’s ‘Eau De Virus’ collection 
is presently being exhibited on Artsy 
at https://www.artsy.net/show/secret-
art-ltd-orrible-eau- de-virus-and-infec-
tious-luxury 

The Secret Art Gallery, located on 
Cheshire Street near London’s Brick 
Lane, exhibits work from emerging and 
established contemporary artists from 
around the world.

’Orrible piece of work: No 19 Eau de Covid.

Virtual 
fundraising 
event 
launched 

8   Thursday, 3rd February 2022

Planning Proposals, Traffic Notices, Goods Vehicle Operator Licences,
Licences To Sell Alcohol and Probate Notices

For all your latest information see page 30

Public’s help is needed 
to tackle homelessness

by PHIL STONEHAM       phil.stoneham@tavistock-today.co.uk

 Spring Hill where West Devon Borough 
Council is providing accommodation for 
the homeless.

COUNCIL chiefs say they want 
to tackle West Devon’s mounting 
housing crisis with the help of the 
public as they warn homelessness 
numbers could rise in the borough 
over the next five years.

West Devon Borough Council’s 
hub committee are looking at 
appointing permanent staff to help 
sort out a crisis which is being 
fuelled by a severe shortage of 
rented accommodation.

A report to the committee by 
senior housing specialist Sophie 
Cobbledick blames the Covid-19 
pandemic and a move by landlords 
to turn rented property into holiday 
lets for helping to worsen the situ-
ation, with 33 per cent of ‘one-bed 
households’ who have been made 
homeless being forced to live out-
side the borough. 

Councillors have already been told 
that officers have evidence that resi-
dents are being evicted from rented 
properties to make way for tourists.

Now hub committee members, 
who met on Tuesday, want to 
consult the public on the depth of 
the problem as they draw up a new 
strategy to tackle it, with a report 
being made to full council in May.

Councillors have been told 
West Devon is working alongside 

neighbouring South Hams District 
Council, who recently declared a 
housing crisis, to try to alleviate the 
situation. 

Ms Cobbledick’s report said: 
‘Much of our industry is centred on 
tourism and we have high propor-
tions of holiday and second home 
accommodations in many of our 
towns and villages. 

‘While this has always been the 
case, the Covid-19 pandemic has 
brought with it increased interest in 
the area for staycation holidays, sec-
ond home ownership and permanent 
relocation from cities; with the new 
opportunities presented by home 
working. 

‘The result has been a sharp 
increase in house prices and in prop-
erties being used as holiday rentals 
rather than as long-term rented 
housing.’

She said latest data revealed that 
in the 12 months leading up to 
December 2021, the South West 
experienced the highest rental 
increases along with West Midlands 
of 3.1 per cent, while other figures 
revealed that tenant demand was 
accelerating while fewer landlords 
were coming forward to offer prop-
erty to rent.  

.Ms Cobbledick said the fall in 

supply of lettings was most wide-
spread in the Midlands, the East of 
England and the South West, while 
the increase in rental prices and 
property prices has priced many 
low income families out of both 
the home ownership and the private 
rented market. 

She said: ‘The pandemic also 
had significant financial impacts 
including decreased income under 
the furlough scheme and changes 
to benefits that has impacted on 
people’s ability to manage their 
finances. 

‘This has sharply emphasised the 
challenges for many people across 
our area and may lead to further 
increases in homelessness in our 
area.’

She said in October last year in 
West Devon there were 538 second 
homes and 33 properties that have 
been empty for over two years. 
A further 27 were recorded as 
uninhabitable.  Her report said that, 
according to figures from the Land 
Registry, the average house price in 
West Devon is £306,203, a 22 per 
cent increase since September 2016, 
when the average house price was 
£239,160. Meanwhile, the average 
salary in West Devon is £22,048, an 
increase of 11 per cent since 2016. 

A look at local planning applications

Fresh pitch for all-weather 
pitch at primary school

A FRESH application for planning 
permission for an artificial sports 
pitch at St James C of E Primary 
School in Okehampton has been 
submitted to West Devon Borough 
Council.

Alterations have been made to the 
plans, with the pitch to be moved 
1.8 metres closer to Crediton Road 
and further away from neighbouring 
houses, following concerns raised by 
neighbours overlooking the site about 
the effect on their privacy.

The original application 1324/21/FUL  
was rejected last year after a resident 
voiced these concerns to the council, 
and this application 0136/22/FUL is 
a resubmission of that. Comments 
are invited from the public on the 
application via the planning section on 
WDBC’s website by February 17.

Tim Capps from Oxenham Consult, 
submitting the application on behalf 
of Dartmoor Multi Academy Trust, 
which runs the school, said: ‘It should 
be noted that within this revision we 
have moved the development a further 
1.8m towards the road (Crediton Road) 
away from the nearest properties so as 
to allow both enhanced privacy and a 
better maintenance access route to the 
north side of the fence.’

He added that the all-weather pitch 
would ensure that the school could 
have access to an artificial surface all 
year around and which could be used 
intensively due to its synthetic surface.

‘The pitch could be used for a range 
of sports and would be especially suita-
ble for ball games,’ he said. 

‘An artificial grass pitch (AGP) would 
offer potential to significantly improve 
the delivery of curricular and extra-cur-

ricular sport at St James Primary 
School.’

The application also proposes 
constructing a three-metre high fence 
around the pitch, which is an increase 
on the 1.8 metres outlined in the origi-
nal plans, to protect the children, ‘pre-
vent contamination, mud and misuse of 
the pitch’ and cut down on the number 
of ‘wayward balls’ making their way 
into neighbours’ gardens. 

The fence will be made of dark green 
powder coated steel and will let light 
through, the applicants have stated.

Mr Capps said that the impact on 
neighbours would be ‘considerably 
diminished’ by moving the pitch further 
away from the neighbouring houses. No 
floodlighting for the pitch is planned.

Other planning appl icat ions 
submitted to West Devon Borough 
Council include: 

Application for self-build project 
to construct a home at Bouchers Hill, 
North Tawton   — http://apps.westdevon.
gov.uk/PlanningSearchMVC/Home/
Details/220088

Planning permission for the use of a 
building as a separate dwelling together 
with a garage and studio, Candolim, 
Ottery near Tavistock — http://apps.
westdevon.gov.uk/PlanningSearchM-
VC/Home/Details/214557

Demolition and replacement of an 
agricultural building for housing calves 
on an organic dairy farm, Hele Farm, 
Gulworthy —http://apps.westdevon.
gov.uk/PlanningSearchMVC/Home/
Details/213778. Also relating to the 
same farm, applications for an agricul-
tural feed and forage storage building, 
3793/21/FUL, a straw and machinery 
storage building, 3794/21/FUL, and 
livestock building, 3795/21/FUL.

CALSTOCK Parish 
Council has put on hold 
a decision to support 
a development on a 
‘rural exception site’ in 
the village of Harrow-
barrow which would 
be 50% affordable 
housing.

The council, which is 
aiming for 100% afforda-
ble housing on its ‘rural 
expection sites’ after 
the community voted 
through its neighbour-
hood development plan 
recently, is to take advice 
from Cornwall Council’s 
affordable housing team.

Twenty-four members 
of the public have object-
ed to the application 
for six homes on land 
adjacent to Valley View 
on Callington Road in 
Harrowbarrow.

They are concerned 
about overdevelopment 
of the 3.36 acre site, 
destruction of the coun-
tryside, inadequate road 
infrastructure, the design 
of the homes not being 
in keeping with the area 
and the proposal being 
against the neighbour-
hood development plan.

Opponents have also 
said that the area already 
has adaquate housing 
with a lot of housebuild-
ing in the parish in recent 
years, particularly at St 
Ann’s Chapel.

The proposal is to 
construct two three-bed-
room affordable homes 
and one two-bedroom 
affordable house, along 
with two four-bedroom 
and one three-bedroom 
open market houses to 
make the scheme viable.

The site has been the 
subject of several previ-
ous applications and pre 
applications.

Red Planning, agents 
for the applicants Martin 
Scoble and K Slade, said 
each dwelling would be 
served by its own access 
providing two off street  
parking space with each 
plot. 

The homes would be 
a mixture of semi and 
detached units finished 
in stone and render with 
slate roofs. 

The designs were in 
keeping with surrounding 
housing and the character 
of the area, and would 
provide an appropriate 
gateway to the village, 
the applicants say.

The application site 
has been formed by two 
landowners owners join-
ing forces.

They are aiming to 
provide both affordable 
and open market housing 
whilst at the same time 
addressing a highways 
issue at this pinch point 
on Callington Road at the 
entry and exit of Harrow-
barrow, they said.

C a l s t o c k  P a r i s h 
Council said that whilst 
it was keen to support 
‘rural exception sites’ 
it felt unable to make a 
decision at present with 
the level of information 
that had currently been 
provided.

T h e  c o u n c i l  h a s 
requested more informa-
tion on the levels of con-
tamination on the site as 
no contamination report 
has been forthcoming:

 The viability of 100% 
affordable housing: no 
viable economic state-
ment had been provided 
by the Affordable Hous-
ing team and this was 
integral in its discussions
 Vehicular access and 

impact: no traffic impact 
s ta tement  had been 
provided and Highways 
would be another key 
consultee 
 Layout and density 

of building: six dwellings 
on that site would be 
seen as overdevelopment 
and the visual appearance 
could have a detrimental 
i m p a c t  w i t h i n  t h e 
se t t ing  and  cur ren t 
information would show 
unreasonable harm to 
neighbouring properties.
 Nature conservation: 

removal of a hedgerow 
will negatively affect 
wildlife and biodiversity
 Physical 

infrastructure: a report 
from South West Water 
was required to consider 
the proposed sewage 
system
 Heritage: The site 

is on a medieval field 
which is not referenced

More than 79% voted 
in favour of the Calstock 
Parish Neighbourhood 
D e v e l o p m e n t  P l a n 
recently, supporting the 
council’s plans to reject 
any more new housing 
estates in preference of 
infill within development 
boundaries and the pro-
vision of rural exception 
sites for affordable hous-
ing to address the lack of 
homes for local people 
currently in the parish.

The council says deci-
sion on exception sites 
would take into consider-
ation the viability of the 
development including 
the cost of developing on 
contaminated land which 
was prevalent in the 
parish due to its mining 
history. 

Decision on 
hold over rural 
site for homes

P
age 33



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - First year action plan review12

Place Priority 1:  
Promote Balanced and 
Sustainable communities 

	¥ Achieved a planning consent for a new hostel 
in West Devon for use as quality temporary 
housing for households facing homelessness 

	¥ Exceeded our affordable housing delivery 
target to include an additional 86 affordable 
homes over and above target. 

	¥ Step on scheme for South Hams approved to 
commence 1st April 2022

	¥ Achieved planning on an exception site to 
deliver a council led affordable housing 
scheme delivering 8 affordable homes to be 
managed by South Hams District Council

	¥ Launched our new SeaMoor Homes in-house 
lettings and marketing website for homes to 
rent and to buy

	¥ Oversaw completion of purpose built 
affordable rented scheme for clients with 
learning and mobility difficulties at Elmhurst 
Lodge in Dartington and worked alongside 
partner agencies to ensure accommodation 
was allocated appropriately to tenants 
requiring specialist accommodation. 

Elmhurst Lodge

P
age 34



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - First year action plan review 13

Place priority 2:  
Promote balanced and 
sustainable communities

	¥ We have spent over £960,000 from the 
better care fund in South Hams and over 
£480,000 in West Devon 

	¥ Initiated procurement process to commence 
scoping of housing scheme for adults 
with additional needs. Working alongside 
Ivybridge Town Council. 

	¥ Planning granted, subject to a S106, for  
an Extra Care scheme in Tavistock to meet 
local needs. 

	¥ Commenced scoping of existing council 
owned stock for use as housing in 
Okehampton and Tavistock

	¥ Developed a mapping system to illustrate 
clearly areas of housing need and where 
information gaps exist. To be managed  
and populated by our newly appointed 
Housing Analyst

South Hams median property sale prices – 2020*

*Published property sales between 01/10/2019 - 30/09/2020
(Data source: HM Land Registry)
Geometric mean taken for samples <25

<5 sales

England and Wales - £243,000
South West - £260,000 

National, regional and district 
median property sale prices – 2020*

South Hams - £311,010 

0

5

10

15

Co
un

t

Kingswear

0

5

10

15

20

25

Co
un

t

Newton Ferrers

0
5

10
15
20
25
30

Total sales Detached Flats

Co
un

t

Thurlestone

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70

Co
un

t Salcombe and East 
Portlemouth

National, regional and borough 
median property sale prices – 2020*

*Published property sales between 01/10/2019 - 30/09/2020
(Data source: HM Land Registry)
Geometric mean taken for samples <25

West Devon median property sale prices – 2020*

England and Wales - £243,000
South West - £260,000 
West Devon - £255,000 

<5 sales

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

Co
un

t

EX17

0

1

2

3

4

5

Total sales Detached Terraced

Co
un

t

EX6

0

1

2

3

4

Total sales Detached

Co
un

t

EX20 2 (Throwleigh)

South Hams affordability ratios – 2020 (workplace-based earnings)

National, regional and 
district affordability ratios 
– 2020 (workplace-based 
earnings)

England and Wales – 7.69
South West – 8.8
South Hams – 11.74

South Hams affordability ratios – 2020 (residence-based earnings)

National, regional and 
district affordability ratios 
– 2020 (residence-based 
earnings)

England and Wales – 7.69
South West – 8.66
South Hams – 9.96

West Devon affordability ratios – 2020 
(workplace-based earnings)

West Devon affordability ratios – 2020 
(residence-based earnings)

National, regional and 
district affordability ratios 
– 2020 (workplace-based 
earnings)

England and Wales – 7.69
South West – 8.8
West Devon – 8.72

National, regional and 
district affordability ratios 
– 2020 (residence-based 
earnings)

England and Wales – 7.69
South West – 8.66
West Devon – 9.42

P
age 35



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - First year action plan review14

Over the last 2 years it has been more difficult to meet some of the actions, particularly where face to face 
home visits, or forums were required. This is particularly of note around the Gypsy, Traveller and Van Dweller 
outreach work. The forum previously planned for 2021 has been re booked and will take place in April 2022. 
Outreach staff have conducted some outreach work with gypsy and travellers where pandemic restrictions 
allowed. Focus on this area of outreach work will increase as restrictions are lifted and whilst staff safety can  
be managed. 

 South Hams and West Devon Tenancy Strategy - August 2021 1
August 2021

South Hams & West Devon

Tenancy Strategy

People Priority 1:  
Homes that support the 
health and wellbeing of  
our residents

	¥ Prevented and relieved homelessness for  
164 households in South Hams and 97 in 
West Devon

	¥ Formed a Disabled adapted panel to optimise 
matching of adapted housing stock to those 
who need it. 40 households successfully 
matched to appropriate housing.

	¥ Completed 132 Disabled Facilities Grants 
in South hams and 95 in West Devon – 
supporting 227 people to remain in their 
own homes. 

	¥ Committed 1/3 Green Homes Grant to 
increase energy efficiency in the private 
rented sector 

	¥ Permanently employed a dedicated Rough 
Sleeper Outreach officer to assist those 
people sleeping on the streets

95

132
Disabled 
Facilities 

Grants 
completed

97

164

Prevented and relieved 
homelessness

Outreach 
officer 
employed

People Priority 2:  
Make the best use of and 
improve the quality of 
existing housing stock

	¥ Increased our downsizing incentive for 
those tenants of Registered Providers who 
are seeking smaller accommodation, this 
freeing up larger properties for families on 
our housing register. Since the revision took 
place in December 21, 6 households have 
been supported to downsize.

	¥ Developed Landlord information and 
tenancy management advice packs, to be 
rolled out online in 2022

	¥ Intervened in the retaliatory eviction of  
3 households to prevent unlawful evictions 
and ensure landlords provide homes to the 
required standards. 

	¥ Reviewed and implemented a new  
Tenancy Strategy

6
Households 
supported  
to downsize

P
age 36



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - First year action plan review 15

 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 1

South Hams & West Devon

Homelessness Strategy
2022-2027

Looking to the future –  
Year 2

The new action plan continues  
to focus on Housing for Place and  
Housing for People and the priorities 
under each area. Health and Wellbeing 
also remains a crucial focus on the 
services which this strategy seeks to 
deliver and this in turn is supported by 
a new 5 year homelessness and rough 
sleeper strategy that is due to be 
adopted in April 2022.

The Council continues to focus in year 2 on 
ensuring that we are not only delivering new 
housing of the right type for people in the right 
places, but that we also make best use of existing 
stock. More than ever we need to work hard to 
ensure tenants both private and of our Registered 
Provider partners and homeowners, live in 
homes that are well maintained, energy efficient 
and meet their health and wellbeing needs.

We will learn from the successes of our 
established Disabled Adapted Panel to support 
more people to continue to live independently 
for as long as possible in their own home or 
to empower them to move to more suitable 
accommodation.

The new 5 year Homelessness strategy will strive 
to achieve delivery of an excellent homelessness 
service to ensure that everyone has a safe roof 
over their head and provide support through 
our ‘street navigators’ to assist people with 
advice and assistance in to a private or housing 
association tenancy.

We will continue to deliver affordable housing 
through the Joint Local Plan and through 
Neighbourhood Plans with an increased 
emphasis on community engagement to ensure 
that homes meet the needs of our rural and 
coastal communities.

As part of the work to tackle the Housing Crisis, 
both Councils have enhanced the Tenants 
Incentive downsizing scheme for tenants of our 
Registered Providers. South Hams additionally 
launched the ‘Step On’ pilot scheme to assist 
tenants of Registered Providers to gain a foot 
on the shared-ownership ladder by gifting a 
deposit of up to £5000. This innovative scheme 
is designed to support people into shared 
ownership and also to create vacancies in the 
rented stock to assist with households on the 
housing register. The scheme launches on the  
1st of April, and there is appetite to explore the 
same initiative in West Devon.

The Councils are also committed to continuing 
to work closely with our communities to 
understand and promote services, understand 
fully local housing need and work to improve our 
homes and ensure our communities are listened 
to and supported.

P
age 37



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - First year action plan review16
www.southhams.gov.uk www.westdevon.gov.uk

P
age 38



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-23 1

South Hams & West Devon

Better Homes, Better Lives
Housing Strategy 2021-2026

Action Plan 2022-23

P
age 39



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-232

Action Plan 2022-23 

The Joint Housing Strategy For South Hams and West Devon;  
‘Better Homes, Better Lives’ was adopted in 2021. This 
document highlights the priority’s for both councils and our 
high level plans on how we will deliver them. The document 
was developed with a recognition of the need to be able 
to respond flexibly to changing needs across both local 
authority areas. 

Both South Hams and West Devon have experienced 
multiple local impacts, including higher house prices and 
increased rents, supply and construction and availability of 
long term let accommodation. As a result, a Housing Crisis 
was declared in the South Hams in September 2021 and in 
West Devon in February 2022. Both Councils are determined, through 
partnership working, direct action and political lobbying to tackle their 
respective Housing Crisis’ head on. 

Each Council has produced and committed to a series of actions, tailored 
specifically to the issues each area is facing. These actions are additional 
to and complemented by our Housing Strategy - Better Homes Better 
Lives and are highlighted throughout this year’s action plan. 

For full details of the actions relating to each local authority please refer 
to the accompanying Review Document.

Housing for Place
	¥ Promote balanced and  

sustainable communities 

	¥ Ensuring that homes support the  
health and wellbeing of the area 

Housing For People
	¥ Homes that support the  

Health & wellbeing of our residents 

	¥ Make the best use and improve  
quality of existing housing  

P
age 40



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-23 3

Place Priority 1: Promote Balanced and  
Sustainable communities

Task Aim Timescale Lead Person Related actions from Housing 
Strategy and Housing Crisis

As part of the review of the JLP, a higher 
affordable housing contribution will 
be considered. To include the proposal 
that the number of ‘First Homes’ is not 
included in the contribution calculation. 

To increase the percentage 
of affordable housing 
contributions based on a 
threshold that is sustainable 
and underpinned in policy.

Lobbying will be 
ongoing. Review 
of the JLP is in 
2025

JLP and housing 
enabling 

	¥ Continue to drive the JLP 
affordable homes agenda. 

	¥ Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis in South Hams & 
West Devon

Actively contribute to ‘Team Devon’s’ 
housing task force and housing 
commission to build the case for 
affordable housing as a key priority.

To achieve a Devon wide 
commitment to the 
prioritisation of affordable 
housing.

ongoing Elected 
Members 
Andy Bates 
Chris Brook 
Isabel Blake

	¥ Continue to drive the JLP 
affordable homes agenda. 

	¥ Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis in South Hams & 
West Devon

Continue to achieve a minimum of 30% 
Affordable Housing

Work with the JLP team to 
maximise the minimum 
amount of affordable housing 
delivered on allocated sites.

To align with JLP 
review

Senior 
Specialist 
- Housing 
Enabling

Through the JLP deliver 7,000 high 
quality, sustainable and affordable 
homes during the lifetime of the 
plan across South Hams and West 
Devon.

Work with Neighbourhood Planning 
Groups to ensure partnership approach is 
achieved from the start 

To ensure new and existing 
groups are supported to 
ensure their plans are 
reflective of current needs.

immediate and 
ongoing

Senior 
Specialist 
- Housing 
Enabling

Work collaboratively with 
communities in the formation of 
Neighbourhood Plans to deliver the 
right development available to meet 
local needs

P
age 41



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-234

Task Aim Timescale Lead Person Related actions from Housing 
Strategy and Housing Crisis

Produce clear guides on Affordable 
Housing which outline types of 
Affordable Housing and the delivery 
process in bringing these forward 
through planning.

To provide key information 
regarding the affordable 
housing aims, needs and 
achievements in the area. This 
will provide clear guidance to 
Town and Parish councils and 
groups on affordable housing

1 year Senior 
Specialist 
- Housing 
Enabling

Work collaboratively with 
communities in the formation of 
Neighbourhood Plans to deliver the 
right development available to meet 
local needs

Look at which Neighbourhood Planning 
sites are not bringing a plan forward; 
where it has been identified that a 
housing need exists.  

	¥ To offer support and 
advice in bringing 
neighbourhood plan  
sites forward. 

	¥ Increased delivery of rural 
affordable housing.

start 
immediately

Senior 
specialist 
- Housing 
Enabling, 
Neighbourhood 
Planning and 
Strategic 
Planning

Work collaboratively with 
communities in the formation of 
Neighbourhood Plans to deliver the 
right development available to meet 
local needs

Review existing Neighbourhood Plans 
in the following areas: North Tawton, 
Bere Ferrers, Milton Abbot, Bridestowe & 
Sourton, Tavistock newly emerging plan. 
Consideration to be given to reviewing 
Staverton and Dartmouth, Kingswear, 
Bickleigh, Brixton.

To ensure Neighbourhood 
Plans are reflective of current 
need and up to date

2 years Specialists with 
support from 
Neighbourhood 
planning team

Work collaboratively with 
communities in the formation of 
Neighbourhood Plans to deliver the 
right development available to meet 
local needs

P
age 42



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-23 5

Task Aim Timescale Lead Person Related actions from Housing 
Strategy and Housing Crisis

Develop a method of illustrating where 
Neighbourhood Plans have been adopted 
and where they are being developed.

To ensure clarity to both 
internal and external 
customers on current status of 
Neighbourhood Planning.

Already ongoing 
to be completed 
by next review

Specialists 
- Housing 
Enabling, 
Neighbourhood 
Planning and 
Strategic 
Planning

Use strategic planning policy to 
ensure sustainable housing growth.

Investigate the feasibility of appointing a 
Dedicated Planning Officer to assist with 
affordable housing projects

To streamline the internal 
planning and enabling process 
to ensure timely decisions on 
planning decisions.

August 2022 to 
commence trial 
period

Head of 
Housing / Head 
of Development 
Management

Use strategic planning policy to 
ensure sustainable housing growth.

Conduct a thorough review of our 
custom and self build register and 
policy to ensure we are meeting the 
statutory requirements. Develop a plot 
passport for self build plots and consider 
introducing a tariff for registration.

To encourage and support 
self build opportunities and 
housing delivery. 

2 years Senior 
Specialists

	¥ Encourage opportunities for 
people interested in custom 
build / self build development, 
both within community housing 
schemes and wider housing 
delivery. 

	¥ Support opportunities for self-
build.

Continue to work on the establishment 
of a Community Benefit Society with 
Registered Provider status

To enable the development 
and delivery of affordable 
housing by SHDC.

Ongoing Senior 
Specialist 
Housing

	¥ Build genuinely affordable 
high quality housing for our 
communities through a cost 
efficient standardised model. 

	¥ Explore the concepts of the 
Council as a developer and 
landlord of new housing. 

P
age 43



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-236

Task Aim Timescale Lead Person Related actions from Housing 
Strategy and Housing Crisis

Conduct an options appraisal of the area 
to look to identify a Gypsy and Traveller 
site that best meets needs of the 
community

A clear understanding of 
the Gypsy and Traveller 
and Caravan Dwellers 
communities.

2 years Senior 
Specialist 
Housing

Promote effective partnership 
working to meet the needs of Gypsy 
and Travellers.

Identify a site for Gypsy & Traveller use To find a suitable site to sit 
with the JLP review.

within 5 years Senior 
Specialist 
- Housing 
Enabling 

Promote effective partnership 
working to meet the needs of Gypsy 
and Travellers.

To develop protocols and policies 
surrounding the travelling community 
include mapping system for navigator 
involvement

To provide a clear illustration 
of the services and our 
commitment to this area of 
work.

1 year Senior 
Specialist 
Housing

Promote effective partnership 
working to meet the needs of Gypsy 
and Travellers.

Use Section 106 affordable housing 
contributions as soon as possible, to help 
fund developments anywhere in the 
area where the terms of the Section 106 
agreements will allow.

Proactive use of funding, 
working within legal 
parameters to support new 
development that meets 
housing need.

Ongoing. Housing 
Enabling and 
Assets

Utilise Section 106 Affordable 
Housing Contributions and other 
funding available to the Council’s in 
the most effective way Highlighted 
as a priority for the Housing Crisis in 
South Hams & West Devon

P
age 44



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-23 7

Task Aim Timescale Lead Person Related actions from Housing 
Strategy and Housing Crisis

 Seek opportunities to invest in Council 
owned social housing with highly 
sustainable specification; to include 
Modular housing options

	¥ Maximise delivery of 
affordable housing. 

	¥ Support those on low 
incomes who are unable 
to afford ‘affordable’ 
rented housing

ongoing Isabel Blake 	¥ Work creatively with Devon 
County Council to provide 
quality specialist adapted 
housing and housing for people 
requiring support to live 
independently, to be managed 
by SeaMoor Lettings.

	¥ Explore the concepts of the 
Council as a developer and 
landlord of new housing. 

	¥ Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis in South Hams & 
West Devon

Undertake a full review of all council 
owned assets and assess suitability for 
affordable housing. To include provision 
of ‘Supported Accommodation’ options.

To take an interventionist 
approach to the housing 
market over the longer- term, 
where there is demonstrable 
housing need, leading to 
improved long term housing 
outcomes. 

Autumn 2022 Laura Wotton 
Isabel Blake

	¥ Work creatively with Devon 
County Council to provide 
quality specialist adapted 
housing and housing for people 
requiring support to live 
independently, to be managed 
by SeaMoor Lettings.

	¥ Explore the concepts of the 
Council as a developer and 
landlord of new housing. 

	¥ Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis in South Hams & 
West Devon

P
age 45



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-238

Task Aim Timescale Lead Person Related actions from Housing 
Strategy and Housing Crisis

Continue to work on the Springhill 
development.

Demonstrate our 
commitment to the wellbeing 
of homeless people in the 
Borough by providing quality 
temporary accommodation 
(such as is proposed at 
Springhill Tavistock) 
and reduce the need for 
inappropriate forms of 
temporary accommodation. 

	¥ Planning 
granted 
December 
2021

	¥ Scheme to be 
tendered for 
development 
Spring 2022

Dan Field 
Sophie 
Cobbledick

	¥ Redevelop existing homeless 
provision in West Devon 
to  ensure good quality  
accommodation for people 
when they need it the most 

	¥ Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis in West Devon

Define the land we have suitable for 
development within areas where a 
housing need can be demonstrated. 
Subject to Member approval. Initiate 
procurement process to identify a 
development partner capable of 
delivering housing in partnership with 
us. 

Create a long term strategic 
partnership with a high 
quality Registered Provider/s 
to see the delivery of 
affordable-led housing at 
scale and over the long term in 
the Borough and District. 

Spring 2023 Director 
for Place & 
Enterprise 
& Head of 
Housing (RP’s)

	¥ Work creatively with RPs and 
Homes England and other joint 
venture partners to draw down 
investment to deliver more 
affordable housing including 
more social rented homes. 

	¥ Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis

Investigate the feasibility of incentivising 
landowners for the provision of land 
specifically for Local Needs Affordable 
Housing and seek to lobby MPs and 
Central Government based on our 
findings.  

Incentivising land owners 
when providing land for 
affordable housing where 
there is an identified need, 
in order to help release land 
at a reduced cost to support 
the small scale provision of 
affordable housing in our rural 
communities. 

Autumn 22 Housing 
Enabling 
Specialist

	¥ Work with parish councils and 
community groups to develop  
Neighbourhood Plans to deliver 
the right type and tenure of 
housing that meet local needs. 

	¥ Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis

P
age 46



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-23 9

Task Aim Timescale Lead Person Related actions from Housing 
Strategy and Housing Crisis

Launch of Step on Scheme to promote 
shared ownership to social housing 
tenants

Work closely with registered 
providers to ensure best use 
of properties and increase the 
availability of rental units for 
those on low income. 

1st April Launch 
of Step on Pilot

Housing Team, 
Revenues and 
Benefits and 
Registered 
Providers

	¥ Encourage provision of 
a wide range of housing 
options including social 
housing, managed shared 
accommodation and managed 
intermediate  
assured short hold private 
rental, part ownership and 
market sale.

	¥ Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis in South Hams

To lobby Government to allow local 
councils to be able to charge 200% 
Council Tax on second / holiday homes.

To ensure contribution to 
local authority services to 
is sufficient to sustain local 
communities 

Lobbying activity 
commenced 
with a letter to 
Michael Gove 
Minister for 
DHLUC and is 
ongoing

Isabel Blake Encourage provision of a wide 
range of housing options including 
social housing, managed shared 
accommodation  
and managed intermediate 
assured short hold private rental, 
part ownership and market sale 
Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis in South Hams

Lobby government, through MPs and the 
Local Government Association, to allow 
a charge on housing plots with planning 
permission if they have not been built 
after a specified period.

To encourage developers to 
build their sites without delay. 

Lobbying activity 
commenced 
with a letter to 
Michael Gove 
Minister for 
DHLUC and is 
ongoing

Enabling team 
and planning 
dept

Encourage provision of a wide 
range of housing options including 
social housing, managed shared 
accommodation  
and managed intermediate 
assured short hold private rental, 
part ownership and market sale 
Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis in South Hams

P
age 47



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-2310

Task Aim Timescale Lead Person Related actions from Housing 
Strategy and Housing Crisis

Lobby Government to review all holiday 
accommodation. This could include 
an extension of the 90-day short let 
legislation, a proper planning class for 
short lets and proper licencing for them. 
Ensure robust contibutions are made to 
the consultation process proposed on the 
establisment of a Tourist Accommodation 
Registration Scheme in England.

To ensure that it is properly 
regulated, complying with 
local planning policies and 
taxes. To prevent loopholes 
in the taxation system and 
prevent too many local homes 
being converted to holiday 
accommodation 

Lobbying activity 
commenced 
with a letter to 
Michael Gove 
Minister for 
DHLUC and is 
ongoing

Isabel Blake Encourage provision of a wide 
range of housing options including 
social housing, managed shared 
accommodation and managed 
intermediate  assured short hold 
private rental, part ownership and 
market sale Highlighted as a priority 
for the Housing Crisis in South Hams 
& West Devon

P
age 48



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-23 11

Place Priority 2: Ensure that homes support the  
health and wellbeing of the area

Task Aim Timescale Lead Person Related actions from Housing 
Strategy and Housing Crisis

Complete Housing need surveys to cover key 
locations in the District and Borough to direct 
the delivery of affordable housing. Using this 
data, seek to allocate exception sites and 
work with plans where sites are stalled.

Ensure community engagement with 
any emerging plans for housing to reflect 
local need.

to 
commence 
in year 2

Specialists Plan for future health needs

To encourage affordable housing delivery 
where there is an identified need through 
Housing Need Surveys. Target key locations 
where reviews are due or groups are 
emerging to ensure that a housing needs 
survey is undertaken

To ensure information used as part of 
development of plans is based on current 
up to date needs assessments. This will 
assist planning consultation responses. 

2 years Senior 
Specialist 
- Housing 
Enabling

Plan for future health needs

Ensure that the evidence base being built 
for the JLP review includes data from wider 
partner agencies to ensure it reflects local 
need, to include accessibility, learning 
disability and age related needs. 

Ensure that all delivery and need 
monitoring is holistic and up to date

Ongoing Plan for 
future  
health needs 
Specialist

Plan for future health needs

Gather information from DCC on current need 
for Supported/Specialist Housing to inform 
provision of future specialist / adapted 
properties

	¥ Build on the strength of the Disabled 
Adapted Needs Panel to replicate the 
success for other specialist needs i.e. 
Learning Disabilities. 

	¥ Create an accurate picture of future 
need to inform future planning and 
delivery.

April 2022 
onwards

Specialist 
- Housing 
Enabling

Plan for future health needs

P
age 49



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-2312

Task Aim Timescale Lead Person Related actions from Housing 
Strategy and Housing Crisis

To work with developers to meet the needs 
of those requiring Extra Care Housing in 
West Devon. To include identifying funding 
opportunities.

To ensure housing is developed to meet 
local need and enable stock turnover. 

Ongoing Senior 
Specialist 
- Housing 
Enabling

	¥ Support an appropriately 
located planning 
application for an extra 
care housing scheme in 
West Devon 

	¥ Highlighted as a priority 
for the Housing Crisis in 
West Devon

Look to identify a site on the Councils own 
land where an exemplar site of low carbon 
modular housing could be brought forward.

	¥ To encourage the development of an 
exemplar site of low carbon modular 
housing, to show that developments 
can be both stylish and great to live 
in.

	¥ Work with RPs to understand and 
promote modern methods of 
construction 

April 2023 
to identify 
a potential 
scheme

Housing 
Enabling, 
Assets

	¥ Encourage the 
development of energy 
efficient affordable 
homes to reduce carbon 
emissions and heating 
costs 

	¥ Highlighted as a priority 
for the Housing Crisis in 
South Hams & West Devon

P
age 50



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-23 13

People Priority 1: Homes that support the  
health and wellbeing of our residents

Task Aim Timescale Lead Person Related actions from Housing 
Strategy and Housing Crisis

Conduct a review all holiday lets in 
the area to ensure that the owners 
are correctly registered and accessing 
appropriate services.

Identify areas with high 
second homes and identify 
waste, planning, licensing 
and repair issues

Summer 2022 Housing Service 
Lead

	¥ Monitor and actively promote 
high standards in the rented 
sector and take appropriate 
action where standards are not 
being met, to tackle disrepair, 
poor housing conditions and 
criminal landlords. 

	¥ Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis in South Hams

To work in close partnership with Devon 
County Council to provide suitable 
accommodation options for vulnerable 
people (exempt accommodation). Look to 
deliver directly a scheme for people with 
learning disabilities on land owned by the 
Council. 

Work in close partnership 
with Devon County Council 
to provide alternatives – 
putting people before profit. 

ongoing  Senior Specialist 
- Assets & 
Housing 

	¥ Pro-actively support 
independent living and also 
support people with disabilities 
to remain in their homes 
through disabled facility grants 
and make effective use of the 
better care fund. 

	¥ Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis in West Devon

P
age 51



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-2314

Task Aim Timescale Lead Person Related actions from Housing 
Strategy and Housing Crisis

Continue to challenge local providers, 
insisting on robust evidence of service 
provision prior to a Housing Benefit claim 
being paid. Lobby national government 
to make legislative changes to remove 
the incentives for unscrupulous 
providers and to protect the needs of this 
vulnerable group. 

To ensure vulnerable 
individuals are not subject 
to unfair charging or poor 
service delivery.

Commenced 
and ongoing

Housing Service 
Lead Senior 
Specialists 
- Housing & 
Housing Benefit

	¥ Pro-actively support 
independent living and also 
support people with disabilities 
to remain in their homes 
through disabled facility grants 
and make effective use of the 
better care fund. 

	¥ Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis in West Devon

To continue to work with landlords 
to ensure rental properties meet the 
required standards. Maintain our 
webpages and develop a webform so 
that landlords have clarity over their 
responsibilities and signposted to help.

To ensure Minimum Energy 
Efficiency standards in the 
private rented sector.

Work 
commenced 
with Tamar 
Energy for 
completion 
01/03/2023

Senior Specialist 
- EH

Monitor and actively promote high 
standards in the rented sector and 
take appropriate action where 
standards are not being met, to 
tackle disrepair, poor housing 
conditions and criminal landlords.

Conduct targeted activity to ensure 
maximum uptake of Green Homes Grant 
funding. 

Complete the phase 1 of 
Green Home Grant project for 
low income households

Jul-22 Senior Specialist 
- EH

	¥ Ensure the Private rented sector 
meets the requirements of The 
Domestic Minimum Energy 
Efficiency Standard (MEES) 
Regulations.

	¥ Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis in West Devon

P
age 52



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-23 15

Task Aim Timescale Lead Person Related actions from Housing 
Strategy and Housing Crisis

Promote available funding opportunities 
and bid for further funding, for 
improvements to existing private sector 
houses to improve stock condition and 
positively impact on Climate Change. 

To contribute to our 
commitment to address the 
declared Climate Emergency 
and in recognition that 
housing is responsible 
for 40% of national CO2 
emissions.

Ongoing Senior specialist 
- EH

	¥ Ensure the Private rented sector 
meets the requirements of The 
Domestic Minimum Energy 
Efficiency Standard (MEES) 
Regulations.

	¥ Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis in West Devon

Deliver 2022-27 Homeless Strategy Inc. 
(Action plan for 2022-23)

Strategy and action plan to be 
adopted by members in April 
22

Apr-22 Senior Specialist 
- Housing 

Meet the priorities of our standalone 
Homeless Strategy and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy.

Continue to promote the use of Disabled 
Facilities Grants to promote independent 
living and continue to utilise the Better 
Care fund. Review existing agreements 
and contracts to ensure best value.

	¥ Maximise spend and 
continue to develop 
further the help 
available.  

	¥ Build on the initial 
marketing to broaden the 
message of what help is 
available.  

Mar-23 Senior Specialist 
- EH

Pro-actively support independent 
living and also support people with 
disabilities to remain in their homes 
through disabled facilities grants 
and make effective use of the Better 
Care Fund.

To expand the activity of the Disabled 
Adapted Panel to forecast future need 
before it becomes acute.

To continue partnership 
working and reduce the wait 
times in particular for those 
in need of adapted homes.

May-22 Specialists - 
Housing Enabling

Pro-actively support independent 
living and also support people with 
disabilities to remain in their homes 
through disabled facility grants and 
make effective use of the Better 
Care Fund.

P
age 53



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-2316

Task Aim Timescale Lead Person Related actions from Housing 
Strategy and Housing Crisis

Further consideration given to creation of 
a Key Worker Housing register: Develop 
a universal housing register intended to 
meet the needs of local people on Low to 
mid range incomes. 

	¥ To enable the allocation 
of intermediate priced 
housing for those unable 
to afford full market 
rents. 

	¥ To meet the needs of 
those who are key to 
the sustainability of 
our communities and 
economy.

Autumn 22 Specialist - 
Housing

Develop and promote an 
intermediate housing register 
specifically for key workers with 
supply from the private rented 
sector through SeaMoor and 
property developed by the Councils

Scope and offer a HMO property 
management package to encourage 
landlords to provide this form of housing 

Increase the number of 
shared accommodation 
options 

Dec-22 Senior Specialist 
- Housing

Support and encourage new, 
high quality and well managed, 
Houses in Multiple Occupation in 
the local area, including offering 
a management service ourselves, 
whilst licensing all HMOs that are 
subject to mandatory licensing.

Develop support pages for landlords 
on our website to increase landlord 
engagement.

Increase provision of 
affordable private rented 
housing.

Landlords 
forum and 
communication 
will be 
organised by 
Spring 2022

Housing Team, 
Communications 
Team

Deliver Private Rented Sector 
Landlords’ & Letting Agents’ Forums 
and other networking opportunities 
for private landlords; promoting 
the events widely and using them to 
consult the Private Rented Sector on 
the issues that are affecting them.

P
age 54



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-23 17

People Priority 2: Make the best use and  
improve the quality of existing housing

Task Aim Timescale Lead Person Related actions from Housing 
Strategy and Housing Crisis

Ensure that the evidence base being 
built for the JLP review includes 
data from wider partner agencies to 
ensure it reflects local need, to include 
accessibility, learning disability and age 
related needs. 

Ensure that all delivery and 
need monitoring is holistic 
and up to date

Ongoing Specialists Interrogate new Census data to 
predict future housing trends and 
needs.

Using current Census data and other 
sources, develop a better understanding 
of; Property sizes across all tenure, 
current cost of private rented property 
and data on the high value areas 
to contribute to future JLP/policy 
amendments

Contributing to reviews and 
collating evidence. Mapping 
of evidence/information to 
be produced on interactive 
map to contribute to 
understanding the Housing 
Crisis.

Commenced and 
ongoing

Specialists Interrogate new Census data to 
predict future housing trends and 
needs.

To hold an annual gypsy, traveller forum 
aimed at consulting on the needs of the 
travelling community.

To ensure that we are listening 
to that community.

Annually Senior 
Specialist - 
Housing

Regularly communicate with 
residents, agencies, partners and 
our communities to ensure an up 
to date, two way, understanding of 
current needs and services.

To develop guidance and publish on our 
website, the local authority approach to 
Gypsy, Traveller and Van dweller issues to 
ensure clarity on the process and actions 
which will be taken.

To ensure communities 
understand what, if any, 
action has been taken on 
unauthorised encampments.

Autumn 22 Senior 
Specialist - 
Housing

Regularly communicate with 
residents, agencies, partners and 
our communities to ensure an up 
to date, two way, understanding of 
current needs and services.

P
age 55



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-2318

Task Aim Timescale Lead Person Related actions from Housing 
Strategy and Housing Crisis

Investigate the feasibility of creating a 
community housing bus for engagement 
with local people around housing issues

To promote community 
engagement around SeaMoor 
Homes, new developments 
and general housing advice.

1 year Senior 
specialist 
- Housing 
Enabling

Encourage long-term empty homes 
back into use.

To encourage Empty Homes back in to use 
and to investigate Compulsory Purchase 
Order powers or management orders 
where applicable

To ensure genuinely ‘Empty 
Homes’ are brought back into 
available housing stock.

Mar-23 Senior 
Specialists - EH

	¥ Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis in South Hams & 
West Devon

To review and update the policy for the 
Tenants Incentive Scheme

To provide a clear 
understanding of the policy 
and procedures for applying 
for and processing an 
application for a TIS payment

May-22 Specialists 
- Housing 
Enabling / 
Housing

	¥ Promote the Tenants Incentive 
Scheme to encourage and 
incentivise tenants in social 
housing to downsize.

	¥ Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis in South Hams & 
West Devon

Promote Tenants Incentive Scheme 
widely to ensure maximum take up. 
Additional housing revenue funding has 
been allocated to increase payments 
made to those tenants downsizing to 
make the move more attractable and 
affordable.

Encourage family sized 
accommodation to be 
returned to available housing 
stock to meet the needs of 
local families.

Ongoing Specialists Work with our partners to seek 
re-development opportunities to 
enhance the current housing stock 
and to meet the needs of residents. 
Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis in South Hams & West 
Devon

P
age 56



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-23 19

Task Aim Timescale Lead Person Related actions from Housing 
Strategy and Housing Crisis

Work alongside the VOA to request a 
review of the Broad Market Area; to 
better reflect the costs of rents in the 
South Hams and West Devon. Collection 
of further data to show the disparity 
between private rents and the local 
housing allowance to support continued 
lobbying for increased frequency of LHA 
review

Better align local rents 
with Housing Allowance 
allocations.

Lobbying activity 
commenced 
with a letter to 
Michael Gove 
Minister for 
DHLUC and is 
ongoing

Housing Service 
Lead & Senior 
Specialist 
Housing Benefit

	¥ Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis

To continue to update and expand the 
newly launched SeaMoor Homes website 

To provide a wide choice of 
housing options available for 
people to buy or rent at less 
than market values and to 
seek wider opportunities for 
people to access the home 
ownership ladder.

1 year Senior 
Specialists 
- Housing 
and Housing 
Enabling

	¥ Seek to expand our own in-
house private lettings service 
SeaMoor Lettings. 

	¥ Highlighted as a priority for the 
Housing Crisis

P
age 57



	 South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy - Action Plan 2022-2320
www.southhams.gov.uk www.westdevon.gov.uk

P
age 58



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 1

South Hams & West Devon

Homelessness Strategy
2022-2027

P
age 59



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-272

Contents
Foreword	 3

Introduction 	 4

The Strategic Context	 6

Regional Picture	 7

The Local Picture	 9

Our Vision and Objectives 	 10

Key priority groups 	 11

	¥ Group 1: Singles and Couples	 12

	¥ Group 2: Families 	 13

	¥ Group 3: Additional Needs 	 14

	¥ Group 4: Rough sleepers	 15

How the Homelessness Strategy was developed	 16

How the Homeless strategy and Delivery Plan  
will be monitored	 17

The Review of the 2017-22 Joint Homelessness Strategy  
Objectives and Outcomes	 18

P
age 60



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 3

We are pleased to introduce the  
new 5 year Homeless Strategy for  
South Hams & West Devon. 

The importance of having a home can never 
be underestimated, with the restrictions and 
lockdowns implemented in response to the 
pandemic we collectively can appreciate this 
more than ever.

Foreword

We have all faced significant challenges over 
recent years, including changes in homelessness 
legislation, Brexit, and the impact of Covid 19. 
Working flexibly during the pandemic allowed 
us to continue to deliver homelessness services 
throughout lockdown and enabled us to forge 
new partnerships with community support 
groups; as well as strengthening existing 
partnership working relationships. 

The importance of maintaining and building 
upon the partnership working we have worked 
hard to establish is recognised as being a 
significant factor in delivering services. In 
the life of our last strategy, we successfully 
prevented and relieved the homelessness 
of 1170 households in South Hams and over 
700 households in West Devon. We remain 
committed to continuing to work alongside our 
partners to improve the lives of our residents. 

As we emerge from the pandemic, it has 
become clear that the impact on housing need 
in the area has been significant. In recognition 
of this a housing crisis has been declared by 
both West Devon Borough and South Hams 
District Council. A number of actions formed 

Cllr Judy Pearce

South Hams  
District Council

Lead Member  
for Homes

Cllr Barry Ratcliffe

West Devon 
Borough Council

Lead Member  
for Homes

the body of this declaration, each action 
reflecting our commitment to mitigating 
the effect of increasing housing prices and 
decreasing availability. 

The aims and objectives that shape this 
homelessness strategy have been designed to 
build on the progress we have made over the 
past five years. The strategy reflects the need to 
proactively address the challenges highlighted 
by the Housing Crisis action plan and to address 
the significant challenges impacting our 
communities currently. 

We believe that this strategy compliments our 
corporate strategies, which both put housing as 
a priority and our Joint Housing Strategy “Better 
Homes Better Lives”. All clearly outline our 
ambition with this plan documenting our plans 
for the next five years with regards homelessness 
and rough sleeping, and how we intend to work 
together to improve the lives and homes of the 
residents of South Hams and West Devon.

P
age 61



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-274

Introduction 

For many people the term ‘homelessness’ evokes images 
of the ‘rough sleeper’,  however, homelessness and the 
services provided by the Local Authority are far more 
complex and widespread than this. This can include 
people living in insecure, unsuitable or unaffordable 
housing as well as those required to leave their existing 
housing, often through no fault of their own. 

The Homelessness Act 2002 places a duty on local authorities 
to review homelessness, and the influencing factors that cause 
homelessness in their area, and to develop a strategy which  
addresses the findings of the review.

Improving 
homes

P
age 62



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 5

The Homelessness Strategy is 
required to:

	¥ Address the levels of homelessness now, and 
the factors likely to impact on future levels 
of homelessness, through accurate profiling 
of the area

	¥ Ensure that there is sufficient 
accommodation available for people who 
are, or may become, homeless

	¥ Provide services that help to prevent people 
from becoming homeless.

	¥ This will include a review of their 
effectiveness and the identification of new 
opportunities to support prevention of 
homelessness

	¥ Ensure that through effective partnership, 
working support services can be accessed for 
those people who are, or who may become, 
homeless – or who need support to prevent 
them from becoming homeless again

	¥ Promote a cultural change so that 
homelessness is viewed in a wider context 
than just lack of accommodation

This strategy aims to build on the achievements 
from out 2017-22 Joint Homelessness Strategy 
as well as to address the changing landscape of 
homelessness and housing need across our area. 
It has been developed at a time of considerable 
uncertainty, with the impacts of the Covid-19 

pandemic on our communities still not fully 
understood the strategy has been designed 
to respond flexibly to the changing housing 
landscape.

The powerful community response to the 
pandemic brought with it stronger professional 
relationships and increased focus on the 
importance of partnership working. Whilst the 
responsibility for the Homelessness Strategy 
rests with South Hams District and West Devon 
Borough Council, it also aims to bring together 
all partner agencies to ensure a holistic approach 
toward addressing homelessness. 

The areas of South Hams and West Devon 
are among some of the most beautiful in the 
country. Featuring areas of outstanding natural 
beauty and large swathes of Dartmoor, both 
areas are highly sought after for those wishing 
to live in and enjoy the beautiful surroundings. 
Much of our industry is centred on tourism 
and we have high proportions of holiday and 
second home accommodations in many of our 
towns and villages. Whilst this has always been 
the case, the Covid 19 pandemic has brought 
with it increased interest in the area for stay-
cation holidays, second home ownership and 
permanent relocation from cities; with the new 
opportunities presented by home working. The 
result has been a sharp increase in house prices 
and in properties being used as holiday rentals 
rather than as long term rented housing. 

ONS data revealed that in the 12 months leading 
up to December 2021 the south west experienced 
the highest rental increases along with West 
Midlands of 3.1%. In the three months to 
August 2021, RICS reported that tenant demand 
was accelerating while landlord instructions 
remained in decline.

The fall in supply of lettings was most 
widespread in the Midlands, the East of England 
and the South West (ONS).

The increase in rental prices and property 
prices has priced many low income families out 
of both the homeownership and the private 
rented market. The South Hams and West Devon 
Housing strategy 2021 -2026 identifies in details 
the ways in which South Hams and West Devon 
will work towards increasing property across all 
markets. 

The pandemic also had significant financial 
impacts including decreased income under the 
furlough scheme and changes to benefits that 
has impacted on people’s ability to manage their 
finances.

This has sharply emphasised the challenges for 
many people across our area and may lead to 
further increases in homelessness in our area.

P
age 63



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-276

The South Hams and West Devon 
Homelessness Strategy has been 
developed in response to a number 
of legal duties and powers and with 
regard to a both national and local 
policy. It has also been important to 
recognise the impact of Covid and the 
UK’s exit from the European Union; 
which has been significant in the area 
and will continue to impact on people’s 
lives over the coming five years. 

Legal Framework

	¥ Housing Act 1996 (as amended) - Part 7 of 
the 1996 Housing Act is still the overarching 
piece of legislation used by councils in 
determining the way in which they respond to 
homelessness. The Act has been amended by:

	¥ The Homelessness Act 2002, which 
has included notable changes in 
the way Councils use temporary 
accommodation, with greater emphasis 
on the role of prevention. 

	¥ The Homelessness Reduction Act 
2018 which imposed new legal duties 
on councils so that everyone who is 
homeless or at risk of homelessness will 
have access to support, irrespective of 
their priority need status, as long as they 
are eligible for assistance.

	¥ The Care Act 2014 - The Care Act set a 
strong expectation that agencies would work 
together to protect children, young adults 
and people with care and support needs.

	¥ Rough Sleeper Strategy 2018 -  
This new requirement made it a statutory 
duty to review and publish a plan designed 
specifically to meet the needs of Rough 
Sleepers.

	¥ Domestic Abuse Act 2021 – designed to 
address the needs of victims of domestic 
abuse, the act imposes a duty on upper tier 
local authorities to provide support in safe 
accommodation. 

	¥ Warm Homes and Energy Conservation 
Act 2000 (as amended) – secondary 
legislation; Fuel Poverty) England) 
Regulations 2014 set out a fuel poverty 
target – to ensure as many fuel poor homes 
as is reasonably practicable achieve a 
minimum energy rating of Band C by 2030. 

The Strategic Context

P
age 64



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 7

South Hams and West Devon 

	¥ South Hams District Council Corporate 
Strategy – Better Lives For All 2021-2041

	¥ West Devon Borough Council Corporate 
Strategy – A Plan for West Devon 2021-2041

	¥ Joint Local Plan 2014-2034

	¥ Better Homes, Better Lives - South Hams 
and West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

	¥ South Hams and West Devon Tenancy 
Strategy 2021

The two corporate strategies, Better Lives for All 
and A Plan for West Devon address the distinct 
needs of both authorities and frame the council’s 
vision for both areas and for the Council as an 
organisation. Both strategies include Homes as a 
key priority, with the delivery of these priorities 
being further developed within the South Hams 
and West Devon Housing Strategy “Better 
Homes Better Lives”. 

The key themes for “Better Homes Better Lives” 
are: 

Regional Picture

1

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026Theme 1 - Housing for Place  Theme 2 - Housing for People  

South Hams & West Devon

Better Homes, Better Lives
Housing Strategy 2021-2026

www.southhams.gov.uk
www.westdevon.gov.uk

 A Plan for West Devon - September 2021 1

A Plan for  
West Devon

September 2021
 A vision for South Hams - September 2021 1

Better lives for all
A vision for South Hams

September 2021
 South Hams and West Devon Tenancy Strategy - August 2021 1

August 2021

South Hams & West Devon

Tenancy Strategy

PLYMOUTH &
SOUTH WEST
DEVON JOINT
LOCAL PLAN

2014-2034

ADOPTED
MARCH 2019

produced by West Devon Borough Council, South
Hams District Council and Plymouth City Council

ECONOMY

ARTS, CULTURE
& HERITAGE

GETTING
AROUND

EDUCATION
& LEARNING

LOCAL
COMMUNITY

LIVING &
HOUSING

HEALTH &
WELLBEING

GREENSPACE &
ENVIRONMENT

Housing for Place
Driving the delivery of new  
homes that people can afford and 
meeting the different needs of  
our communities

Housing For People
Ensure the best use and improved  
quality of existing housing. 

P
age 65



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-278

Devon County 

	¥ Happy and Healthy Communities,  
Devon’s Joint Health and Wellbeing  
Strategy 2020-25

	¥ Promoting Independence in Devon,  
5 Year Plan for Adult Social Care 2018-23

	¥ Children’s Services Improvement Plan 2020

	¥ Healthy Lives, Vibrant Communities, 
Housing Choices, a Joint Strategic Approach 
to Supporting People to Live Independently 
in Devon 2020-25

	¥ Domestic Abuse Support in Safe 
Accommodation in Devon (in consultation)

The importance of collaborative working 
practices has been a priority for many years, 
with the Covid-19 pandemic highlighting this 
further. Inequalities across the county have 
been accentuated further by the pandemic, 
with households in rural locations struggling to 
access services. The commitment to partnership 
working is central to the success of this Strategy 
and issues around housing and wellbeing remain 
central to both Devon County and 2nd tier local 
authority policy design and delivery. 

Devon & Cornwall Housing 
Options Partnership 

All Devon and Cornwall Authorities are 
committed to working together to improve the 
consistency and quality of housing options and 
advice services across the two counties. Held up 
nationally as an example of good partnership 
working, the partnership has enabled shared 
policy and practice development, while also 
yielding opportunities for Government funding 
in the form of grants for rough sleeping, debt 
advice, youth homelessness and working with 
the private sector.

Devon Homelessness 
Prevention Panel 

All eight local authorities work alongside Devon 
County Children’s Services to address the needs 
of young people entering and leaving the care 
system. Through our collaborative work we have 
developed a number of Joint Working Protocols 
to ensure best outcomes for young people facing 
homelessness. 

P
age 66



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 9

As of October 2021 there were 45,606 properties 
in South Hams and 26,297 in West Devon. Of the 
number in South Hams 3,455 were recorded as 
second homes and 46 empty for over 2 years. 
A further 73 are uninhabitable. In West Devon 
there are 538 second homes and 33 properties 
that have been empty for over 2 years.  
A further 27 are recorded as uninhabitable.  
(Source: CTB1 October 2021)

In the three years to 2020 the population of 
South Hams increased by 2606 due to internal 
migrations with West Devon’s population 
increasing by 810. Demographic projections 
suggest a 5% increase in population for the 
South Hams and 4% increase in West Devon. 

However, these figures have not been updated  
since the pandemic. (Source: Devon County Council)

In the years 2016- 20201, the number of affordable 
homes delivered in South Hams was 615, and in 
West Devon this was 149.

Average house price in South Hams is £440,139; a 
25% increase since 2016 (Sept 2016 - £331,625) and 
the average house price in West Devon is £306,203; 
a 22% increase (Sept 2016 - £239,160). 
(Source: Land Registry 2020)

Average salary in South Hams £30,160 in 2020,  
an increase of 9% since 2016. In West Devon  
the average salary is 22,048, an increase of  
11% since 2016. (Source: ONS 2020)

The Local Picture

Population increases

5% 4%

House prices

£440k 
average 
house  
price

£306k 
average 
house 
price

FOR 
SALE

25% 
increase 22% 

increase

Average salaries

30k 22k

9% 
increase 11% 

increase

Affordable homes delivered

615

149

46 73

33 27

1st

538

2nd

1st

3,455

2nd

SH

WD

45,606
properties

26,297
properties

UninhabitableSecond homes Empty

P
age 67



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-2710

Our objectives are to: 

Sustain: Where complex needs are 
identified to work closely with partnership 
organisations to ensure that people  
are supported to sustain their homes  
long term. 

	¥ Work in partnership with support 
services and achieve high referral rates 
between organisations to identify and 
address issues impacting on home 
management.

Our Vision and Objectives 

Prevent: identify those who are at risk 
of homelessness and work with them to 
prevent them from becoming homeless 

	¥ Working with partner agencies to  
enable early identification

	¥ Addressing issues of housing quality  
and suitability to ensure homes are  
fit for purpose 

	¥ Address issues of affordability 

Improving 
homes

The South Hams and West Devon 
Strategy has been designed to 
contribute toward themes in both 
councils’ 20 Year Vision for the areas. 

South hams:
Better homes enabling  
better lives for all 
Strong and Prosperous communities  
where residents live healthy lives and are  
empowered to make a positive impact 

West Devon: 
Every resident has access  
to a quality and safe home
Every resident is able to live a  
healthy and active life

Relieve: Where homelessness cannot 
be avoided, support people to find 
accommodation

	¥ Provide qualify temporary housing  
to limit the impact of homelessness  
on health.

	¥ Identify and access support to address 
the underlying issues contributing to 
homelessness.

Provide: to improve access to a range 
of accommodation and support options 
suitable for household needs. 

	¥ Expand the existing portfolio of homes 
rented through SeaMoor Lettings

	¥ Develop housing management and 
development options to increase 
availability of housing.  

P
age 68



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 11

To achieve our objectives we have recognised that housing 
and support options need to reflect the needs of the 
household to ensure positive outcomes are achieved and 
repeat homelessness is minimised. 

The review of homelessness in South Hams and West Devon has identified 
that four key groups of people for whom the experience of homelessness 
and the contributing factors are both complex and unique. 

	¥ Single households	

	¥ Families	

	¥ Households with additional needs	

	¥ Rough Sleepers

Whilst the experiences and causes of homelessness across these groups 
is known to overlap, in order to continue to build on the proven track 
record of prevention work; it is essential that we look to examine and 
understand the barriers each group experiences when facing a housing 
need, to ensure best outcomes. Working proactively with our partners we 
can ensure we are able to offer advice and services that are tailored to the 
needs of those approaching us. 

Key priority groups 

P
age 69



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-2712

Of the 1914 approaches in South Hams and the 
1159 approaches in West Devon between 2017-
21; 78% and 75% respectively have been from 
households requiring one bedroom or shared 
accommodation. 

For those requiring one bedroom accommodation 
the average case duration was 82 days. 

Within the same time period 32% of approaches 
made to South Hams have been from those 
aged 18-34years old; for whom the shared 
accommodation rate applies. In West Devon this 
figure was 38%. The main reason for approach 
within this age group was ‘Asked to leave by 
friends or family’ and Sofa Surfing’. 

43% of one bedroom households in the South 
Hams secured housing outside the district. 
In West Devon 33% of one bed households 
were housed outside the borough. Of those 
single households who were housed in shared 
accommodation only 35% were able to source 
shared accommodation within the South 
Hams, with 59% successfully securing shared 
accommodation in West Devon. 

To meet the needs of this group 
we will:

	¥ Prevent - Ensure we increase awareness 
of services available to people looking 
to move on from or maintain existing 
accommodation; to include a provision 
designed for young people at risk of 
eviction from the family home. 

	¥ Relieve - Work with partner agencies 
to deliver services which support young 
people facing homelessness.

	¥ Sustain - Ensure access to good quality 
financial and independent living advice 
and support to ensure people are 
empowered to sustain their tenancies.

	¥ Provide - Work with landlords to 
increase the supply of shared and one 
bedroom affordable accommodation 
access the area. Develop a management 
service offer to increase provision of 
HMO accommodation across both areas.

Group 1: Singles and Couples requiring one bedroom or shared accommodation

93% people 
agreed that 
SeaMoor Lettings 
should seek 
to expand the 
range of housing 
available to 
include shared 
housing options

P
age 70



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 13

Group 2: Families 

Homeless children are more likely to experience 
stress and anxiety, resulting in depression and 
behavioural issues. There is evidence that the 
impact of homelessness on a child’s health and 
development extends beyond the period of 
homelessness. (Crisis 2011)

Between 2017-21; in South Hams 427 families 
approached for assistance and 291 in West 
Devon. The primary reason for approach across 
both local authorities for families was ‘receipt 
of a Section 21 notice’ with the second most 
common reason being ‘fleeing domestic abuse’. 

On average it has taken more than 4 weeks 
longer to secure housing for families (average 
113 days) than for those requiring one bedroom 
accommodation. 

In the South Hams 76% of families successfully 
secured housing within the district of South 
Hams. In West Devon 63% families were housed 
within the borough.

To meet the needs of this group  
we will: 

	¥ Prevent - Work with registered providers 
and private landlords to enable early 
identification of families at risk of 
homelessness to enable provision of 
appropriate support.

	¥ Relieve - Ensure our internal working 
practices and relationships with 
partner agencies are robust and that we 
collaborate effectively to support those 
facing homelessness and/or in temporary 
accommodation.

	¥ Sustain - Work proactively with landlords 
in both the private and social rented sector 
to ensure early identification of tenancy 
sustainment issues including financial issues.

	¥ Provide – using the Council’s resources, 
increase the number of affordable private 
rented and council owned properties available 
to families, to include quality temporary 
housing. Maximise the number of properties 
made available as a result of successful 
downsizing in the social rented sector. 

96% of people 
agreed that 
families should 
be able to 
access quality 
temporary housing 
to minimise 
the impact 
homelessness can 
have on children’s 
health

P
age 71



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-2714

Many homeless people experience support needs 
in addition to their immediate need for housing, 
including: physical ill health, mental health 
problems, drug and alcohol issues and multiple 
and complex needs. (Crisis 2011)

Mental Health needs accounted for 54% of those 
identifying as having additional needs in West 
Devon and 50% in West Devon. 45% of households 
in South Hams identified a physical disability 
support need and 39% in West Devon. Other 
support needs identified include Drug and/or 
alcohol misuse, feeling abuse of violence and being 
a care leaver or young person made homeless. 

99 households across the two areas identified 
themselves as having 3 or more support needs.

The Disabled facilities grants have successfully 
supported 334 households in South Hams and 
182 households in West Devon to remain in their 
own home through provision of adaptations.

Since the establishment of the Disabled Adapted 
Panel has supported 50 households to secure 
appropriate adapted accommodation through 
targeted work with RP’s on their housing stock 
as it becomes available. 

As of September 2021 23 households in South 
Hams and 21 households in West Devon 
people still remain on the housing list in need 
of wheelchair adapted accommodation. A 
new project has commenced to identify and 
target those households with a need for other 
adaptations or specific accommodation types.

Over the three years to 2021 31% of households 
approaching in South Hams identified 
themselves as having additional support needs. 
In West Devon it was 29%. 

Group 3: Additional Needs 

To meet the needs of this group 
we will:

	¥ Prevent – work closely with partner 
agencies to ensure those in housing 
need are identified and referred to us 
quickly to enable early intervention 
measures can be put in place; including 
support to downsize or move to more 
suitable accommodation.

	¥ Relieve – ensure provision of quality 
temporary housing and access to 
support services to holistically address 
the needs of those facing homelessness. 

	¥ Sustain – Deliver an adaptation service 
to include grant and self funded support 
aids are made accessible for all. Ensure 
relevant services are identified and 
referred to for those requiring additional 
support to sustain their homes. 

	¥ Provide – work with Devon County 
Council to support the delivery of 
housing for those with support needs 
through a property management 
service offer with intensive housing 
support. 

98% of people asked agreed 
that partnership working was 
important to enable early 
identification of people in housing 
need

75% strongly agreed that the 
underlying issues contributing to 
homelessness should be identified 
and support provided

P
age 72



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 15

Group 4: Rough sleepers

Qualitative research has shown that many single 
homeless people face significant challenges, 
which often involve adverse childhood 
experiences such as trauma, neglect and poverty. 
(Crisis)

In South Hams 86 rough sleepers were worked 
with by South Hams, of these 60 identified as 
having rough slept previously and 9 individuals 
have had repeat cases with us. In West Devon 
there were 36 rough sleepers with 27 of these 
stating they had been homeless before and 4 
individuals have had repeat cases. 

Successful outcomes were recorded for 37 rough 
sleepers in the South Hams and for in 16 rough 
sleepers in West Devon. 

Of the 86 rough sleepers approaching South 
Hams 54% identified themselves as having 
support needs with 36% identifying mental 
health as a specific need. In West Devon 40% 
of rough sleepers identified as having support 
needs with 27% specifying a physical disability 
as a support need. 

In 2017 the government announced their 
target to halve rough sleeping by 2022 and 
ensure that no one has to sleep rough by 2024. 
This government target aligned with the local 
authorities commitment to work towards ending 
rough sleeping across both areas.

The council often has no legal duty to many 
of the people sleeping rough in the area and 
where a legal duty has existed due to either not 
meeting the vulnerability criteria required by the 
legislation or because they are deemed under 
law to be intentionally homeless. Historically 
this has limited the level of work and investment 
made in this cohort. Conversely living on the 
streets can create and exacerbate people’s 
vulnerabilities making investment in this cohort 
more essential: 

Issue Rough 
Sleepers

General 
Population

Life expectancy Age 47 Age 77

Physical Health 78% 37%

Mental Health 44% 23%

Addiction 41% Not shown

(Crisis)

Over the last 5 years we have seen a significant 
reduction in people sleeping rough in both South 
Hams and West Devon. However; in order to keep 
these numbers consistently low moving forward 
we need build on what we have achieved.

To meet the needs of this group 
we will:

	¥ Prevent - Work with partners to ensure 
early identification of Rough Sleepers or 
people at risk of rough sleeping.

	¥ Relieve - Continue our commitment 
to holistic outreach work and the No 
Second Night Out ethos.

	¥ Sustain - Provide intensive support 
both in house and with our partners 
for rough sleepers in accommodation 
to enable them to manage long term 
accommodation expectations.

	¥ Provide - Develop a range of 
accommodation and support options 
for people rough sleeping or at risk 
of rough sleeping to make long term 
accommodation sustainment realistic.

67% agreed that medium term support should be put in place for rough 
sleepers who have been housed to help them maintain accommodation

P
age 73



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-2716

This strategy has been developed 
following a thorough review of 
the achievements, outcomes and 
challenges identified throughout the 
lifespan of the 2017-22 Homelessness 
Strategy. This review also took 
into account the current economic 
climate, issues arising following the 
impact of the Covid pandemic and the 
lessons learned during the lockdown 
periods; where support provision and 
partnership working were paramount 
in protecting the vulnerable. 

We have also looked at the people who access 
our services and the challenges our customers 
are facing. In order to improve how we tackle 
homelessness in our communities we recognise 
the importance of continuing to strengthen our 
relationship with partner agencies to ensure 
early intervention to prevent homelessness; as 
well as an holistic approach to meeting the needs 
of our customers. 

The Strategy went to public consultation on 
the 9th February – 23rd March 2022. The views 
of the public and partner organisation were 
sought as part of this process and have been 
incorporated into the final document. 

We used the following methods of consultation:

	¥ Online survey

	¥ Social media polls

	¥ Elected member consultation event

	¥ Consultation with stakeholders and partner 
agencies including:

	¥ Adult services
	¥ Children’s’ services
	¥ Mental Health Services
	¥ Devon & Cornwall Police
	¥ Together (Drug & Alcohol services)
	¥ Health care providers
	¥ Local volunteer groups

How the Homelessness Strategy  
was developed

P
age 74



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 17

The life of this homeless strategy is 
intended to be five years.

How the Homeless strategy and Delivery Plan 
will be monitored

Annually we will publish our progress to 
date and a refreshed Action Plan. The 
development of each annual action plan 
shall include consultation with members 
and stakeholders to ensure that the 
strategy is kept relevant and that all 
partner agencies and local people, 
through their elected representatives, 
have the opportunity to help to develop 
and influence a holistic approach to 
tackling homelessness across the area. 

The delivery of the Action Plan will rely 
on the resources of both Councils and 
their partners, working together to 
achieve positive outcomes, for people  
in South Hams and West Devon.

 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy - Action Plan 2022-23 1

South Hams & West Devon

Homelessness Strategy
2022-2027

Action Plan 2022-23

P
age 75



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-2718

The Review of the 2017-22 Joint Homelessness Strategy 
Objectives and Outcomes

The 2017-22 Joint Homelessness 
Strategy set out the priorities  
for tackling homelessness in  
South Hams & West Devon. 

The strategy was framed around four priorities: 

	¥ Understanding the true cost of 
homelessness

	¥ Access to services

	¥ Access to housing

	¥ Health and wellbeing

A review of the progress made against these 
priorities has been conducted to support the 
development of the 2022-27 Homelessness 
Strategy. 

South Hams & West Devon

Joint Homelessness 
Strategy

2017 - 2022 Working together
South Hams
District Council

P
age 76



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 19

Priority 1: Understanding the True Cost of Homelessness 

Objectives Outcomes

Ensure we establish a solid evidence base 
which informs practice across all sectors 
and clearly illustrates the true cost of 
homelessness in South Hams and  
West Devon

	¥ Implemented a new bespoke housing system which enables cross examination of data collected from 
homeless applicants. 

	¥ Data sharing agreements established with Children’s services and improved referral routes and 
working practices established to better track trends and identify need among care leavers and 
families.

Monitor the impact of welfare reform,  
and ensure that this informs future  
strategic priorities

	¥ Use of food banks has shown a steady rise in demand – referral routes established with food banks to 
ensure support services can be identified and offered to address the root causes of food poverty.

	¥ Support service provision increased to address the changing needs of those on low incomes in the 
face of the pandemic and furlough schemes. 

Recognise the continuing pressures on the 
Councils’ budgets and how best to target 
resources in the most meaningful way

	¥ Targeted partnership working practices with social landlords to ensure tenants with rent arrears  
are identified at an early stage and supported and homelessness prevented.

	¥ Bespoke financial advice service in place to ensure customers receive tailored advice and are  
supported to access services.

	¥ Tenants incentive Scheme revised and regularly promoted to ensure best use of existing stock.

Ensure partnerships with other agencies 
demonstrate value for money

	¥ Ongoing review with DCC regarding the supported Living contract.

	¥ Joint bid with TDC to secure funds for rough sleepers and 3 joint posts to ensure best VFM.

Ensure access to good quality financial 
advice to help tackle poverty, poor quality 
housing and homelessness

	¥ Procured a new contract with Homemaker to deliver Income Maximisation, budgeting, benefits and 
debt advice.

	¥ Extended the contract to 5 days a week in response to the Covid Impact on people’s finances.

P
age 77



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-2720

Priority 2: Access to Services 

Objectives Outcomes

Offer advice and assistance in a range of 
formats, so the customer can choose how 
they communicate with their Council

	¥ Implemented bespoke online portal account system to facilitate communication and document 
sharing. 

	¥ Expanded offer of telephone assessment services to ensure customers in remote locations are not 
required to travel to access services. 

	¥ Updated and maintained web pages to ensure information is available in plain English and includes 
links to additional support resources.

	¥ Worked closely with the Devon Home Choice partnership to enable more effective access to the 
Devon Home Choice system via an app designed specifically for phone us. 

Ensure our most vulnerable customers are 
able to access advice services effectively

	¥ Developed close relationships with support services to ensure vulnerable customers are able to 
access support with making homeless applications. 

	¥ Communication software technology ensure that calls and assessments with customers can include 
support workers or family members in the same call.

Work with partners to ensure that we are 
able to offer services at the time and place 
our customers need them most

	¥ Communication software technology ensure that calls and assessments with customers can occur at 
a time and location that best suits the customer and their support network.

	¥ Training delivered to multiple partner agencies to ensure a good basic understanding of housing and 
homelessness exists across a wide range of agencies. Enabling basic advice and information to be 
sourced from a wide range of places and to ensure excellent referral routes where additional support 
and advice is needed. 

Readily and regularly consult with our 
customers and stakeholders to make  
sure we get our services right

	¥ Regularly attending community groups including Caring Town, The Hub and ROOF.

	¥ Consult yearly with stakeholders on the progress of the strategy and the future needs for local 
housing.

	¥ Introduced a G&T Forum to engage with the Traveller communities to find out their needs and we can 
do to meet these.

P
age 78



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 21

Priority 3: Access to Housing

Objectives Outcomes

Increase the supply, standard and options 
for people who face homelessness within  
our area

	¥ Increased promotion and communications program to support the recruitment of local landlords to 
the Seamoor property scheme. 

	¥ Capital grant funding secured to enable purchase of 4 one bedroom homes to improve housing 
options for single homeless rough sleeping or at risk of. 

	¥ Established Disabled Adaptation Panel which has been instrumental in securing the most appropriate 
housing options for those in need of adapted housing for 40 households.

	¥ Developed a bespoke website to advertise rented accommodation options through SeaMoor and  
part ownership housing options available locally.

	¥ Appointed a project officer to support the delivery of the Housing Strategy Better Homes, Better Lives.

	¥ Established a perpetrator housing programme to support victims of domestic abuse to remain in 
their own home and alternate housing be sought for the perpetrator. 

Develop innovative options for our  
Rough Sleeper Community

	¥ Joint bid with TDC to secure Outreach workers, personal budgets and housing first options.

	¥ Successfully implemented the TAS worker to help support rough sleepers with moving on.

	¥ Successfully bid for funding for an additional support worker for the Leap Pad project.

	¥ Successfully bid for £250K toward the purchase of 4 units of Leap Pad accommodation.

	¥ Improved communication and partnership working with Local Charities and 3rd sector organisations 
to ensure that a holistic approach is taken to meeting Rough Sleepers support and engagement 
needs.

P
age 79



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-2722

Objectives Outcomes

Continue the downward use of temporary 
accommodation for homeless households

The use of temporary accommodation has fluctuated throughout the 5 year strategy. Various elements 
have impacted on the success of this aim including: 

	¥ Funding was secured in 2019 for 2 temporary accommodation support (TAS) workers. The role was a 
success resulting in a reduction in temp costs of £28,900

	¥ Funding ended for these roles in 2020

The Covid pandemic has impacted on the availability of accommodation for applicants to move to 
resulting in longer stays in temp. This has been caused by a combination of: 

	¥ Delays in building development due to lockdown measures

	¥ Reduction in movement across the social and private housing sector due to a stay in evictions and a 
limitation on movements. 

	¥ Demand for holiday accommodation in the district has led to an increase in use of rental 
accommodation for holiday use. 

 

P
age 80



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 23

Priority 4: Health and Wellbeing

Objectives Outcomes

Work in partnership with our voluntary and 
statutory sectors to holistically address 
people’s needs as fully as possible

	¥ Appointed a dedicated Vulnerable Person’s Officer; and

	¥ Appointed 2 Rough sleeper outreach workers to work alongside our housing advice officers to 
facilitate excellent links to partner agencies to include joint working on homeless cases.

Ensure we adequately protect and  
safeguard the most vulnerable members  
of our community

	¥ Reviewed internal Safeguarding procedures and rolled out training to ensure safeguarding is 
‘Everyone’s responsibility’

	¥ Developed good working relationships with Hospital discharge coordinators, prison release officers, 
probation, domestic abuse, adult and children’s social work and mental health. 

	¥ Engaged closely with children’s services ian contributed to the development of joint working 
protocols to ensure quality joint working. 

	¥ Seconded a senior specialist on behalf of all Devon 2nd Tier local authorities to deliver targeted 
training and support to the Children’s services’ MASH team over the period of one year.

Enable early help, to avoid crisis and  
tackle homelessness at its root cause

Developed referral routes and delivered training in homelessness to ensure early identification of 
housing needs and risk of homelessness to: 

	¥ Hospital discharge coordinators 

	¥ prison release officers 

	¥ probation 

	¥ domestic abuse support services 

	¥ Adult and children’s social work 

	¥ Mental health social care 

	¥ Police 

	¥ Registered providers 

P
age 81



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-2724

Rough Sleeper Strategy Review

Objectives Outcomes

Increase our knowledge of the number of 
people sleeping rough by building on the 
annually required rough sleepers estimate 
by introducing a quarterly rough sleeper 
estimate. This will ensure that the service 
delivery can respond more quickly to need.

	¥ Established monthly rough sleeper counts/estimates

	¥ implemented a next working day response to reports of people sleeping rough wherever possible.

The very nature of homelessness means a 
large proportion of the people requiring 
housing advice and homeless services will be 
vulnerable and may need additional support 
to enable them to access services.

Introduced dedicated specialist support staff:

	¥ TAS worker 

	¥  Outreach workers

	¥ Specialist Drug and Alcohol Outreach workers

Housing options for those with a history of 
rough sleeping need to be innovative and 
reflect the needs of the individual. The Local 
Authority seeks to achieve this through the 
provision of multiple housing options which 
will be tailored to meet the needs of the 
individual.

	¥ Introduced the Leap Pad (Housing First) accommodation model

	¥ Worked with Private Landlords to encourage them to accepts tenants with a history of chaotic 
behaviour and rough sleeping

	¥ Worked with Social Landlords in line with the Where’s Cathy ethos to encourage them to accept 
tenants with a history of chaotic behaviour and rough sleeping

Tackling homelessness takes more than 
just the provision of a house, if we are to 
maximise the opportunities for our most 
vulnerable people. Often, poor health, 
addictions and unhealthy lifestyles mean 
that people are unable to secure, and 
maintain, accommodation for themselves  
or their families.

Developed a multi-agency hub in partnership with TDC comprised of outreach workers, a hub 
coordinator, drug and alcohol support services, MH services, probation and adult social care to ensure 
that all potential solutions are considered around the clients support needs and to ensure a client centred 
approach to developing those plans.

P
age 82



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 25
www.southhams.gov.uk www.westdevon.gov.uk

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy - Action Plan 2022-23 1

Action Plan 2022-23

South Hams & West Devon

Homelessness Strategy

2022-27

P
age 85



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy - Action Plan 2022-232

Action Plan 2022-23 

The Joint South Hams and West Devon Homelessness 
Strategy 2022-27 sets out our aims and objectives over 
the next 5 years.  This Homelessness Strategy Action 
Plan outlines our work plan for the year 2022-23 and 
how this work plan contributes to the priorities and 
objectives identified in the Strategy document.

Improving 
homes

P
age 86



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy - Action Plan 2022-23 3

Singles & couples 
(S&C)

	¥ Prevent - Ensure we increase awareness 
of services available to people looking 
to move on from or maintain existing 
accommodation; to include a provision 
designed for young people at risk of eviction 
from the family home. 

	¥ Relieve - Work with partner agencies to 
deliver services which support young people 
facing homelessness.

	¥ Sustain - Ensure access to good quality 
financial and independent living advice and 
support to ensure people are empowered to 
sustain their tenancies.

	¥ Provide - Work with landlords to increase 
the supply of shared and one bedroom 
affordable accommodation access the area. 
Develop a management service offer to 
increase provision of HMO accommodation 
across both areas.

Objective Action What will we do? Resource

S&CP1 Maintain strong links and 
develop streamlined referral 
routes for agencies working with 
young people to identify those at 
risk of homelessness

Regular training and 
refresher sessions to be 
delivered to agencies 
to ensure thorough 
understanding of council 
services

Specialist staff time

S&CP2 Contribute to the development of 
a Care Leaver protocol to support 
care leavers to plan for their 
housing needs 

DCHOP & Children’s 
services project work

Housing and legal 
Staff time & DCC 
staff time

S&CR Contribute to the development 
of a young persons protocol 
to ensure clear pathways and 
positive outcomes for young 
people asked to leave home

DCHOP & Children’s 
services project work

Housing and legal 
Staff time & DCC 
staff time

S&CS Expand on the existing advice 
services available through 
establishment of self help advice 
& budgeting tools on our website 

Web page development Vulnerable 
person’s officer & 
communications 
team staff time

S&CPr1 Investigate the feasibility 
of using Local Authority 
owned properties as shared 
accommodation provision

Costings of property 
conversions and rental 
income and management 
implications and costs

Housing & assets 
staff time

S&CPr2 Develop an HMO management 
service offer through Seamoor 
Lettings to encourage landlords 
to provide this type of 
accommodation. 

Produce a fully costed 
service spec for promotion 
to landlords. 

Staff time – Housing 
and environmental 
health

P
age 87



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy - Action Plan 2022-234

Families (F)
	¥ Prevent - Work with registered providers 

and private landlords to enable early 
identification of families at risk of 
homelessness to enable provision of 
appropriate support.

	¥ Relieve - Ensure our internal working 
practices and relationships with 
partner agencies are robust and that we 
collaborate effectively to support those 
facing homelessness and/or in temporary 
accommodation.

	¥ Sustain - Work proactively with landlords 
in both the private and social rented sector 
to ensure early identification of tenancy 
sustainment issues including financial 
issues.

	¥ Provide - using the Council’s resources, 
increase the number of affordable private 
rented and council owned properties 
available to families, to include quality 
temporary housing. Maximise the number 
of properties made available as a result of 
successful downsizing in the social rented 
sector. 

Objective Action What will we do? Resource

FP1 Develop streamlined referral 
route for private landlords 
to refer households at risk of 
homelessness or where tenancy 
sustainment issues exist

Create a dedicated contact 
portal for landlords 

L6 Housing officer 

FP2 Raise awareness of landlord and 
tenant rights and responsibilities 
to minimise unintentional 
breaches. 

Develop support and 
advice pack relating 
to different aspects of 
tenancy management

L6 Housing officer 

FP3 Improve information available 
on our webpages relating 
to financial hardship and 
affordability issues including 
self-help advice on our Webpages

Create and maintain a data 
base of support agencies 
and available services on 
our website

Vulnerable customer 
officer

FR1 Enable homeless families to 
access holistic local support 
options to promote the wellbeing 
of children in emergency housing

Create and maintain a data 
base of support agencies 
and available services on 
our website for officers and 
residents to access.

Vulnerable customer 
officer supported by 
housing advice team

FR2 Investigate the feasibility of 
the introduction of a dedicated 
support worker to provide 
holistic support to those in 
temporary accommodation

Conduct a value for money 
exercise and business plan 
if the post is evidenced to 
be a positive contribution 

Senior Housing 
Specialist and 
Housing Advice Team 
Leader

P
age 88



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy - Action Plan 2022-23 5

Objective Action What will we do? Resource

FS1 Identify funding options to 
enable families to access 
essential items and meet 
essential costs to prevent 
financial hardship

Vulnerable Customer 
Officer to work with 
partner agencies to 
identify and apply for 
funding. 

Vulnerable customer 
officer

FPr1 Set up the proposed Community 
Benefit Society to enable in-
house property development 
opportunities

Finalise inquiries on 
development of rules and 
progress with registration 

Housing Senior 
Specialist 

FPr2 Develop and embed the policies 
and practices required to meet 
registered provider status for 
the CBS to enable the lettings of 
properties developed in house

Work alongside 
consultants to develop and 
embed appropriate polices 
and procedures 

Housing Senior 
Specialist

P
age 89



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy - Action Plan 2022-236

Additional Needs 
(AN)

	¥ Prevent - work closely with partner 
agencies to ensure those in housing need 
are identified and referred to us quickly to 
enable early intervention measures can be 
put in place; including support to downsize 
or move to more suitable accommodation.

	¥ Relieve - ensure provision of quality 
temporary housing and access to support 
services to holistically address the needs of 
those facing homelessness.

	¥ Sustain - Deliver an adaptation service to 
include grant and self funded support aids 
are made accessible for all. Ensure relevant 
services are identified and referred to for 
those requiring additional support to sustain 
their homes. 

	¥ Provide - work with Devon County Council 
to support the delivery of housing for those 
with support needs through a property 
management service offer with intensive 
housing support. 

Objective Action What will we do? Resource

ANP1 Promote the Downsizing support 
scheme with partner agencies to 
ensure those with additional needs are 
supported to engage in the process of 
downsizing 

Ensure wider 
understanding of 
the scheme through 
promotion and 
training

Communications 
team and housing 
staff 

ANP2 Expand the work undertake by the 
Disabled Adapted Panel to identify 
those with less urgent housing needs to 
prevent customers reaching crisis point 
(Band C-D)

DAP officers to work 
on accurate reporting 
and data gathering to 
target resources

Housing Enabling 
specialist

ANR1 Continue to work with Assets to 
ensure that the Springhill Temporary 
Accommodation development is capable 
of meeting a wide range of housing 
needs

Contribute to 
decision making on 
design elements to 
ensure fit for purpose

Senior Housing 
Specialist

ANS1 Work with registered providers to ensure 
customers requiring adaptations in their 
homes are supported to access these 
through a referral to us

Cross reference data 
held on the housing 
register with that 
held by RP’s

Housing enabling 
specialist

ANPr1 Work with Adult and Mental Health 
services to scope current unmet need 
for supported housing – with a view 
to working in partnership to meet this 
need.

Work with partners 
to consider suitable 
locations for 
specialist housing 
development

Senior Housing 
Specialist and 
Senior housing 
enabling specialist

ANPr2 Through increased multi agency contact 
and attendance at outreach events, 
ensure a collaborative approach to 
finding housing solutions is embedded 
within local authority culture

Review attendance at 
meetings and events 
to ensure a housing 
presence across all 
agencies

Vulnerable 
customer officer & 
L6 Housing officer

P
age 90



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy - Action Plan 2022-23 7

Rough Sleepers 
(RS)

	¥ Prevent - Work with partners to ensure 
early identification of Rough Sleepers or 
people at risk of rough sleeping.

	¥ Relieve - Continue our commitment to 
holistic outreach work and the No Second 
Night Out ethos.

	¥ Sustain - Provide intensive support both 
in house and with our partners for rough 
sleepers in accommodation to enable them 
to manage long term accommodation 
expectations.

	¥ Provide - Develop a range of 
accommodation and support options for 
people rough sleeping or at risk of rough 
sleeping to make long term accommodation 
sustainment realistic.

Objective Action What will we do? Resource

RSP1 Identify people who are at risk 
of rough sleeping to avoid them 
spending any time on the streets

Partner agencies to 
identify people with 
insecure accommodation 
and /or support needs who 
may be at risk of rough 
sleeping.

Rough Sleeper 
Outreach worker

RSR1 Respond to reports of people 
sleeping rough within one 
working day

Provide an Outreach Team 
to respond to reports 
of rough sleeping and 
proactively seek out 
anyone sleeping rough

DLUHC bid pending 
2 officers plus 
engagement funding

RSR2 Ensure tailored support is 
available for people who are 
rough sleeping, at risk of rough 
sleeping or have a history of 
rough sleeping.

Introduce a Re-settlement 
worker.

Work with Together, Adult 
Social Care, Probation, The 
Mental Health Team and 
any other relevant agencies 
to deliver support when 
and where it’s needed.

Multi agency Hub 
and support contract 
pending bid with 
DLUHC

RSS1 Ensure support provided to rough 
sleepers extends to after they 
have accessed housing 

Gain commitment 
from partner agencies 
to continue to provide 
support. Resettlement 
support officer role 
pending DLUHC funding 

partner agency and 
housing support 
staff

RSPr1 Ensure a range of 
accommodation options are 
available for different levels of 
support need

Deliver 4 units of 
accommodation for the 
Leap Pad project in South 
Hams

Senior Housing 
Specialist

P
age 91



	 South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy - Action Plan 2022-238
www.southhams.gov.uk www.westdevon.gov.uk

P
age 92



Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 12 April 2022 

Title: Revenue and Benefits Service Review Update 

Portfolio Area: Resources - Cllr Edmonds 

Wards Affected: All  

Urgent Decision: N Approval and clearance 
obtained: 

Y  

Date next steps can be taken: 12 April 2022  

  

Author: Steve Mullineaux Role: Director of Customer Service 
Delivery  

Contact: Steve.mullineaux@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS  

That the Hub Committee:  

 
(i) Recognise the achievements of the Revenues & Benefits Team in 

maintaining core service delivery, whilst also ensuring that businesses 
and residents were supported throughout the pandemic through the 
administration of business grants, personal grants such as Track and 
Trace and administering benefits schemes. 
 

(ii) Endorse the approach taken following the Revenues & Benefits Review 
and the subsequent Implementation Plan.  

 
(iii) Note the progress of the Revenues & Benefits Implementation Plan and 

request a further update in six months’ time. 
 

(iv) Endorse the recruitment of a Head of Service for Revenues and Benefits, 
which will be funded on a self-funding basis. To further note that the 
next iteration of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
will increase both the annual staffing budget by £30,000 (wdbc’s share 
of the staffing cost) and the annual income from council tax by £30,000 
(to reflect the anticipated increase in council tax collection rates by at 
least 0.5%).  

 
(v) Endorse that in addition the stretching targets that the new Head of 

Service will be set, will mean that the Council will continue to improve 
collection rates across council tax and business rates generating 
significant further income for the Borough Council. 

Page 93

Agenda Item 9



1. Executive summary 
 

1.1. The purpose of this report is to update Members on the service review that was 
undertaken last year across the Revenues & Benefits Service, the reasons why 
this has taken place and what actions have been taken since then to implement 
the recommendations of the Review.  
 

1.2. The purpose of the Revenue & Benefits Service Review has been to: 
 ensure that the Councils’ joint Revenue & Benefits Service is working 

effectively, efficiently and in accordance with legislation and best practice; 
 maximise the Councils’ resources and to ensure financial stability whilst 

ensuring that our customers are being supported in the best possible way;    
 

1.3. The Review and subsequent Revenues & Benefits Implementation Plan strives 
to improve customer service, whilst maximising financial recovery and ensuring 
our customers are being supported in the best possible way. 

 

1.4. A key recommendation of the Revenues & Benefits Implementation Plan is to 
recruit a Level 3 Head of Service for Revenues and Benefits. This post would 
be self-funded from having a performance target to increase the council tax 
collection rates by at least 0.5% in each Council, improving recovery rates, 
reducing aged debt and delivering service improvements across the Council 
Tax, Business Rates and Housing Benefit services,  

 
2. Background 

 
2.1. Existing workloads throughout the pandemic did not reduce and the team 

have administered 12 different business grant schemes and 2 schemes for 
individuals, processing the following volumes of work. 
 
 27,200 individual business grant awards 
 2,200 test and trace claims 
 Over 750 household support claims 
 The team will also be responsible for processing the Government’s 

recently announced Council Tax Energy Rebate (£150) which will 
involve automated, manual claims and the setting up and administering 
of a discretionary scheme. This will involve working on over 50,000 
council tax accounts across both Authorities. 

 
2.2. The Council’s Corporate Strategy, ‘A Plan for West Devon’ sets out a range 

of themes and associated aims supported by Thematic Delivery Plans.   The 
Revenue & Benefits Review is a specific action in the Delivery Plans and 
further supports the strategic aims of maximising, and making the best use 
of, the Council’s resources to enable the delivery of the strategic aims and, at 
the same time, enhancing the customer experience, access and 
engagement.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 94



2.3. Within this strategic context, the Review has set a programme of improved 
performance, strategic oversight and management of all aspects that 
contribute to the Revenues & Benefits Service which have been collated in 
the Improvement Plan (the Plan) enabling: 

 Redefining Service ambitions and ensuring financial sustainability 
through effective collection and recovery  

 Delivering our services fairly and effectively to those who need them, 
when they need them  

 Ensuring that customers can access any benefits / discounts / reliefs 
to which they are entitled 

 
2.4. Until October 2021, the Revenues & Benefits Service formed part of the 

wider Housing, Revenues & Benefits service area with overall responsibility 
for all three services sitting under one Head of Service. Following the 
prioritisation of Homes in the Corporate Strategy and the declaration of the 
Housing Emergency, the existing Head of Service is now solely leading the 
Housing Service. Revenues and Benefits do not currently have a Head of 
Service. One of the outcomes from the Revenues and Benefits Service 
Review is that it is recognised that it is essential to recruit a Head of Service 
for Revenues and Benefits as set out in 3.3 below.  

 
2.5. The Revenues & Benefits Service is responsible for delivering the following: 

 Billing and collection of council tax and business rates 
 Improving collection rates and reducing debt levels  
 Administration of housing benefits  
 Administration of the council tax support scheme and other 

discretionary welfare schemes 
 Prevention and detection of fraud within these Services  
 Recovery across Revenues & Benefits 
 Government returns for council tax, business rates and housing 

benefit subsidy (including an annual external audit review on the 
annual housing benefit subsidy claim). 

 
2.6. The current staffing across both service areas comprises the following: 

2.6.1. The Benefits team currently have 11.9 full time equivalents (FTE’s)  
2.6.2. The Revenues team currently have 15.2 FTE. 
2.6.3. We also have a further 6 FTE shared across the services supporting 

the additional workload and helping to deliver a number of the actions 
within the review. 

2.6.4. Together this represents 10% of the total office based workforce. 
 

2.7. The Revenues and Benefits service has responsibility for the following key 
services: 

 The administration and collection of Council Tax (£46m for West Devon 
and £84m for South Hams, being £130m in total across both Councils. 
This is the total council tax billed including the precepts for DCC, Fire, 
Police and Towns and Parishes) 

 The administration and collection of Business Rates (£10m for West 
Devon and £29m for South Hams, being £39m in total across both 
Councils) 

 The administration of Housing Benefits (£9m for West Devon and £13m 
for South Hams, being £22m in total across both Councils) 

Page 95



 The administration of the Council Tax support scheme (£3.8m for West 
Devon and £5.8m for South Hams, being £9.6m in total across both 
Councils). 

 
3. Service Review 

3.1. Prior to the Review, the Councils’ internal auditors identified areas across 
council tax, business rates and housing benefits in which there was scope for 
improvement and set out a series of recommendations in their 2020/2021 
reports. 
 

3.2. The recent Covid-19 work on business support grants highlighted the 
reliance on key individuals within the organisation with regards to Business 
Rates. The business grants team have administered business grants totalling 
£33m in West Devon and £85m in South Hams over the last two years. The 
information gathered from the work on the business grants has vastly 
increased the corporate knowledge and potential for further collection of 
business rates but there are issues with capacity.  Whilst the two (L4) senior 
specialists have an in depth knowledge of their respective service areas, 
there is a significant gap and little resilience within the wider team regarding 
professional expertise. 
 

3.3. Housing Benefits 
3.3.1. Whilst it was always anticipated that the full migration to Universal 

Credit would reduce the workload for the Housing Benefit team, changes 
in the Governments migration plan and the way Universal credit changes 
to capture changes to individuals earnings on a weekly basis has 
resulted in more work not less. In 2021/22 the team have processed 
across both Councils:  

 Almost 2,300 new claims for Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support. 
 14,000 changes to existing Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction 

Claims. 
 Paid out almost £150,00 of additional discretionary housing payments 

for those people in arrears or in urgent need of additional support. 
 Received 304,000 Universal Credit and Pension changes, of which 

approximately 121,000 would have required a manual review.  
 

3.3.2. Despite this increasing workload the team continue to prioritise 
process new claims for Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support. The 
tables on the following page shows that the Council continues to deliver 
consistent performance to ensure that those who need support and 
financial assistance receive this as soon as possible. 
 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 96



Table 1 - Housing Benefit New Claims (National Target is 24 Days) 

(Data based on District Councils only and excludes Metropolitan Boroughs 
and Unitaries) 

 

  2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Worst 46 62 35 39 

Bottom Quartile 24 23.25 19 21 
Median (Second 
Quartile) 20 20 16 17 

Third Quartile 17 16 13 13 

Best 4 4 3 5 

South Hams 24 20 14 17 

West Devon 23 19 15 18 

Average (Mean) 20.7 20.1 16.2 17.2 

 
Table 2 - Change in Circumstances to existing claims (National Target is 
11 days) 
 

  2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Worst  20 23 13 21 

Bottom Quartile 8 7 5 5 
Median (Second 
Quartile) 6 5 4 4 

Third Quartile 5 4 3 3 

Best 2 2 1 1 

South Hams 7 5 4 4 

West Devon 7 5 5 4 

Average (Mean) 6.5 5.9 4.5 4.3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 97



3.4. Collection rates for council tax and business rates 
3.4.1. Despite the unprecedented additional workload that the Revenues & 

Benefits service has needed to administer in response to the pandemic 
(starting in March 2020), the Councils have maintained good collection 
rates, particularly for council tax. In the last financial year 2020/21, 
council tax collection rates held up well in both Councils, with 97.33% 
being collected in West Devon and 97.81% in South Hams. This was 
well above the national average and slightly above the 2nd quartile. The 
following  table and graph demonstrates this. 
 
Council Tax collection rates (Data based on District Councils only and 
excludes Metropolitan Boroughs and Unitaries) 

 

 
 

3.4.2. The new Head of Revenues and Benefits will have specific and 
stretching targets to improve Collection rates for each of the next 3 
years.  A 0.5% increase in collection rates in each year will move the 
Council’s performance to top quartile. A 0.5% increase generates an 
additional £30,000 of additional council tax income. 
 
 

  2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Lowest Quartile 97.4 97.38 97.15 96.0075 
Median (Second 
Quartile) 98.11 98.02 97.89 97.085 
Third Quartile 98.6 98.52 98.37 97.81 
Max 99.34 99.37 99.62 99.05 
South Hams 98.15 98.24 98.3 97.81 
West Devon 97.58 97.67 97.71 97.33 
Average (Mean) 97.89 97.83 97.66 96.81 

Page 98



3.4.3. Business rates collection rates were 91.53% in West Devon for 
2020/21 and 91.74% in South Hams. These were in the lower quartile in 
comparison to other Councils although we are aware that there are a 
number of different methodologies for reporting business rates collection 
rates. This is thought to be due to a technical accounting issue of how 
older year’s payments are currently accounted for.  

 
Business Rates (NNDR) collection rates (Data based on District Councils 
only and excludes Metropolitan Boroughs and Unitaries) 
 

  2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Lowest 92.31 93.97 95.17 85.43 

Lowest Quartile 98.09 98 97.7 93.01 
Median (Second 
Quartile) 98.62 98.52 98.35 95.43 
Third Quartile 99.08 99.02 98.92 96.94 

Max 99.99 99.99 99.94 99.81 

South Hams 97.68 98.4 98.67 91.74 
West Devon 98 97.61 97.62 91.53 

Average (Mean) 98.47 98.42 98.25 94.78 

 

 

 
3.4.4. The new Head of Revenues and Benefits will have specific and 

stretching targets to improve Business Rates Collection rates to ensure 
that the Council achieves second quartile performance by the end of 
2023/24. This will generate up to an extra £75,000 of business rates 
income per annum for the Council. 

 

Page 99



 
 
 

3.5. The Scope of the Revenues & Benefits Service Review 
3.5.1. The aims of the Service Review were to provide:  

 An adaptable single service that can flex resources when and where 
needed. 

 Assurance that all statutory and legislative requirements are being met 
 Implementation of a clear succession and development/training plan 
 A delivery plan that increases collection rates (from 2nd quartile to top 

quartile for council tax for example) and maximises income with a 
business intelligence function that can focus on investigating tax 
avoidance. 

 A joined up service that uses and shares data with other Council 
services in a lawful way 

 A consistent and efficient service that is simple and easy for 
customers to use, and prevents customers from accruing significant 
overpayments or arrears. 

 The best use of our technology to underpin all of these aims.  
 

3.6. Outcomes from the Review 
3.6.1. The outcomes from the review can be summarised as follows: 

 An Implementation Plan informed by the recommendations of the 
Review and the Audit Reports, which has clear actions, ownership and 
target dates. 

 A clearer management structure with a Head of Service with direct 
responsibility and accountability for the service. 

 To embed the Council’s Performance Management Framework to 
ensure all members of the team are clear as to their roles, 
responsibilities, objectives and targets underpinned by a clear 
customer focus and continuous improvement objective.  

 Clear Service Delivery Plans informed by a ‘A Plan for West Devon’ 
that sets out the purpose of the Revenues & Benefits service within a 
clear strategy for the next five years showing how we measure 
performance to show what good is, with a plan for continuous 
improvement  

 Maximise technology in order to enable maximum efficiencies across 
the Service and to support service delivery  

 Review of policies and processes across both Services to ensure 
clarity, efficiency, and consistency 

 To have a service-wide Recovery Policy that further increases 
collection rates of council tax and business rates and reduces debt 
levels  

 Good communications within and across the team, the wider  
organisation, Members and Customers  

 Ensure a consistent and efficient Service that is simple and easy for 
customers to use. 

 
4. Progress to Date  

4.1. We have an Implementation Plan which incorporates the recommendations 
from the Review and the recommendations from the council tax, benefits and 
business rates Audit Reports for 2020-2021.  
 

Page 100



 
 

4.2. We have set up a Project Team comprising the Business Manager, Senior 
Specialists from Revenues & Benefits and the Service Improvement 
Manager, together with an additional resource on secondment to support the 
implementation of the review, which meets weekly to discuss actions against 
the Implementation Plan and reports in to the Director of Service Delivery.  

 
4.3. There has been improvement in a number of areas as follows: 

 
4.3.1. Internal Relationships and communications:  we have already 

improved communications through weekly meetings both within and 
across the teams, alongside the weekly Project meetings, which has the 
outcome of improved team morale, consistent & timely messages and 
improved involvement and constructive challenges from team.  
 

4.3.2. Data Sharing: it is recognised that significant efficiencies will be 
delivered through the sharing of data across the teams and with the 
wider organisation and we are working with the Data Protection Officer 
to facilitate this exchange of information in a lawful way to ensure that 
the Council has a holistic view of development; from the planning 
process through to occupation and the links to other services such as 
the refuse and recycling collections. 

 
4.3.3. Recovery: the team is reviewing recovery processes so that these 

work for us more effectively and increase the potential areas of recovery. 
The recovery backlog that arose during the pandemic is now being 
addressed, and we are revisiting our enforcement agency contract to 
ensure that it works effectively for us and our customers, and identifying 
wider value services that the enforcement agencies can offer due to 
economies of scale without further cost to the Council. This review of the 
recovery process has also enabled proactive networking and building of 
relationships with other councils with the benefits of sharing good 
practice and benchmarking.  

 
4.3.4. The team has also started to capture newly built properties at the point 

of completion, rather at the point of occupation and therefore increasing 
income to the Council.   
 

4.3.5. Capacity: In addition to the recruitment of the Head of Service we are 
reviewing our resource requirements for the whole service and will be 
looking at the gaps in skills and resources across the 3 areas. A key 
priority is Business Rates. 

 
4.3.6. Service Delivery Plans: we are working on Plans for each Service 

which will underpin the Thematic Delivery Plans providing the detail on 
the purpose of the Services, our priorities in the short, medium and long 
term, and how we will measure that continuous progress, whilst keeping 
the maximisation of resources and the customer as the focus of what we 
do. 

 
4.3.7. Improving accuracy at first point of contact: Ensuring that all 

relevant information is captured at first point of contact, ensuring 
accurate information from the start and avoiding double handling. 

 

Page 101



4.3.8. Checks to void accounts (Revs): these are council tax and business 
rates accounts, by determining who should be billed we can bill and 
collect more quickly.  

 
4.3.9. E-billing (Revenues): We are including notifications on our web 

forms to invite customers to sign up to e-billing when are ready to go 
live. This will have the benefit of automated billing and enables the 
customer to access on line at their convenience whilst reducing our 
costs and driving channel shift. 
 

5. Proposed Way Forward 
5.1. It is proposed that we recruit and appoint a Head of Service for Revenues & 

Benefits, on a self-funding basis, as the most effective way to ensure: 
 transparent Leadership and Accountability for the Services 
 delivery of the priorities and actions in the Thematic and Service Delivery 

Plans  
 delivery of Service improvements and performance set out in the 

Implementation Plan. 
 Identification of all single points of failure, capacity issues and providing 

more flexing of resources and the effective delivery of the Service  
 maximise income streams from council tax and business rates and that 

benefits are easily accessible to those that need them   
 

5.2. The cost of a Level 3 Head of Service for Revenues & Benefits is £75,000 
(salary with on-costs) with a split of the cost of 40% wdbc and 60% shdc 
(WDBC cost £30,000 and SHDC cost £45,000).  

 
5.3. It is proposed that this lead role is self-funding, provided through 

improvements in council tax receipts from an increase in council tax 
collection rates by at least 0.5% in both Councils. 

  There will be further benefits from reduced write-offs and from savings     
  from the increased take up of E-billing and increased Direct Debit take up. 

 
5.4 Recommendation 4 of the report asks the Hub Committee to note the 

recruitment of a Head of Service for Revenues and Benefits, which will be 
funded on a self-funding basis. To further note that the next iteration of the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) will increase both the 
annual staffing budget by £30,000 (wdbc’s share of the staffing cost) and the 
annual income from council tax by £30,000 (to reflect the anticipated increase 
in council tax collection rates by at least 0.5%).  
 

5.5 In addition, the stretching targets that the new Head of Service will be set, will 
mean that the Council will continue to improve collection rates across council 
tax and business rates generating significant further income for the Borough 
Council. This will also be aligned to the resetting of the Business Rates 
baseline to maximise business rates income. 
 

5.6 The risks of not appointing a Head of Revenues & Benefits are:  
 Less corporate and strategic awareness and knowledge and capacity to 

deliver on Corporate Strategy and Delivery Plan aims  

Page 102



 This would be the only front line Service area (with a vast customer base 
and responsibility for the Councils’ largest income streams from council 
tax and business rates) without a Head of Service 

 A lost opportunity to maximise the Councils’ income from their share of 
the council tax and business rates billed and collected 

 No voice at an Extended Leadership level with a consequent increase in 
management and leadership by the senior specialists, which decreases  
their focus on delivering the Service (With the Level 4 Specialists 
effectively becoming ‘acting heads of service’ for a proportion of their 
time ) 

 The Level 4 senior specialists would report directly to Director of 
Customer Services and Delivery 

  
5.7 It is proposed to bring a further update report to Members in six months time, 

when we will have recruited to the Head of Service role, who will have 
embedded further improvements in accordance with the Improvement Plan 
and who will have had an opportunity to further assess and influence the 
structure of the Service and the delivery of those services. 
 

6 Implications  

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y The Revenue & Benefits Review is a specific action in ‘A 
Plan for West Devon’ Delivery Plan and further supports 
the strategic aims of maximising and making the best use 
of the Council’s resources to enable delivery of the 
strategic aims and, at the same time, enhancing the 
customer experience, access and engagement. 
 

Financial 
implications to 
include reference to 
value for money 
 

Y The recruitment of a Head of Service for Revenues and 
Benefits, will be funded on a self-funding basis.  
 
The next iteration of the Council’s Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) will increase both the annual staffing 
budget by £30,000 (WDBC’s 40% share of the staffing cost 
for a Level 3 Head of Service) and the annual income from 
council tax by £30,000 (to reflect the anticipated increase 
in council tax collection rates by at least 0.5%).  
 
In addition, the stretching targets that the new Head of 
Service will be set, will mean that the Council will continue 
to improve collection rates across council tax and business 
rates generating significant further income for the Borough 
Council.  
 
As such income will increase in 2023/24 by a further 
£105,000. This made up of a further 0.5% increase in 
Council tax collection rates and £70,000 from increased 
Business Rate Collection. The latter will also be aligned to 
the resetting of the Business Rates baseline to maximise 
business rates income. 
 

Page 103



Risk Y That the Council fails to implement the recommendations 
of the Revenues and Benefits Service Review. 
 
That the Council fails to deliver a Revenues and Benefits 
Service that meet the expectations of Members and our 
customers   

Supporting 
Corporate Strategy  

Y Quality Council Services; ensuring that we make the best 
use of the budget available to us to ensure value for 
money  

Consultation and 
Engagement 
Strategy 

N External consultation and engagement has not been 
undertaken with regard to this report. 

Climate Change - 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity Impact  

N No direct carbon or diversity impacts arise from this report  

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
Equality and 
Diversity 
 

 None   

Safeguarding 
 

 None   

Community Safety, 
Crime and Disorder 

 None 
 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing 

 None 

Other implications  None 
 

 
Supporting Information 
 
Appendices: 
None 
 
Background Papers: 
None 

Page 104



NOT FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendix A contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 
1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
 
 

Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 12 April 2022 

Title: Climate Change and Biodiversity Action – 
Council net-zero update 

Portfolio Areas: Cllr Lynn Daniel 

Wards Affected: All 

Urgent Decision: N  Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y  

Author: Drew Powell 

 

Adam Williams 

 

Chris Brook                     

 

Role: Director of Strategy and 
Governance 

Climate Change Specialist 

 

Director of Place and 
Enterprise 

Contact: Email: adam.williams@swdevon.gov.uk  

 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Executive: 

1. NOTES the progress on plans aligned to the aim of the 
Council being net-zero by 2030 and increasing biodiversity 
on its own land by 10% by 2025;  
 

2. RECOMMEND to Council to delegate authority to the S151 
Officer, in consultation with the Leader of the Council and 
the Hub Committee Member for Finance, to approve and 
agree the lending terms to Fusion Leisure for a loan of up to 
£300,000 to facilitate solar panel installation across both 
WDBC Leisure Centres over the remaining term of the leisure 
contract, in accordance with treasury management advice; 

 
3. RECOMMEND to Council to delegate authority to the S151 

Officer, in consultation with the Leader of the Council and 
the Hub Committee Member for Finance, to update the 
Council’s Capital Strategy, Investment Strategy and Treasury 
Management Strategy for 2022/23 for a £300,000 loan 

Page 105

Agenda Item 10



provision to Fusion Leisure for the solar installation, in 
accordance with treasury management advice. 

 

 
1. Executive Summary  

 
1.1 The Council declared a Climate Change and Biodiversity 

emergency in 2019 and subsequently developed and adopted a 
Climate Change and Biodiversity Strategy (‘the Strategy’) and 
Action Plan in December 2020 (minute 28/20 refers).  
 

1.2 The Council has approved an earmarked reserve of £200,000 for 
general climate change activity within the ‘Plan for West Devon’ 
to support delivery against the aims set out in the Strategy and 
this is being allocated against projects. 

 
1.3 The following report sets out progress and the potential carbon 

savings (or biodiversity net gain) from significant projects aligned 
to two of the three Councils adopted aims. Namely, Aims 1 and 
3, reducing its carbon footprint to net-zero by 2030 and 
increasing biodiversity on its own land by 10% by 2025. 

 
1.4 The project to convert both our light vehicle fleet and our ferries 

to electric will save in the order of 23.4 tCO2e (tonnes of carbon 
dioxide equivalent) which equates to 21% of the emissions that 
the Council has direct control over (which are scope 1 and 2 
emissions).  

 
1.5 A further key proposal contained within the report is the business 

case to invest a further £300,000, in the form of a loan to Fusion 
Leisure (as the chosen provider for the Councils’ leisure 
facilities), to install solar arrays on the two leisure centres within 
the Borough.  This will reduce carbon emissions, save Fusion 
around two thirds of its energy bill costs and add to Fusion’s 
financial resilience by lessening their exposure to energy price 
rises.  The savings that Fusion will make on their energy costs 
will enable them to repay the annual costs of the borrowing 
repayments as the savings are predicted to be in excess of the 
loan repayment illustrated in Appendix A. 

 
1.6 The report also provides an update on the latest estimate of the 

Council’s Greenhouse gas emission inventory; effectively the 
Council’s Carbon Footprint. 

 
2. Background 

 
2.1 The Climate Change and Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan 

was adopted on 4th December by the Council. It was noted that 
the Action Plan will be a continually evolving document and that 
delegated authority be granted to the Director of Governance 
and Assurance, in consultation with the  Hub Member for Climate 

Page 106



Change and Biodiversity, to make revisions to the Plan as and 
when deemed necessary 

2.2 The Council adopted the following aims;  
 
1. That the Council aim to reduce its organisational carbon 

emissions to net-zero by 2030;  
 

2. That the Council commit to working with partners through 
the Devon Climate Emergency Response Group to aim to 
reduce the Borough of West Devon carbon emissions to net-
zero by 2050 at the latest; and 

 
3. That the Council aim for a 10% Biodiversity Net Gain in the 

habitat value of its green and wooded public open space by 
2025. 

 
2.3 It is recognised that identifying and reducing the Council’s own 

carbon emissions will have a number of direct and indirect 
impacts on the wider ambition of adapting to and mitigating 
against the impacts of climate change. 

 
2.4 For example, the Council plays an important role in community 

leadership and setting the right example regarding the impact of 
its own activities can play an important role securing behaviour 
change and raising awareness of the climate emergency.  

 
2.5 West Devon Borough Council Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

(Carbon Footprint) 2020/21 
 

2.6 West Devon Borough Council commissioned a second study into 
our greenhouse gas emissions (‘carbon footprint’) last year 
following a review of our data internally and changes to our 
practices, and more clarity into our own fuel uses. 

 
2.7 The Council has committed to reducing operational carbon 

emissions to Net Zero by 2030. This target applies to the whole 
council operation, from scopes 1, 2 and 3.  

 
2.8 It is widely recognised that reducing Scope 1 and 2 emissions is 

far easier, relatively, than reducing Scope 3 emissions. As a 
result some authorities have set targets based solely on reducing 
Scope 1 and 2 emissions. Our aim as set out above (3.2) is 
challenging and, as our work continues with Exeter University, 
we will set out a trajectory, based on carbon budgets, outlining 
the contribution each project will have in achieving our adopted 
aim. A further report will be brought to the Hub Committee in 
due course. 

 
2.9 The graphic below illustrates the differences between the 

emissions scopes; 
 

Page 107



 

 
 

 
 

2.10 The chart below shows our emissions breakdown for 2020/2021 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Scope 1

Activities owned or controlled 
by your organisation that 
release emissions straight 
into the atmosphere. They 

are direct emissions

Examples of scope 1 emissions 
include emissions from 

combustion in owned or 
controlled boilers, furnaces, 

vehicles; emissions from chemical 
production in owned or 

controlled process equipment.

Scope 2

Emissions being released into 
the atmosphere associated 
with your consumption of 

purchased electricity, heat, 
steam and cooling. 

These are indirect 
emissions that are a 
consequence of your 

organisation’s activities 
but which occur at sources 

you do not own or 
control.

Scope 3

Emissions that are a 
consequence of your actions, 
which occur at sources which 

you do not own or control 
and which are not classed as 
scope 2 emissions and occur 

in the value chain

Examples of scope 3 
emissions are business travel 

by means not owned or 
controlled by your 

organisation, waste disposal, 
or purchased materials or 

fuels.

Scope 1 - Stationary 
combustion (70 

tCO2e)
2.5%

Scope 1 - Owned 
transport (23.4 

tCO2e)
0.8%

Scope 2 - Electricity 
(15.3 tCO2e)

0.5%

Scope 3 - Purchased 
material and fuel 

(617.0 tCO2e)
22.2%

Scope 3 - Transport 
related activities (6.7 

tCO2e)
0.2%

Scope 3 - Leased 
assets and 

franchising, 
outsourcing (2043.1 

tCO2e)
74%

Page 108



2.11 The total greenhouse gas emissions for West Devon Borough 
Council in 2020/2021 (as set out in the pie chart above) was 
2775.7 tonnes of Carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2e). Carbon 
dioxide equivalent or CO2e is a measure used to compare the 
emissions from various greenhouse gases on the basis of their 
global-warming potential.  

 
2.12 To work out the carbon emissions of an activity, an activity is 

multiplied by an emissions factor related to that activity. As an 
illustration, the 2020/2021 emissions factor for gas is 0.23314 
kgCO2e per kWh. Taking the gas consumed by Kilworthy Park 
that year which was 213784.14 kWh, it is then multiplied by the 
emissions factor of 0.18455 which gives you a CO2e figure of 
39,453 kgCO2e or 39.45 tonnes CO2e. This represents 
approximately 42% of our Scope 2 electricity emissions (see 
chart in 3.5 above) The CO2e emissions factors are published 
yearly by the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial 
Strategy. 

 
2.13 The biggest proportion of the Council’s greenhouse gas emissions 

relate to its activities under Scope 3 – essentially the emissions 
over which we have least control. Out of the 2043.1 tCO2e from 
leased assets, franchising and outsourcing, 178.6 tCO2e are 
attributed to our leisure centres energy use alone. As we own the 
leisure centres (leased to Fusion) we are, unusually for Scope 3, 
able to directly act to reduce these emissions as set out further 
in this report. 

 
2.14 At the moment, the most detailed way to calculate procurement 

and purchasing emissions doesn’t reflect the true nature of the 
emissions. It is a standard calculation that doesn’t account for 
whether or not your supplier has any carbon saving measures in 
their own operations. This approach therefore negates our ability 
to reduce emissions by, for example, procuring goods and 
services from net-zero suppliers. 

 
2.15 We are actively working with partners to investigate ways to 

better account for purchasing so we can have greater influence 
over the resultant carbon emissions.  

 
3. Reducing our Carbon Emissions – Practical Actions 

 
3.1 Exploring Scope 3 further, our transport related activities 

(commuting and business mileage) were much less than normal 
because of COVID-19 enforced lockdowns. By way of 
comparison, if we were operating as we were before lockdown, 
the emissions for the year would have been circa. 95.8 tCO2e for 

Page 109



commuting, compared to the reported 6.7 tCO2e arising from our 
working practices during the pandemic. 

 
3.2 This is a clear example of what can be achieved through 

relatively straightforward actions such as increased remote 
working. We will continue to support and further develop our 
ability to support this approach whilst retaining an emphasis on 
customer focussed, efficient services. 

 
3.3 The combined total of Scope 1 and 2 emissions (those we have 

greatest influence on) is 108.7 tCO2e.  
 

3.4 Influencing these emissions will require a range of actions 
including conducting energy audits on all of our assets and, for 
example, retrofitting them in line with the recommendations of 
the audit.  

 
3.5 A key action that we are progressing is converting our fleet to 

EV. We are in the process of appointing an EV Project Officer 
through an internal secondment whose responsibility will be to 
produce a forward fleet plan and kick-start the transition of our 
light vehicle fleet to electric. 

 
3.6 For clarity, the table below illustrates some of the savings for the 

projects currently underway; 

Scope Scope 
Total 
(tCO2e) 

Action Potential 
saving 
(tCO2e) 

% reduction 
of overall 
carbon 
footprint 

1 93.4 EV Fleet 
Transition  

20  0.7% (21.4% 
of our total 
Scope 1) 

3 2667.7 Embedded 
Remote 
Working 

89  3.2% (3.3% 
of Scope 3) 

3 2667.7 Solar Panels for 
Leisure Centres 
(see 6 below) 

53 1.9% (1.98% 
of Scope 3) 

 

3.7 As for some of the other actions that have already been taken 
against scope 1, 2 and 3 already, our solar PV on Kilworthy Park 
resulted in export credits which offset 0.7 tCO2e in 2020/2021. 
 

3.8 Furthermore, the energy supply for Kilworthy Park and 20 
Plymouth Road are supplied by genuine renewable energy 
supplies (with a verified Renewable Energy Guarantee of Origin 

Page 110



Certificate) and have therefore been discounted from our 
emissions in 20/21. 

 
3.9 In addition, we continue to promote our EV salary sacrifice 

scheme to staff and explore the potential for renewable energy 
on our land and buildings. 

 
4. Organisational practices 

 
4.1 Following the Carbon Literacy Training carried out in 

collaboration with Torbay Council and South Hams, our Council is 
now accredited as a bronze level Carbon Literate Organisation. A 
Carbon Literate Organisation (CLO) is an organisation that has 
been accredited by The Carbon Literacy Project as having a 
substantial commitment to Carbon Literacy. 

 

4.2 What this means in reality is the extended leadership team 
understand the importance of the climate emergency and how 
their own service areas can contribute to change both 
organisationally and across the district.  

 
4.3 Now that the understanding is in place we are developing a 

decision making tool to better inform projects and policy at 
development stage to ensure that they align with the need to 
reduce carbon emissions and improve biodiversity.  

 
4.4 Embedding these principles at the early stages of the decision- 

making process will help deliver against our adopted aims as set 
out in 2.2, above. 

 
5. Aim 3 – Biodiversity 

 
5.1 As for aim 3, our target to increase biodiversity on our own green 

spaces will be reliant on changes to our Ground Maintenance 
Procedure. An approach to this will be subject to a report in the 
coming months 
 

5.2 One action that has been taken on this is a natural regeneration 
project at land at Harrowbeer Lane, Yelverton, and Bedford Bridge 

Page 111



near Horrabridge which was subject to a report to Hub Committee 
in February. 

 
5.3 Subject to successful completion and considering the sites in the 

context of the Defra Biodiversity Metric calculator, woodland 
creation (including scrub as a successional habitat), could result in 
a ‘biodiversity net gain’ at the sites of around 80% after around 5 
years through creation of new habitat. 

 
6. Leisure Centres – Solar Panel Installation 

 
6.1 As the chosen provider for the Councils’ leisure facilities, Fusion 

Leisure have been actively encouraged by the Council to work in 
partnership to support the energy reduction targets and 
reduction of carbon footprint for the facilities. 

 
6.2 Fusion Leisure are a high energy user. In 2022, the leisure 

centres in West Devon and South Hams are forecast to use 
2,000,000 kWh electricity, at a cost of around £300,000. 
Broadly, this equates to circa 667,000 kWh in West Devon. 

 
6.3 Fusion is the bill payer for the utilities at all leisure centres and 

will directly benefit from the cost savings which will result from 
purchasing less electricity from the grid. 

 
6.4 Fusion Leisure have been working with a number of solar 

installers to understand the cost of solar panel installation across 
the leisure centres in West Devon, namely Meadowlands 
(Tavistock) and Parklands (Okehampton). 

 
6.5 The anticipated costs as of February 2022 were circa £250,000 to 

install solar arrays on the roofs of these two leisure centres.  
 

6.6 It is proposed, in order to secure the carbon benefits, that the 
Council loan a capital sum to Fusion Leisure, to facilitate 
installation of solar panels, with repayments being made over the 
remaining term of their leisure contract (19 years remaining). 

 
6.7 It is proposed to provide the loan from WDBC to Fusion Leisure 

at a commercial rate (above the PWLB interest rate), to 
recognise the benefits of the scheme for both parties. An 
illustration is attached in Appendix A. 

 
6.8 The solar schemes are forecast to generate approx. 229,000 

KWh per annum which equates to just over a third of the energy 
(electrical) requirements of the centres.  

 
6.9 The project will reduce carbon emissions by circa 130,000 kg 

CO2e (53 tCO2e), as detailed below:   
 Meadowlands Leisure Centre 17,150kg CO2e (17 tCO2e)  

Page 112



 Parklands Leisure Centre      35,867kg CO2e (36 tCO2e) 
 

6.10 As an illustration, the CO2 emissions from the leisure centres in 
2020/2021 was 178.6 tCO2e, this includes electricity and gas use. 

 
6.11 Fusion Leisure anticipate a programme of works of circa 12 months 

to complete installations.  
 

6.12 The pricing in the construction sector is currently extremely 
volatile and inflation is a challenge for cost certainty. As such, a 
delegation to agree the actual loan amount to Fusion is necessary. 

 
6.13 The installation of solar arrays will reduce carbon emissions, save 

Fusion around two thirds of its energy bill costs and add to Fusion’s    
financial resilience by lessening their exposure to energy price 
rises. The savings that Fusion will make on their energy costs will 
enable them to repay the annual costs of the borrowing 
repayments as the savings are predicted to be in excess of the 
loan repayments illustrated in Appendix A.  

 
6.14 The savings in Fusion’s electricity bill (before price rises – i.e. at 

the time of quotation) are in the region of £40k across both 
centres.   

 
6.15 It is recommended to Council to delegate authority to the S151 

Officer, in consultation with the Leader of the Council and the Hub 
Committee Member for Finance, to update the Council’s Capital 
Strategy, Investment Strategy and Treasury Management 
Strategy for 2022/23 for a £300,000 loan provision to Fusion 
Leisure for the solar installation, in accordance with treasury 
management advice. 

 
7. Conclusion 

 
7.1 A range of projects are coming forward, through ‘A Plan for West 

Devon’ and the adopted Climate Change and Biodiversity 
Strategy that will significantly reduce the Council’s Scope 1 and 2 
emissions and contribute towards a reduction in the Scope 3 
emissions. 

 
7.2 The Council has already approved a budget of £200,000 to 

deliver a range of projects and grants aligned with the adopted 
strategy and it is proposed to further the Council’s commitment 
to its adopted aims by providing a loan of £300,000 to Fusion 
Leisure. 
 
 

Page 113



 
 
 
 

8. Implications  
 
Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y The public interest test has been applied to 
Appendix A and the public interest lies in non-
disclosure. 
 

Financial 
implications to 
include reference 
to value for 
money 
 

Y It is recommended to Council to delegate authority 
to the S151 Officer, in consultation with the Leader 
of the Council and the Hub Committee Member for 
Finance, to approve and agree the lending terms to 
Fusion Leisure for a loan of up to £300,000 to 
facilitate solar panel installation across both WDBC 
Leisure Centres over the remaining term of the 
leisure contract.  
 
A loan is to be provided from WDBC at a 
commercial rate (above the PWLB interest rate) to 
Fusion Leisure, to recognise the benefits of the 
scheme for both parties. An illustration is attached 
in Appendix A. 
 
It is also recommended to Council to delegate 
authority to the S151 Officer, in consultation with 
the Leader of the Council and the Hub Committee 
Member for Finance, to update the Council’s Capital 
Strategy, Investment Strategy and Treasury 
Management Strategy for 2022/23 for a £300,000 
loan provision to Fusion Leisure for the solar 
installation, in accordance with treasury 
management advice. 
 
 

Risk   TBC 
  

Supporting 
Corporate 
Strategy 

Y Natural Environment, Built Environment, 
Communities, Homes 

Consultation and 
Engagement 
Strategy 

N External consultation and engagement has not 
been undertaken with regard to this report. 

Page 114



Climate Change- 
Carbon/ 
Biodiversity 
Impact 

Y In March 2021, Council approved to set up an 
Earmarked Reserve for £200,000 for the Recovery 
Plan and Corporate Strategy. 
 
Further detail is set out in the Council’s ‘A Plan for 
West Devon’ strategic vision. 

Equality and 
Diversity 
 

 No direct implications   

Safeguarding 
 

 No direct implications   

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 
 

 No direct implications   
 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

 The provision of energy efficiency measures will 
have a positive impact on the health, safety and 
wellbeing of the households. 

Other 
implications 

  
 

 
Supporting Information 
 
Appendices:  
 
EXEMPT Appendix A – Loan model illustration  

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 12 April 2022 

Title: A Plan for West Devon  –Quarterly Progress Report  

Portfolio Area: Cllr Neil Jory  

Leader  

Wards Affected: All  

Urgent Decision: N Approval and clearance 
obtained: 

N  

Date next steps can be taken: 
 

NA  

  

Author: Neil Hawke  Role: Head of Strategy   

Contact: Neil.Hawke@swdevon.gov.uk  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Hub Committee: 

 
(i) Recognise the progress in achieving our plans as adopted in the Plan 

for West Devon; 
 

(ii) Endorse the proposed Key Performance Indicators as set out in 
Appendix B; and 
 

(iii) Commence work with Lead Officers on refining the 2023/24 delivery 
plans in order to be considered by Council in Autumn 2022 

 

1. Executive summary 
 

1.1. Our corporate strategy, A Plan for West Devon, was adopted in September 
2021 and already it is shaping the decisions the Council makes and enabling 
us to prioritise delivery of those key actions as set out within the delivery plan.  

1.2. Positive progress has continued to be made in delivery of those actions, with 
this report setting out the progress made in Q4 of 2021/22 (January to March) 

1.3. This report also sets out a revised suite of operational Key Performance 
Indicators for Hub Committee to consider.  

 
 
 

Page 119

Agenda Item 11



2. Proposed way forward  
 

2.1. The Quarter 4 Integrated Performance Management Report is set out in 
Appendix A to this report. This will be the second report since the 
implementation of our enhanced performance management reporting process. 

2.2. Monitoring and driving performance against our strategy ensures that as a 
Council we are delivering on our vision of A Plan for West Devon. It is 
recommended that the Hub Committee recognise the significant progress 
against our plans for the strategy.  
 
Key Performance Indicators  

2.3. A key component of supporting our vision is ensuring quality and responsive 
services. It is therefore important that we also take steps to monitor and report 
performance in key services, consider service performance on a regular basis 
(including monitoring of progress against service improvement plans) and that 
we monitor and support our employees to deliver for our communities.  

2.4. There are three levels of performance management that we will employ.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.5 This report proposes a suite of KPI’s (Appendix B) at the ‘Strategic Reporting’ 
Level. These are measures that we can easily benchmark against other Councils 
and will give our residents the opportunity to compare our performance against 
others. The Hub Committee are asked to consider and highlight any further areas 
where they would like additional reporting. If agreed, these KPIS measures will 
be reported to Hub on a Quarterly basis through the Integrated Performance 
Management report and Overview and Scrutiny on a 6 monthly basis for a more 
in-depth analysis of performance (as per the current arrangement). 

2.6 The KPI’s will be reviewed and refined on a regular basis to ensure they remain 
relevant.  

2.7 It is recommended that the Hub Committee approve the KPI’s as set out at 
Appendix B 

 

 

Including our performance 
against our Plan for West 
Devon delivery plans and 
KPI’s that are 
benchmarkable against other 
Councils  

Progress against service 
improvement plans, 
service financial 
performance etc.  

Day to day service 
planning data, progress 
against individual targets   

Strategic 
Performance 

Service Level 
Performance 

Operational & Individual 
Performance 

Reported to Members 
through Hub and 
O&S Performance 
Monitoring Reports  

Reported to SLT & 
Lead Members, and 
where relevant to 
Members – for 
example DM Service 
Performance 
reported to DM 
Committee  

Managed by 
Heads of Service 
on a daily basis  

Reporting Mechanism  Type of reporting   

Page 120



Further Development of A Plan for West Devon Delivery Plans 
2.8 The current Plan for West Devon delivery plan includes specific actions for 

2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24. Work will commence with Hub Leads and 
Advisory groups during the coming months to develop further detail to populate 
the 2023/24 delivery plan so that it can be considered alongside the budget 
development in the autumn. This will ensure that we have a clear focus for 
delivery during the first year following the May 2023 elections.  

2.9 Following the elections, work will commence in the summer 2023 to develop the 
next three year delivery plan.  

2.10 It is recommended that the Hub Committee Members commence work with 
Lead Officers in late spring to refine the 2023/24 delivery plans for consideration 
by Council in autumn 2022.  

 
 

3 Implications  

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y Providing performance updates in respect of our strategic 
priorities contributes to Principle F of the CIPFA Delivering 
Good Governance in Local Government Framework. This 
principle is about managing risks and performance through 
robust internal control and strong public financial 
management.  
Implementation of a Quarterly report is a significant step 
forward in increasing transparency of the work of the 
Council and in enabling the Hub Committee to monitor the 
progress of or strategic plan.  

Financial 
implications to 
include reference to 
value for money 
 

Y This report does not include any direct financial 
implications however it does provide a high level overview 
of the financial performance of the Plan for West Devon 
Programme 

Risk Y This report sets out the current strategic risk profile of the 
Council. 

Supporting 
Corporate Strategy  

Y All  

Climate Change - 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity Impact  
 
 

N No direct carbon or diversity impacts arise from this report  

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
Equality and 
Diversity 
 

 None   

Safeguarding 
 

 None   

Community Safety, 
Crime and Disorder 

 None 
 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing 

 None 

Other implications  None 

Page 121



 
 
Supporting Information 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – Plan for West Devon Integrated Performance Management Report 
Appendix B- Draft KPI’s 2022/23  
 
Background Papers: 
Q1 Integrated Performance Management Report <<insert link>>  
 
Plan for West Devon Strategy and Delivery Plans www.westdevon.gov.uk/plan-for-
west-devon   

Page 122



A Plan for
West Devon

A Plan for West Devon – Progress 
Update 
Quarter 4 2021/22 (Jan – Mar 2022)

P
age 123



A plan for West Devon

Page 3 – Introduction 
from Leader 

Page 4 – Performance 
on a Page 

Page 14 - Strategy 
Project Spend

Page 5 – Our Performance 
by Theme

Page 16 – Strategic 
Risk Assessment

Page 18 – Next Steps 

A Plan for West Devon – Progress Update 

Page 6 – Communities
Page 7 – Community Wellbeing
Page 8 – Homes
Page 9 – Economy
Page 10 – Natural Environment
Page 11 - Built Environment 
Page 12 – Inclusive Services
Page 13 - Resources

Page 15 – Key 
Performance Indicators

P
age 124



A plan for West Devon

Introduction  

This report set outs our performance for the period January – March 2022 and I am 
very pleased that we’ve remained on track against the majority of actions. Our plan 
is ambitious and we live in times that require us to regularly adapt our services to 
meet external challenges (such as Covid 19). 

During this period, we have also watched events unfold in Ukraine. We are already 
seeing far reaching impacts of this and locally we have been taking steps to step 
up a team to prepare our local support plan for Ukrainian guests being sponsored 
in West Devon. 

In addition to recognising progress against our strategy, our efforts have been 
applauded on a national level with a Gold Award for our customer ICT 
improvement programme and with a Highly Commended award for our local land 
charges service – great work for the staff involved! 

Looking ahead, we will now be focusing on year 2 of our delivery plan and 
opportunities coming forward for the potential of a Devon Devolution Deal with 
Government 

Cllr Neil Jory 
Cllr Neil Jory 
Leader West Devon Borough Council 

During this reporting period we have:-

Our Plan for West Devon was adopted in September 
2021 and we continue to make significant progress 
against the actions which will contribute towards our 
longer term vision for the area.

Received a Gold Award for our online 
customer improvement programme and 
were highly commended for our local land 
charges service 

Been successful in securing 
government funding towards a new 
Changing Places Facility at Made-Well 
in Hatherleigh

Set a balanced budget for the 
coming year, ensuring we can 
continue to provide responsive 
services 

Provided grants to 32 community led 
schemes supporting the physical and 
mental wellbeing of our residents 
across the boroughP

age 125



A plan for West Devon

Section 1 – Performance on a page

1 21 41 61 81 101

Last period

This Period

Status of specific actions in A Plan for West 
Devon

On Track Slight Delay Significant Issues

There are a total of 98 actions to be delivered within the 2021/22 delivery plan. Good progress 
has been made with the majority on track to deliver as planned. 

Agreed Strategy Budget 
2021/22

£235,500

Spend to Date £158,525
Forecast to year end £158,525
Forecast Variance (£76,975)

Spend against approved strategy programme 2021/22

Overall we are on track with delivering our priorities within the agreed budget for the 
year. There is an underspend primarily due to delays in on-boarding new employees 
and maximising government grants instead of using Council reserves. 

Performance against Key Performance Indicators –
number of KPI’s by status  



0 2 4 6 8 10

Last period

This Period

On Target Slightly Off Target Off Target Not due to report

Risk Management Profile – Average Risk Score across 
Strategic Risks





Average Strategic Risk 
Score last Period 

Average Strategic Risk 
Score this period

12 12.8

The average risk score for our strategic risk register has increased very slightly, 
largely due to an increased risk of Covid-19 impacting on our services 

Not reported – See covering 
report for details 

P
age 126



A plan for West Devon

Section 2 – Performance against the Council’s Priorities 
Delivering on our Plan for West Devon 

This section of the report sets out the performance 
under each of the Council’s theme areas. The 
themes underpin our overall ambition for West 
Devon. 

Each year for the next three years, we have set out 
a number of specific deliverables in our Thematic 
Delivery Plan. 

The table to the right sets out how many of those 
are currently on track, how many are slightly off 
track and how many are at risk of not being 
delivered as planned. 

More detail per theme can be seen on the following 
pages. 

Overall Performance Against Actions 

Status 
Total Actions 
Within Category 

% of overall
actions 

Compared 
to previous 
Quarter 

This action is on track with good progress being 
made. There are no significant risks which require 
action and we are on track to deliver as planned

91 93%

There are some issues or risks which are requiring 
management but a plan is in place to bring back on 
track

7 7%

There is a significant risk that we cannot deliver
this activity as planned. Regular monitoring and 
support from Lead Member and Senior Leadership 
Team is required 

0 0

This activity is not yet due to start in the current 
year 0 NA/ First 

report

Totals 98 100%



?

!

P
age 127



A plan for West Devon

Focus Area 
Total Actions 
2021/22 On Track 

Slightly off track 
but plan in place

Risk that unable
to deliver on time

Not yet due to 
commence

Empowering our 
communities to 
enhance their 
area

11 11
Supporting the 
voluntary sector 
in responding to 
community needs

4 4

Our communities and the voluntary sector have all continued to work together on supporting each other through the ongoing 
pandemic. While our teams continue to support this effort, I am pleased that we have continued to make good progress in 
delivering our plans for 2021/22 including:-
• Awarded all funding from the 68 Plymouth Road and Okehampton S106 funds to community schemes – majority of which will 

be actually spent in 2022/23 
• Agreed to reinstate quarterly Parish Links Meetings to ensure we continue with communication between public bodies working 

within the area 
• Continued to work on a plan for better public sector / Voluntary sector in the future – through our links with Team Devon. 
• Developed an events forward plan to enable our participation in key events and also to ensure that we take steps to actively 

promote events 

 ? ! Key Risks / Issues

• In the coming weeks we will be working hard to 
ensure we can respond to the needs of our 
communities that are welcoming Ukrainian 
refugees to the area. This will likely require a 
joined up approach with the voluntary sector to 
ensure we can meet their needs. Team Devon 
are already having discussions with the CVS 
around what this support may look like.

Focus for next Quarter

• Consider options for funding of key partners beyond the current funding arrangement – report scheduled for Hub Committee in June 2022
• Hold first of our relaunched Links meetings to continue our close working with Town and Parish Councils and ensure a unified approach to resolving local issues – early May 2022
• Launch our community events fund – April 2022 

P
age 128



A plan for West Devon

Focus Area 
Total Actions 
2021/22 On Track 

Slightly off track 
but plan in place

Risk that unable
to deliver on time

Not yet due to 
commence

Reducing Health 
Inequalities & 
rural poverty 

3 2 1
(CW1.1)

Leisure provision 
that meets
residents needs

5 5
Mental Health 
and Wellbeing 3 3

Many of the actions within the wellbeing plan require us to work closely with partners such as Public Health, Citizens Advice, Devon 
County Council and others. It is pleasing that during this period we have continued to build effective working relationships across 
these groups with some of the key activities delivered in the past quarter being:-
• Awarded over £30,000 to 32 community led projects that are delivering projects to support the Health and Wellbeing of our 

residents
• Commenced discussions with Devon County Council on a co-ordinated approach to rural poverty 
• Worked with Made-Well in Hatherleigh to secure government funding to deliver a new Changing Places facility to be delivered in 

the next 12-24 months 
• Ensured continuing provision of leisure services within the borough through providing 
• Adopted a new Playing Pitch Strategy for the borough 

 ? ! Key Risks / Issues

• CW1.1 Rural Poverty Pilot is slightly behind track 
although good progress is being made with partners 
to scope a pilot. This action will be rolled forward for 
an agreed plan to be agreed in Q1 2022/23

• There is a real concern that as the cost of living 
impacts worsen and with the conflict in Europe, more 
of our residents will experience a worsening physical
and mental health. Our ‘Vulnerability Officer’ 
continues to attend Health and Wellbeing alliance 
meetings to identify opportunities to join up support. 

Focus for next Quarter

- Receive report on the mental health and wellbeing for young people delivered during the summer and work with partners to consider the plan for the coming financial year 
- Work with the Community Mental Health Framework (CMHF) to assist design and implementation of services and ensure we understand how the Council services can fit 
- Work with partners at Public Health to identify an appropriate location for a pilot rural poverty scheme 

P
age 129



A plan for West Devon

Focus Area 
Total Actions 
2021/22 On Track 

Slightly off track 
but plan in place

Risk that unable
to deliver on time

Not yet due to 
commence

Housing for 
Place 3 3
Housing for 
People 6 5 1 

(IH1.5) 

During this period, Council formally declared a Housing Crisis within the Borough in recognition of the struggles to access suitable 
homes. In declaring a crisis, we have also worked quickly to scope out our high level response and begin to shape an action plan. We 
have also:
• Carried out a public consultation on our draft homelessness strategy 2022/2027 
• Prepared draft tender documents for the construction of Spring Hill (homelessness accommodation) 
• Taken steps to plan our support for the Homes for Ukraine Scheme – working alongside Team Devon for a joined up approach. 
• Formulated our year 2 housing strategy (Better Homes, Better Lives) delivery plan for consideration by Members in April 
• Presented evidence to a parliamentary inquiry which show why West Devon believe some unscrupulous landlords are 

exploiting the exempt accommodation benefits system. 

 ? ! Key Risks / Issues

• Having declared a Housing Crisis, it is important 
that our capacity meets our ambition. Our Head 
of Housing is currently considering the best way 
to structure the team to support this response 
and will set these proposals out in due course. 

• Action IH1.5 is slightly off track in respect of 
Design and costing a package of support for 
HMO Management and promoting it to landlords. 
We will roll this action forward to 2022/23 

Focus for next Quarter

- Adoption of our homelessness strategy for the next 5 years 
- Support ‘Homes for Ukraine’ sponsors and families 
- Further developing our intelligence to inform future policy and decision making 
- Scope and schedule housing needs surveys for Princetown and North Tawton for 2022 

P
age 130



A plan for West Devon

Focus Area 

Total 
Actions 
2021/22 On Track 

Slightly off track 
but plan in place

Risk that unable
to deliver on time

Not yet due to 
commence

Promote Destination 
West Devon 8 8
Helping West Devon
Towns and 
Businesses thrive 

7 7 
Respond to 
opportunities to 
enhance the
economy

2 2

The past quarter has continued to be challenging for many businesses within the Borough and shortly before Christmas Government 
announced additional grant schemes to support those hit hardest. That said, while taking steps to ensure we can efficiently deliver these 
grants to businesses, we’ve made good progress against our delivery plan including:-
• Concluded our programme of EU funded high street and visitor economy support measures which has seen an investment of around 

£80,000 in a wide range of schemes including promotion of West Devon as a whole and not just our high streets. 
• Awarded £207,693  to local businesses and groups for projects that will make a positive impact on the economy in West Devon  

through our Community Recovery Fund 
• Commissioned a survey of Okehampton businesses and, as a result, made a recommendation to Okehampton TC to create a BID
• Commenced discussions around 11 prospective Town Centre Travel Hubs, led by Dartmoor National Park, including Okehampton, 

Tavistock, Yelverton and Princetown

 ? ! Key Risks / Issues

Two activities we’re previously reported as ‘Risk that 
unable to deliver on time’ :-
TE1.4 – Eco-Museum. This was subject to being   
awarded funding through the Community Renewal Fund. 
Plans have been revised and the team are now working 
towards re-submitting the bid to the next funding round –
for which we are currently ‘on-track’ 
TE1.11 – West Devon Transport Hub. This was subject to 
being awarded funding through the Levelling up fund 
Tranche 1. Having been unsuccessful, the team have 
received constructive feedback and have revised plans to 
resubmit in the next funding window – for which we are 
currently ‘on-track’ 

Focus for next Quarter
- Enhancing engagement with the farming community in respect of our Digital connectivity ambitions 
- Progress preparatory work in respect of the Eco-Museum bid to Community Renewal Fund second round 
- Commence work to submit a bit to the UK Shared Prosperity Fund – anticipated to open for applications in June 

P
age 131



A plan for West Devon

Focus Area 
Total Actions 
2021/22 On Track 

Slightly off track 
but plan in place

Risk that unable
to deliver on time

Not yet due to 
commence

Working towards 
net zero 4 3 1

(NE1.1)

Making the best 
use of our  
incredible natural 
environment

6 6

 ? ! Key Risks / Issues

NE1.1 - Work progresses on the EV fleet 
replacement but a lack of existing EV charging 
infrastructure, limited range of some EV’s and the 
large area covered by some vehicles represents a 
challenge in terms of ensuring that service delivery 
remains efficient with an EV fleet. The lead officer 
has also been required to support another key area 
of the Council and as such we are recruiting (via 
secondment) a replacement. 

Focus for next Quarter

• Continue work in supporting nature mapping to support the development of Nature Recovery Strategies 
• Appointment of officer to lead the delivery of the EV fleet replacement (NE1.1) 

Good progress is being made on delivery of the specific actions within the year one delivery plan for Natural Environment (in addition to 
all of the actions within our specific Climate and Biodiversity Action Plan). During this period we have:-
• Launched a campaign encouraging uptake of our garden waste collection scheme 
• Commenced a consultation (across the Joint Local Plan area) on climate change measures for all new developments 
• Progressed plans for Land near Yelverton and Horrabridge which could be in line for natural woodland regeneration
• Promoted our £600,000 scheme to reduce home energy consumption in West Devon through awarding of Green Home Grants 
• Advertised a post for dedicated resource to progress our plans around EV Fleet. 

P
age 132



A plan for West Devon

Focus Area 
Total Actions 
2021/22 On Track 

Slightly off track 
but plan in place

Risk that unable
to deliver on time

Not yet due to 
commence

Celebrating 
our heritage 
and ensuring
its protected

4 3 1
(BE1.1)

Planning 
infrastructure 
for the future

4 4

 ? ! Key Risks / Issues

• BE1.1 – there have been delays with appointing a 
dedicated resource to support the review of 
Conservation Area Plans. We are now proposing to 
advertise and recruit in early 2022/23 – this action is 
therefore carried forward to the second year plan.

• Previously we reported BE1.8 (Ability to deliver on 
Okehampton Transport Hub) as Risk due to 
unsuccessful outcome of bid submission. There are 
however future funding rounds and we are pleased to 
have secured a meeting with Government to understand 
why our initial bid was not accepted.  Plans have 
therefore been revised and we consider this brings it 
back on track

Focus for next Quarter

• Progress Milton Abbot, Chillaton and Kelly Neighbourhood Plan Referendums
• Recruitment of dedicated officer to support Conservation Area Appraisals 

During this quarter, we’ve spent much time considering how we can improve our Council Planning Service to better support the 
built environment in to the future. This has consisted of the Planning Advisory Service working with our officers to recommend and 
implement changes to our processes and already increasing our planning officer capacity by recruiting additional staff which will 
ultimately improve our customer experience. 
• Conducted surveys of Okehampton businesses on their views of a Business Improvement District or Chamber 
• Approved an increase in capacity within our Planning Team as part of our ongoing Planning Improvement Plan 
• Developed a planning service charter setting out what you can expect when engaging with the planning team and also begun 

to take steps to simplify the process by recommending that we adopt a Local Validation list

P
age 133



A plan for West Devon

Focus Area 
Total Actions 
2021/22 On Track 

Slightly off track 
but plan in place

Risk that unable
to deliver on time

Not yet due to 
commence

Being a 
listening and 
accessible 
Council

10 9 1 
(IA1.2) 

 ? ! Key Risks / Issues

Action IA1.2 – Our work to develop a customer access 
strategy has been delayed and we therefore propose 
rolling this action forward in to Year 2 of the delivery plan 
– and for a customer access strategy to be adopted by 
June. 

Focus for next Quarter

- Consider the outcome of the customer contact review and recommendations from that.
- Publish a public report on Council achievements during the year 
- Scope, with the Lead member, a Residents Satisfaction Survey for roll out in Summer 2022 

Over the past couple of years, how our customers access our services has changed (much of which was forced by Covid-19 restrictions 
closing our receptions). During the last quarter we have:-
• Carried out a public consultation seeking your views on our homelessness strategy
• Reviewed our customer service functions and develop a draft set of recommendations which Members and Officers will be working

through in more detail in the coming weeks.  
• Begun work to develop a framework for our future customer access strategy 
• Recommended that we adopt a Planning Charter setting out clearly what our customers can expect when interacting with the Council
• Had our online accessibility recognised by winning a gold award for customer transformation at the iESE awards and being highly 

commended for providing an effective Land Charges Service – voted on by our customers

P
age 134



A plan for West Devon

Focus Area 
Total Actions 
2021/22 On Track 

Slightly off track 
but plan in place

Risk that unable
to deliver on time

Not yet due to 
commence

Value for money 
of existing 
services

5 4 1
(R1.1)

Finance fit for 
the future 13 12 1

(R1.6)

Work has continued on delivering our ambitions for enabling our residents to do as much as possible online and to ensure that all of 
our staff are supported to deliver the best possible service to our residents. During this quarter we have:-
• Set a balanced budget for the Council for the year ahead – ensuring that we can continue to provide responsive services 
• Continued work on testing a new planning online system 
• Implemented our new ‘one view of the customer’ system enabling integration between phone and online transactions 
• Following a review of our Revenues and Benefits service, commenced recruitment for a new Head of Service to drive forward our

service improvement plans 
• Worked collaboratively with other Devon Councils through ‘Team Devon’ to draft proposals to Government for greater powers to 

be devolved to us. 

 ? ! Key Risks / Issues

• Action R1.1 - There have been delays to the go-live of 
our new planning portal and back office system. We 
have mitigated this by extending the current contract 
with our current provider by 12 months. This has been 
funded from the project contingency budget. 

• Action R1.6 - We had anticipated that the Government 
would give Local Government a 3 year finance 
settlement however this has not been the case and so 
uncertainty remains about funding beyond next 
financial year. 

Focus for next Quarter

- Seeking agreement from Council on the 2022/23 budget 
- Finalising new KPI’s for managing service performance for April 2022 
- Subject to acceptance of proposals, commence dialogue with Government on a ‘Devon Deal’ 

P
age 135



A plan for West Devon

Section 3 – Programme Spend 
Alongside the adoption of our Plan for West Devon, we have developed a Thematic Delivery Plan which includes resourcing requirements over and above 
our business as usual services. This section sets out the financial performance against the agreed Strategy budgets. 

Theme 

Agreed 
Budget 
2021/22

Spend to 
Date 

Forecast 
spend to year 
end Notes 

Communities £0 £0 £0 

Community
Wellbeing

£10,000 £11,102 £11,102 Mental Health Support for young people during August / Sept 2021 – awaiting impact 
report. Slight overspend but covered within existing budgets.

Homes £30,000 £7,306 £7,306 Delays in recruiting officer however this is reserve funded and therefore can be carried 
forward with no impact on Council ‘bottom line’

Economy £152,000 £116,617 £116,617 Currently forecasting an underspend due to utilising the increased funding received 
through the Governments Welcome Back Fund & delays in on-boarding staff resource. 

Natural
Environment

£27,500 £7,500 £7,500 Feasibility study (APSE) of renewable energy on Council land. £20,000 of this budget was 
unearmarked for specific purposes and can carry forward) 

Built Environment £0 £0 £0

Inclusive Services £0 £0 £0

Resources £16,000 £16,000 £16,000 Cost for implementation of new HR /Payroll system –work underway. Note that this is only the element 
of funding identified within the strategy – additional capital funding is secured within existing years 
budget.

Ensuring that we make the best use of the funding available to us 

While we’re forecasting an underspend against programme activities, this funding is in reserves and so there will be no impact on the Councils bottom line. This 
funding will remain allocated to deliver actions that are now carried forward to Year 2 of the delivery plan. 

P
age 136



A plan for West Devon

Section 4 – Key Service Performance 
Ensuring that our services meet the needs of our residents and businesses

The following section sets out how we are 
performing in some of our key service areas. These 
measures are deemed to be important in supporting 
our delivery of key activities within A Plan for West 
Devon. 

We are currently reviewing the KPI’s with a revised 
set proposed to Hub Committee alongside this 
report.

P
age 137



A plan for West Devon

Section 5 - Strategic Risks March 2022 
The following section sets out an overview of the current strategic risks and on the following pages we provide detail for those that are within the ‘Red’ 
scoring. Each Council service area has their own risk register and where a risk reaches a level that it can no longer be managed by that service area 
alone, it escalates to the Strategic Risk Register. 

P
age 138



A plan for West Devon

Overall 
Scoring

20

Risk  Score (Current)

Risk Score History

Likelihood 4 x Impact 5 

Risk Direction 

Risk 
Title:

(6) Business Continuity 

What is the 
risk?

The risk is that we do not develop and keep maintained robust processes to ensure business continuity in the event of a significant event occurring, 
e.g. Failure to ensure the continuous availability of critical IT systems leading to inability to deliver key council services.

What is 
causing the 
risk?

Developing and maintaining robust Business Continuity Plans requires significant and sustained focus. During Covid-19 response, the Councils risk 
profile has changed as we have relied much heavier on working in different ways (for example more staff working from home the majority of time) and 
with significant pressures being placed on some of our key delivery partners/ contractors. Work is required to update our BCP’s to the changing 
environment that we are operating in.   

While we would typically see our Business Continuity risk score reduce at this point of the year (due to decreased risk of storms and seasonal flu 
workforce impacts), we are currently seeing a significant increase in Covid cases across Devon and this is beginning to impact our staff with a number 
of staff currently

What is the 
level of risk?

Likelihood of risk occurring 4 (Likely) What are we doing to reduce the risk?
• Having two HQ locations is main mitigating factor - however an outage of power/ICT at 

either location would lead to a serious disruption of service. 
• Agile working further reduces reliance on two office buildings. 
• Locality workers can be despatched more easily to ensure customer engagement can be 

maintained during any incident. 
• Business Continuity plans have been updated - priority areas - ICT Networking - Payroll & 

Creditors Payments; other plans need to be made more robust – further work underway 
for the new year 

• Continuing to encourage staff to work from home where possible and to continue with 
informal Member meetings on teams to reduce chance of spreading Covid

Impact 

Financial 5 (Catastrophic) 

Service Quality 5 (Catastrophic)

Reputation 4 (Major)

Legal / Regulatory 2 (Minor)

Health and Safety 3 (Moderate)

Morale / Staffing 3 (Moderate)

Current 
Update
(March 
2022)

West Devon was impacted by two significant and closely timed storms during this period but our services were largely unaffected. Some higher risk 
activities were temporarily halted during the day of Storm Eunice but quickly resumed as it passed. 

While we would typically see our Business Continuity risk score reduce at this point of the year (due to decreased risk of storms and seasonal flu 
workforce impacts), we are currently seeing a significant increase in Covid cases across Devon and this is beginning to impact our staff with a number 
of staff currently having Covid. Many continue to work from home but we will continue to monitor the impact. As a result we have taken the decision to 
delay our in person staff briefings (which would have been the first in over two years), and continue to encourage individuals to demonstrate caution 
when on Council duties. 

P
age 139



A plan for West Devon

January February March April May June

July August September October November December 

15th Feb
Wellbeing 
Thematic Update

1st Feb 
Quarter 3 
Integrated 
Performance 
Management 
Report 
(Oct/Nov/Dec)

Hub

O&S O&S

22nd March
Economy 
Thematic 
UpdateEnvironment

Thematic Update

12th April
Quarter 4 
Integrated 
Performance 
Management 
Report (Jan-
March)

Hub

26th April
Homes
Thematic 
UpdateO&S

Quarter 1 
Integrated 
Performance 
Management 
Report (Apr-
Jun)

Inclusive 
Services
Thematic Update

O&S

O&S

Built Env’ 
Thematic 
Update

Advisory Group workshops - Refine 
2022/23 Delivery Plans  

O&S

Community  
Thematic 
Update

Efficient 
Services  
Thematic UpdateO&S

1st Feb  – Wellbeing AG 8th March
Economy 
Advisory Group

Quarter 2 
Integrated 
Performance 
Management 
Report (Jul-
Sept)Hub Hub

Built Env  
Advisory Group

Community  
Advisory Group 

Efficient Services
Advisory Group

10th Jan
Environment
Advisory Group

11th Jan
Homes
Advisory Group

18th Jan
Built Env
Advisory Group

Audit

Audit

Plan for West 
Devon Strategic 
Risk Update

Plan for West 
Devon Strategic 
Risk Update

Hub

Annual Report 
of 
Achievements
2021/22

19th April 
Homes 
Advisory Group

Environment
Thematic 
Update

Environment
Advisory Group

Inclusive 
Services
Advisory Group

Next Steps 

6thth Jan
Resources 
Advisory Group

8th Feb  – Community 
AG 

25th Jan 
Inclusive Services 
AG

P
age 140



Appendix B - Proposed Draft Key Performance Indicators 2022/2023 (West Devon)  

Satisfaction  Why it’s important Frequency of 
Reporting to SLT 
/ Lead Member 

Target  Benchmarked against 

% Of Customers completing a 
process and reporting a positive 
satisfaction with the process 
(online and on phone)  

This assesses how satisfied our 
customers are following a 
transaction with the Council.  

Monthly     

LGA Resident Satisfaction Survey  This will provide us with insight in to 
how satisfied residents are with 
West Devon as a place to live   

Annual   Other councils carrying out the LGA model survey  

Institute of Customer Service  This will be an annual survey of 
residents that have transacted with 
the Council and enable us to 
benchmark against other 
organisations  

Annual   IOCS carry out the benchmarking for us  

 

Efficiency  
Why it’s important  Frequency of 

reporting to SLT 
/ Lead Member 

Target  Benchmarked against  

DM: Processing of Major Planning 
Applications % determined in 
time (with extensions)  

 Monthly   2020/21 annual figures LG Inform Plus  

DM: Processing of minor 
applications % determined in 
time (with extensions) 

 Monthly   2020/21 – annual figures LG Inform Plus   

Planning Enforcement cases 
outstanding   

 Quarterly   Need to understand what level is reasonable – get a feel from 
PAS as to proportion of planning applications you’d expect would 
end up with enforcement action  

Processing speed  Housing 
Benefits (new claims) Avg days  

It is important that we are efficient 
at processing housing benefits to 
ensure our residents quickly receive 
the support they need.  

Quarterly   LG Inform Plus  
  

P
age 141



Staff turnover Rate  (Total 
number of leavers / total 
workforce in period * 100 
 

It is healthy for an organisation to 
have a turnover, although a turnover 
that is too high could indicate 
dissatisfaction amongst staff. 

Quarterly   LG Inform Plus can be used to benchmark  

Average no of missed collections 
per 100,000 collections of 
household waste  

This demonstrates how efficient our 
contractor, FCC, is in delivering this 
core function.  

Monthly   LG Inform Plus  

% of household waste set for 
reuse, recycling or composting  

This demonstrates how effectively 
we are nudging our residents to 
reuse, recycle or compost 

Monthly   2020/21 LG Inform Plus  
  

% of complaints responded to 
within timescales  

When our customers remain 
dissatisfied with the service received 
by the Council, many will complain. 
This measure sets out how efficient 
we are at responding to our 
customer complaints within agreed 
timescales (currently 20 working 
days) 

Monthly   New measure  

Organisational Carbon Footprint – in a years time   

P
age 142


	Agenda
	4 Confirmation of Minutes
	6 Hub Forward Plan
	7 Amendment of the Off Street Parking Places Order
	8 Housing Strategy Year 2 Update and Homelessness Strategy 2022-27
	Appendix1
	Appendix2
	Appendix3
	Foreword
	Introduction 
	The Strategic Context
	Regional Picture
	The Local Picture
	Our Vision and Objectives 
	Key priority groups 
	Group 1: Singles and Couples requiring one bedroom or shared accommodation
	Group 2: Families 
	Group 3: Additional Needs 
	Group 4: Rough sleepers

	How the Homelessness Strategy 
was developed
	How the Homeless strategy and Delivery Plan will be monitored
	The Review of the 2017-22 Joint Homelessness Strategy Objectives and Outcomes


	Appendix4

	9 Revenue and Benefits Service Review Update
	10 Climate Change & Biodiversity Action - Council Net-Zero Update
	EXEMPT APPENDIX A

	11 A Plan for West Devon- Quarterly Progress Report
	Appendix A Draft Q4 Integrated Performance Management Report 2021 22
	Appendix B - Proposed Draft Key Performance Indicators 2022 WD


	Contents 3: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 15: 

	Forward Page 3: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 15: 

	Back page 3: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 15: 

	Contents 2: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 14: 

	Forward Page 2: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 14: 

	Back page 2: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 14: 

	Contents 31: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 19: 

	Forward Page 31: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 19: 

	Back page 31: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 19: 

	Contents 21: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 18: 

	Forward Page 21: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 18: 

	Back page 21: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 18: 

	Contents 32: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 23: 

	Forward Page 32: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 23: 

	Back page 32: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 23: 

	Contents 22: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 24: 

	Forward Page 22: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 24: 

	Back page 22: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 24: 

	Contents 33: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 

	Forward Page 33: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 

	Back page 33: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 

	Contents 23: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 

	Forward Page 23: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 

	Back page 23: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 



